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1.  Plaintiff’s memorandum of law in opposition to the motion to dismiss by the Enterprise 
movants Kuba, Mundy & Associates; Mundy; and Petrovich that was joined by movants, 
FlashDancers, Shipilina, Paulsen and Henning. 
 
 

Preliminary Statement 

The question before this Court is not whether the plaintiff has proven at this early stage 

of the proceeding that the Enterprise (the “Russian mafia”) and some of its members, including 

the Enterprise movants, violated the RICO statute and state law, but whether the Complaint 

alleges they did.  Allegations are the assertions in a complaint that set out what the plaintiff 

expects to prove.  Black’s Law Dictionary.  Allegations are not the “proof”, “evidence”, 

“establishment of”, “demonstration”, “explanation”, “showing” or “corroboration” that the 

Enterprise movants claim the Complaint should have provided.  The plaintiff must not be put to 

the test to prove his allegations at the pleading stage.  NOW, Inc v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256, 

127 L.Ed.2d 99, 114 S.Ct. 798 (1994). 

 

This memorandum of law by the plaintiff contains five major sections in opposition to the 

five motions to dismiss brought by the domestic (residence within the US) Enterprise defendants 

who have appeared in this civil RICO action.  These defendants are collectively referred to as “ 

the Enterprise movants” and consist of the Kuba, Mundy & Associates law firm; Mundy; 

Petrovich; Flash Dancers Topless Club; Jay-Jay Cabaret, Inc.; Lepofsky-CEO Jay-Jay Cabaret, 

Inc.; Barry-Night Manager Flash Dancers; Flash Dancers Managers 1 to 5; Shipilina; Paulsen; 

and Henning.  All the Enterprise movants joined the memorandum of law submitted by 

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy & Associates, Mundy and Petrovich.  This section, Section 1, 

addresses that memorandum while the remaining four sections address any new issues raised by 
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the motions, declarations, affidavits or memoranda separately submitted by the other Enterprise 

movants.   

When this memorandum refers to fewer than all the Enterprise movants, the term 

“Enterprise movant” is followed by the person’s name.  Other defendants in this action who are 

not presently moving to dismiss are collectively referred to as “other mafia defendants” or 

individually as “mafia defendant” followed by the person’s name.  When the Complaint states 

Kuba, it is referring to the firm Kuba, Mundy & Associates, 

Cites to the Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich memorandum are in parentheses stating 

“Memorandum” followed by the page number and a hyphen that indicates the paragraph on that 

page.  For example, (Memorandum p 28-1) refers to page 28, the first paragraph, and not 

necessarily the first full paragraph, but the first group of lines on that page.  Cites to the 

Complaint are in parentheses stating “Complaint” followed by only the paragraph number.  For 

example, (Complaint 267) refers to the numbered allegation 267, which deals with a Chechen 

crime clan.   

The numbers and letters used for denoting sections in this memorandum are the same as 

those used in the Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich memorandum.  This should make it easier for the 

Court to compare the two principal memoranda in this motion to dismiss. 

The plaintiff uses the term “Russian mafia” to mean the Russian International Crime 

Organization or the “Enterprise” as stated in paragraph one of the Complaint.  The “Russian 

mafia” includes those identified as Russian Mafiosi in the media and by law enforcement 

agencies; the targets of the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s (“FBI”) unit on Russian organized 

crime; various Russian, Chechen, American, Cypriot and Mexican gangsters along with those of 

other nationalities; assorted Chechen Islamic terrorists; and the more than thirty Russian gangs 
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now operating in the US, most notably New York, Miami, San Francisco, Los Angles and 

Denver, Robert I. Friedman, Red Mafiya: How the Russian Mob Has Invaded America, p. xix-

xx, Little Brown & Company (2002).  The defendants in this action comprise only a small 

number the members of the Russian mafia.  (Complaint 15) 

 

The purpose of this memorandum by the plaintiff is to point out the errors and omissions 

made by the Enterprise movants in their motion papers concerning the law and the Complaint.   

This memorandum’s main purpose is not to argue facts as in a summary judgment motion, since 

discovery has not yet occurred.  Part of the Enterprise movants’ obvious strategy is to have this 

Court treat their motion to dismiss as one for summary judgment.  It would give this Court, 

which belongs to a circuit renown for its disfavorable disposition to civil RICO cases, Batista, 

Civil Rico Prac. Manual, 2003 Cum. Supp., 3.31A, an expedient means for disposing of a 

complex case against a criminal entity that spans the globe.   However, even under the summary 

judgment standard, the courts should be reluctant to grant a dismissal because where motive and 

intent play leading roles, the proof is largely in the hands of the alleged conspirators and hostile 

witnesses thicken the plot.  Cox v. Administrator US Steel & Carneige, 17 F.3d 1386, 1400 (11th 

Cir. 1994).  In the case of a motion to dismiss where discovery has not even begun, this is even 

more pertinent.  

In addition, this memorandum seeks to debunk the many misleading arguments and 

implications contained in the Enterprise movants’ memoranda of law and declarations.  A 

pervasive and key feint of the Enterprise movants is repeatedly objecting to the Complaint for 

failing to “prove”, “evidence”, “ establish”, “demonstrate”, “show”, or “corroborate” various 

elements of RICO and the predicate acts as a reason for dismissing the Complaint.  In the law, 
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“prove” means to establish a fact as true by evidence; “evidence” means any species of proof; 

“establish” means prove; “demonstrate” means to prove indubitably; “show” means to make 

clear by evidence or to prove; and “corroborate” to add confirming facts or evidence.  Black’s 

Law Dictionary.  Complaints are not meant to provide these functions—they are the beginning of 

the fact-finding process not the end.  The Enterprise movants apparently want to return to 

yesteryear when under federal practice, prior to the federal rules, the pretrial functions of notice-

giving, issue formulation and fact revelation were performed primarily, and inadequately, by the 

pleadings.  Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 500, 91 L.Ed. 451, 67 S.Ct. 385 (1947).  Back 

then, inquiry into the issues and the facts before trial was narrowly confined and was often 

cumbersome in method.  Id. at 501.  The federal rules, however, restrict pleadings to the task of 

general notice giving and invest the deposition-discovery process with a vital role in the 

preparation for trial.  Id.  “It is a familiar rule of pleading … that evidence by which an allegation 

is sought to be established need not be pleaded.  … Such matters [of evidence], however, are for 

proof and we doubt the propriety, much less the necessity of their allegation.”  Cater Constr. Co. 

v. Nischwitz, 111 F.2d 971, 973 (7th Cir. 1940).   

RICO complaints are not held to a higher standard when it comes to pleading.  “Congress 

resolved to address the problem of organized crime by strengthening the legal tools in the 

evidence gathering process ….”  Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494, 496, 146 L.Ed.2d 561, 120 S.Ct. 

1608 (2000).  That did not mean requiring evidence be provided in a complaint for each element 

of every alleged predicate act and RICO violation.  In refusing to dismiss a RICO complaint this 

Court stated in Gitterman v. Vitoulis, 564 F.Supp. 46, 49 (SDNY 1982), “The purpose of a 

motion to dismiss is not to test the weight of the evidence which might be offered in support of it 

but to assess the legal feasibility of the complaint.”  (Citing Geisler v. Petrocelli, 616 F.2d 636, 
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639 (2d Cir. 1980)).  In addition, the “[d]ismissal of a complaint before discovery is a drastic 

step which should not be taken unless it appears to a certainty that the plaintiff is entitled to no 

relief under any set of facts which could be proved in support of the claim.”  Gitterman at 49 

(citing Wade v. Johnson Controls, Inc., 693 F.2d 16, 22 (2d Cir. 1982)).  And recently, the 

Supreme Court, in reversing the Second Circuit, stated the federal “pleading standard relies on 

liberal discovery rules and summary judgment motions to define disputed facts and issues and to 

dispose of unmeritorious claims.”  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 512, 152 L.Ed.2d 

1, 122 S.Ct. 992 (2002).  “The provisions for discovery are so flexible and the provisions for 

pretrial procedure and summary judgment so effective, that attempted surprise in federal practice 

is aborted very easily, synthetic issues detected, and the gravamen of the dispute brought frankly 

into the open for the inspection of the court.”  Id., at 512, 513 (quoting 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, 

Federal Practice and Procedure, 1202, p. 76 (2ed. 1990)). 

Alternatively, the Enterprise movants use the tactic of painting the Complaint as not 

meeting the fair notice requirements by objecting to a paragraph or paragraphs in the Complaint 

for not containing enough information.  Of course, they fail to cite other paragraphs with 

additional information that make their objections groundless.  Or the Enterprise movants object 

to the Complaint’s allegations as “general”, “insufficient”,  “inadequate”, “bare”, or 

“conclusory”.  In the law, a conclusion is an inference drawn from evidentiary facts, Black’s 

Law Dictionary; allegations are not conclusions; they come at the end of the process and not the 

beginning.  In addition, all that the federal rules require in a pleading is that a party should set 

forth the averments in general terms.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1281, p 519.  

“The modern philosophy concerning pleadings is that they do little more than indicate generally 
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the type of litigation that is involved.  A generalized summary of the case that affords fair notice 

is all that is required.”  SEC v. Timetrust, Inc., 28 F.Supp. 34, 41 (ND Cal. 1939). 

In sum, part of the Enterprise movants’ strategy is to obtain dismissal based on their 

erroneous effort to have the Court apply a higher standard than that required for pleadings, and, 

on the other hand, to get a dismissal based on their inaccurate characterizations that the 

Complaint’s allegations fall below the actual standard required.  

Another tactic used by the Enterprise movants is to trivialize the dangers of the Russian 

mafia by calling the Complaint “frivolous” and “a delusional, imaginary tale of fantasy.”  

(Memorandum p 2-1)  The plaintiff has received four telephone threats—three of which were 

recorded, copies of two of those recordings are in the possession of Enterprise movant Mundy.  

(Complaint 282, 289, 318 and June 19, 2003 letter to the Court)  The New York FBI warned the 

plaintiff not to open his door to anyone he doesn’t know and to watch out for himself when out 

in public.  (Complaint 866, 867)  But this Court need not rely solely on the Complaint’s 

allegations for determining whether it is “delusional;” it can take judicial notice in considering a 

motion to dismiss, Hirsch v. Arthur Anderson & Co., 72 F.3d 1085, 1088, 1092 (2d Cir. 1995), 

that the danger of the Russian mafia to US citizens, of which the plaintiff is one, is no 

“imaginary tale of fantasy.” 

Before Congress in 1996, then FBI Director Louis Freeh said that when freedom was 

established in Russia, it helped spread the existing criminal network to expand abroad.  

Emergency Net News Service, Friday, May 3, 1996, Vol 2 – 124.  He added, “Evidence that 

organized crime activity from these areas is expanding and will continue to expand to the United 

States is well-documented.”  Id.  At the same Congressional hearings, then CIA Director John 

Deutsch said, “Russia’s criminal groups reach across international borders, including our own … 
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[and] have the potential to support terrorism, and contribute to the proliferation of materials, 

technology and weapons of mass destruction.”  Id.  While the last part of this quote concerns the 

Tom Clancy novel The Sum of All Fears, this Complaint does not deal with nuclear weapons of 

mass destruction, just the more mundane, run of the mill Russian criminal operations in America, 

such as money laundering, illegal money transactions, prostitution, narcotics trafficking, 

extortion and fraud that are often carried out in cooperation with La Cosa Nostra.  The Center for 

Strategic and International Studies, Report on Russian Organized Crime, 1997, Task Force 

headed by William H. Webster.   

The Russian mafia has been operating in the United States for years.  Scott P. Boylan, 

Organized Crime and Corruption in Russia, Vol. 19, Fordham Int’l L.J., 1999, 2013 (1996).  

With the fall of the Soviet Union, the activities of Russian organized crime groups have spread to 

the United States and Europe.  Id.  “Not only does the Mafia kill and steal in Russia, it does so in 

the United States as well.”  Id. at 2001.   Mafia members are involved in "theft, extortion, 

money-laundering, gun-trafficking, drug running, prostitution, smuggling, loan sharking, 

contract killing and more."  Id.  “The U.S. Department of Justice has established task forces to 

deal with the Russian Mafia in New York, Los Angeles, and Miami.”  Id.  In 1994, the Russian 

mob had more than 300 members in the New York area alone, making it larger than the 

Bonanno, Colombo, or Lucchese crime families.  Allan Friedman, The Organizatsiya: Brooklyn's 

Booming Russian Mob is Slicker, Smarter, and Much Meaner than La Cosa Nostra, N.Y. Mag., 

Nov. 7, 1994, at 50.  Russia’s international professional criminals have caused the most 

economic damage in the US.  Scott O’Neal, Russian Organized Crime, FBI Law Enforcement 

Bulletin, May 2000.  “Blending financial sophistication with bone-crunching violence, the 

Russian mob has become the FBI’s most formidable criminal adversary, creating an international 
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criminal colossus that had surpassed the Columbian cartels, the Japanese Yakuzas, the Chinese 

triads and the Italian mafia in wealth and weaponry.”  Robert I. Friedman, Red Mafiya: How the 

Russian Mob Has Invaded America, p. xix.  Unlike the former Communist Party that was out to 

bury us, today’s Russian syndicate has set out to fleece us.   

The Enterprise movants, without the aid of discovery, state the motivation for the 

Complaint was to “humiliate” Enterprise movant Shipilina and the other defendants in this RICO 

action.  (Memorandum p 2-1)  As Charlie Chan once said, “truth cannot be an insult,” and if it 

injures a person’s self-respect than that is the fault of the person, not the reporter.  Discovery is 

the more appropriate forum for exploring motivations rather than a motion to dismiss.  

Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. at 512.  The Enterprise movants are simply engaging in 

character assassination—plaintiff seeks to humiliate, harass and is delusional—in order to shut 

down the argument and marginalize the plaintiff so that they do not have to argue the merits.  

The merits at this stage are whether the Complaint alleges a claim under the law.  Just because 

the defendants may feel humiliated due to the exposure of their acts, is not a reason to dismiss a 

complaint that contains serious criminal allegations against a gang of Russian, Chechen and 

American criminals.      

The Enterprise movants also try to trivialize the Complaint by saying it “attempts to 

allege.”  (Memorandum p 2-2)  The Complaint does not “attempt”, it alleges—that is what 

complaints do.  And this Complaint alleges an enterprise, the Russian mafia, bringing prostitutes 

to New York and other states in the US, passing drugs and huge sums of money back and forth 

between countries, creating and trafficking in pornography, and threatening physical violence to 

anyone who might get in its way.  (Complaint 10-15)  The Complaint makes clear that a central 

member and site of some of the Enterprise’s illegal actions is the establishment called “Flash 
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Dancers Topless Club,” located on Broadway and 52d Street in New York City, and that the 

defendants often act in other countries where there is a link of some kind, such as a connection to 

brothels in Cyprus that some defendants control, or to specific participants in the Enterprise 

traveling in other places.  (Complaint 322, 326, 329, 331, 334, 335, 338, 376, 402, 403, 410, 412, 

413, 414, 417) 

The Enterprise movants speculate that the only connection among the defendants—who 

make up a small portion of the Russian mafia—is that they came “into contact in some way with 

the plaintiff’s former wife,” Enterprise movant Shipilina.  (Memorandum p 2-2)  If coming into 

“contact” with movant Shipilina was the criteria for listing a person as a defendant, then it would 

be impossible to list them all for Shipilina has literally had thousands of customers who have 

“come into contact” with her.  No, the Complaint lists only those persons that the plaintiff has 

been able to identify, or, at least, indicate by a pseudonym, that have caused the plaintiff harm 

and are connected by the common purpose of lucrative activities in hard currency markets which 

unites members of the Russian mafia.  (Complaint 2, 16-127) 

All the RICO defendants do have some connection with Enterprise movant Shipilina 

because she’s the thread that weaves through this section of the Russian mafia.  The defendants 

are fellow travelers who committed predicate acts in order to get Enterprise movant Shipilina 

into the US, keep her there and expand the activities of the Russian mafia to its and their benefit.  

In the Watergate scandal, reporters Woodward and Bernstein followed the money; here the 

plaintiff followed the trail of Shipilina until he and a graduate of Harvard Law realized the extent 

of the underworld workings that had caused the plaintiff so much harm.   

The Enterprise movants also advocate dismissal of the Complaint because “many of  [the 

defendants] [the plaintiff] is unable to name.”  (Memorandum p 2-2)  Well, what do they expect?  
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The Russian mafia is a secretive organization whose crimes and threats aren’t usually made with 

legal names given.  Besides, a complaint “may name an unknown defendant by using a “John 

Doe” appellation or other description if the plaintiff has been unable to ascertain the real identity 

of the defendant.  Moore’s Fed. Prac., 10.02(2)(d)(i), 3rd Edition.   

This Complaint not only seeks compensation and protection for the plaintiff, but in its 

own small way, hopes to take a step along the road mapped by the RICO statute: “the eradication 

of organized crime in the United States.”  Pub.L. 91-254, 84 Stat. 922 (1970).  “Congress found 

that ‘organized crime in the United States [had become] a highly sophisticated, diversified and 

widespread activity that annually drain[ed] billions of dollars from America’s economy by 

unlawful conduct and illegal use of force, fraud and corruption.’”  Beck v, Prupis, 529 U.S. 

494,496, 146 L.Ed.2d 561, 120 S.Ct. 1608 (2000)(quoting Pub.L. 91-254, 84 Stat. 922).  “The 

result was to ‘weaken the stability of the Nation’s economy, harm innocent investors and 

competing organizations, interfere with free competition, … threaten the domestic security, and 

undermine the general welfare of the nation and its citizens.”  Id.  More succinctly, mobsters, 

including Russian ones, resort to violence when they don’t get their way; they corrupt the 

system.   

 

Statement of Facts  

A.  How did I get into this mess? 
 

There are really only two ways a middle-aged, American, male lawyer could get involved 

with such a bunch—money or a woman.  I took the road less traveled or, perhaps, more traveled.  

An allegory should help.  While sailing the waters of the former Soviet Union in my Sun 

Fish, doing my work for Kroll Associates, along comes this juggernaut of pimps, prostitutes, 
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pornographers, pushers and assorted criminals of Russian, Chechen, American and other 

nationalities, including a few lunatics from the Chechen Special Islamic Regiment.  The 

juggernaut, ever scanning for the easy prey of softhearted American businessmen, spots me, and 

sends out one of its prostitutes as bait: a tall, blue-eyed, bleached blonde.  Using duplicity and 

drugs, my Sun Fish is torpedoed, heads to the bottom.  I’m sunk—married to a Russian prostitute 

who is a member of Russian organized crime although I don’t know it at the time.  I bring my 

wife of a few months to America, and the juggernaut of the Russian mafia gets another one of its 

assets and mid-level managers into the premier hard currency market in the world.  While this 

was happening to me, it was and continues to happen to others.  When I finally came up for air 

and saw what was happening: I struggled, tried to get free, fought back to protect my rights as a 

human being by using the law and not stepping outside the law—but to no avail.  So far, the 

Russian juggernaut of organized crime has been more powerful, more effective than the law 

because it uses lies, dissemblances, prevarication, smear tactics, threats, intimidation and bribery. 

Today, the Russian mafia consists of assorted criminals from the former Soviet Union 

who have joined with underworld characters in Western markets over the past decade to create a 

global web of smuggling, protection, extortion, counterfeiting, tampering with witnesses, 

revenge, evasion of taxes and other illegal activities.  (Complaint 10, 11, 15)  Russian organized 

crime groups, working in cooperation with each other and foreign gangsters, infiltrate lucrative, 

hard currency markets, such as the US, by taking advantage of ineffective and un-enforced 

immigration laws, as well as bribable officials, to illegally gain entry for the organization’s 

managers and human assets.  (Complaint 13, 883)  I am one of the victims of this new Red 

menace. 
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This case grew out of the discoveries I made, beginning in the year 2000, after working in 

Moscow as the acting manager for Kroll Associates.  I found out that my spouse, whom I met 

and married in Russia in March 2000, was really a money launderer, tax evader, prostitute and 

procurer for a gang of Russian and Chechen organized crime figures.  (Complaint 35, 36, 157-

58, 339-42, 347)  That she had secretly slipped narcotics into my meals and pretended to be 

something she wasn’t in order to marry me so that she could enter the USA to expand the 

activities of the criminal organization to which she belongs—the Russian mafia. (Complaint 174-

185)    

The Russian mafia, as with all organizations, consists of and acts through people, and no 

one victim, or customer, comes into contact with all the decision makers and support personnel 

that go into making an enterprise successful.  But they are there in the shadows supporting those 

on the front lines, giving aid and direction in order to reach the enterprise’s goals.  For me, the 

Russian mafia’s retailer or, more appropriately, front, initially was Enterprise movant Shipilina, 

but soon other comrades in crime came out from standing in the shadows to help directly and 

indirectly with the Enterprise’s Scheme as it applied to me.  (Complaint 16-127)  What others are 

lurking behind the known defendants continue to be revealed as the Krasnodar, Russia police 

conduct their investigation, and I mine. 

Operating through some of its members, the Russian mafia tricked me into bringing one 

of its assets, Enterprise movant Shipilina, to the US (Complaint 2, 136); tried to get me to lie to 

the Immigration and Naturalization Service (“INS”) (Complaint 224-25, 228,); secretly fed me 

drugs (Complaint 168, 171, 175-77, 180, 216,); tried to intimidate me (Complaint 245, 273, 306, 

308-14); threatened me with physical violence (Complaint 236-37, 257-58, 280-83, 287-90, 316-

18); suborned and committed perjury (Complaint 229-30, 232, 239, 275-77); engaged in mail 
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and wire fraud (Complaint 200-04, 218, 219, 227, 294, 300, 315); bribed officials (Complaint 

254-55, 298, 307); attempted to and did tamper with witnesses and informants (Complaint 265-

68, 284, 290, 293, 297); laundered money (Complaint 295-96, 301-03) and conspired to commit 

murder for hire (Complaint 319).  As a result, to this day, I continue to follow the advice given 

me in March 2002 by a special agent for the FBI—don’t open your door to anyone you don’t 

know and watch out when you are in public.  

My continuing investigation in Russia has revealed the involvement of a Chechen terror 

and crime clan in threatening witnesses in Krasnodar (Complaint 293, 297) and the clan’s known 

connection with one defendant who arranged the intimidation of witnesses (Complaint 76, 77, 

265-268, 293, 297).  The clan was run by Arbi Baraev, who beheaded four British 

telecommunication workers in 1998 in return for $20 million from Usama Bin Laden, and 

Movsar Baraev, who led the taking of 700 hostages at a Moscow theater in October 2002.  

Institute Study of Conflict, Ideology, and Policy, Perspective, Vol. XIII, No. 2 (Nov.-Dec. 2002). 

Both are now dead, but were very much alive in the spring of 2001, when witnesses began 

receiving threats.  The Baraev Islamic mafia clan continues to wreak havoc in Russia and 

elsewhere.  I, myself, have received four threats so far, one from a Russian speaking man as 

described in my June 19, 2003 letter to the court and copied to the Enterprise movants.  

(Complaint 280-84, 287-90, 316-18)   

Besides the harm and fear caused me by the defendants, their continuing criminal 

activities also injure other US citizens, both individuals and companies.  (Complaint 883-85)  

Through business alliances among American, Russian and Chechen criminals, the defendants 

further the Russian mafia’s operations of white slavery, pornography and the crimes that 

maximize and protect its profits, such as immigration fraud, bribery, drugs, money laundering, 
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tax evasion, coercion, intimidation, perjury, official misconduct and more.  (Complaint 15)  

Russians run prostitutes, pornography and in some cases drugs out of Russia into the US 

(Complaint 322, 371, 375-76), or first to Cyprus and than the US (Complaint 381-83, 403), or by 

way of Mexico and than to America (Complaint 418-19, 423).  The prostitutes and pornography 

are sold through an affiliation of lap-dancing clubs controlled by organized crime and marketed 

over the Internet.  (Complaint 329, 331, 410, 413, 434-36)  The drugs are secretly administered 

to customers as a way of assuring return business.  (Complaint 333-35)   

The Enterprise movants in the “Statement of Facts” of their joint Memorandum p 3-10 

sidestep the Complaint’s allegations, which are supposed to be taken as true for the purpose of a 

motion to dismiss.  The movants try to distract the Court from criminal allegations against the 

Russian mafia, of which they are a part, by using misstatements, omissions, errors and a smear 

here and there. The Enterprise movants front-load their memorandum with what they call ‘facts” 

in order to disparage me.  They use the ancient method of painting an opponent in a false light in 

order to keep the real issues in the dark and probably in the hope the Court will glance over the 

legal mistakes made in their “Argument” section.  A unique RICO defense, but that is the 

Enterprise movants’ strategy: throw enough mud and maybe some will stick, make enough 

misrepresentations and maybe some will be believed. 

In order to win the day, the Enterprise movants also try to depict this civil RICO action as 

a rehash of a closed domestic relations case in which I “[w]ithout regard for ethics or even 

common decency” (Memorandum p 4 n.7) set out on a “relentless course of harassment” against 

the movants that has culminated in the “outlandish”, “incredible” and “far-fetched” allegations in 

the Complaint.  (Memorandum p 5-1)  This RICO suit grew out of the earlier domestic relations’ 

investigation (Complaint 217) and the events triggered by that investigation, which revealed a 
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criminal entity lurking in the background, connecting seemingly disparate individuals and 

organizations in Europe and the Americas that turned out to be part of the Russian mafia.  The 

only reason for the earlier domestic relations’ case was the very nature of the Russian mafia’s 

Scheme, which included using prostitutes in Moscow to deceive American businessmen into 

marrying them so that the prostitutes could gain legal entry into the USA.  (Complaint 2, 135-37, 

883)   I was one of the suckers.  In total – and naïve – good faith, I married Enterprise movant 

Shipilina shortly before returning to the US from my Moscow consultancy with Kroll Associates.  

But because the trail of the harm done to me lies behind a fraudulent marriage rather than a 

fraudulent business transaction does not make it any less serious.  When criminal 

instrumentalities exploit human emotions of the heart rather than the pocket book, the victim 

does not lose his rights under US law. 

This is a case about the institutional behavior of the Russian mafia, which includes many 

criminal members posing as legitimate businesses and law-abiding individuals, such as the 

Enterprise movants and other defendants.  (Complaint 16-127)  This RICO action has been 

brought against the “archetypal, intimidating mobster”, Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 

U.S. 479, 499, 105 S.Ct. 3275, 3280 (1985), an enterprise of organized criminals, not respected 

and legitimate businesses and individuals.  

When I returned to the U.S.A. in July 2000 (Complaint 205) with my bribe of four 

months, she immediately joined her cohorts in prostitution, working out of “Flash Dancers 

Topless Club” (Complaint 214), tried to engage me in criminal activity (Complaint 233), 

drugged my food to deter me from seeking an annulment or divorce (Complaint 216), and 

threatened me with death and injury from her Russian mafia associates if I did not lie to the INS 

for her (Complaint 236). 
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I learned my “wife” worked as a prostitute and was using me for immigration purposes 

after translating a portion of her diary, which she kept in plain sight.  (Complaint 220)  When the 

annulment/divorce action commenced, I began searching in Moscow and Krasnodar, Russia for 

information and witnesses relevant to that court proceeding.  (Complaint 256-57)  My 

investigation discovered, among other culpable conduct, that she, Enterprise movant Paulsen and 

defendant Perlin had created a pornographic video in which she engaged in very graphic acts for 

US dollars (Complaint 377), and that she and defendant Perlin advertised her sexual services via 

naked photographs of her (Complaint 357).  In one case, there is direct evidence that she sold 

these naked photographs to a man for 10 Cypriot pounds after performing sexual acts on him 

when she worked in Cyprus at the brothel “Zygos” during the first half of 1999.  (Complaint 

390-91)  The pornographic video was imported into America by Enterprise movant Paulsen 

(Complaint 378) and clips from the video were used by defendant Perlin to advertise the 

prostitution and pornography production services he sells as part of the Russian mafia. 

Enterprise movants now hypocritically criticize me for using the already marketed naked 

photographs (Memorandum p 3-3) and the promotional pornographic video clips (Memorandum 

p 4 n.7) to unearth evidence of movant Shipilina’s fraud and her criminal activities for the 

divorce/annulment suit.  The Russian language web site was created as a means to find new 

Russian witnesses, acquire additional information and communicate the truth to potential 

witnesses and informants after previously forthcoming witnesses and individuals with useful 

information were being threatened into silence.  (Complaint 265-68)  The web site contained 

only a small sampling of Enterprise movant Shipilina’s widely offered pornographic services and 

extensive criminal exploits listed in a section of her diary.  (Complaint 35-36, 152, 155-57, 191-
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93, 322-25, 332, 334, 335, 339-41)  After a period of time, the web site was closed when it no 

longer produced evidence.  

In some twisted form of reasoning, the Enterprise movants claim that the use of the video 

clips as an exhibit in a motion to reform the divorce settlement—where the papers are not open 

to the public—makes me indecent and unethical.  (Memorandum p 4 n. 7)  Those video clips 

were made public long before they entered the court system in order for movant Shipilina and 

her Moscow pimp defendant Perlin to make money.  Further, in an action for reformation of a 

divorce settlement that essentially requests damages for emotional distress, could anything 

demonstrate such pain more effectively than a man discovering that the woman he loved and 

cherished was, and continued to be, a porn star who had deceived him into marriage so that she 

could ply her wares for the Russian mafia in a hard currency market?  I don’t think so. 

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich paint themselves as innocents that 

merely represent another virtuous soul, Enterprise movant Shiplina.  A more accurate picture of 

Kuba, Mundy & Petrovich is that of a “green card and visa mill” (Complaint 28) getting fat on 

the feeding frenzy of obstructionist immigration lawyers that fail to sort out the truly oppressed 

from the rank opportunists, fugitive criminals and terrorists.  Even if all the Enterprise movants 

do engage in some legitimate operations, they are still alleged to be active members of a criminal 

enterprise—the Russian mafia.  

The Enterprise movants in their Memorandum at p 3-2 state, “The plaintiff [in the 

divorce complaint] claimed that Ms. Shipilina threatened to injure him if he did not ‘lie to the 

Immigration and Naturalization Service.’”  Although Enterprise movant Shipilina is six feet one 

inch tall and 145 pounds, a female threatening a man just does not make it, which, of course, is 

the impression the Enterprise movants clearly wanted to leave.  But they were only able to leave 
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that false impression by deleting a crucial part from the divorce complaint they cited to in their 

Exhibit B(9)(g).  What the divorce complaint stated was that movant Shipilina “would direct her 

‘Russian mafia friends to put [me] in the hospital or even kill me,’” if I did not lie to the INS.  

Now that’s a threat!   

In addition, the Enterprise movants “interestingly” claim that because the divorce 

complaint, their Exhibit B, does not mention that Enterprise movants Mundy or Petrovich 

advised me to lie to the INS or threatened me, that such did not happen.  (Complaint p 3-2)  The 

divorce complaint did not mention such conduct because it was not grounds for my obtaining an 

annulment or divorce.  I was divorcing movant Shipilina—not movants  Petrovich or Mundy.  

Such allegations were more appropriate for the disciplinary complaints that the Enterprise 

movants also chastise me for filing.  (Memorandum p 5-1)  Furthermore, I relied on my divorce 

attorneys to decide what to include in the divorce complaint, which Enterprise movants Mundy 

and Petrovich well know.        

Just a side note here, interestingly, the Enterprise movants do not refer to any paragraphs 

or page numbers in the exhibits they cite.  That of course leads to wasting a busy court’s time by 

requiring it to search through the Enterprise movants exhibits in order to check the accuracy of 

their characterizations of parts of those documents.  Perhaps, the movants wish the Court to 

accept their edited version of documents on faith.  

In their Memorandum at p 4-1, the Enterprise movants’ cunningly confuse two different 

reports made against me to the police.  The result is the implication that both were investigated 

when, in fact, only one was, and that one was closed because no violation occurred.  They also 

try to bolster the credibility of the report that was not investigated by saying it came before a 
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divorce was imminent.  Let’s clear up the Enterprise movants’ dissemblance in this paragraph of 

their memorandum. 

The Enterprise movants’ refer to the police report about the evidence-gathering, Russian 

language web site, which contained Shipilina’s diary and the naked photographs she marketed, 

as “criminal matters being handled by Detective Henning.”  (Memorandum p 4-1)  This is the 

report that Enterprise movant Henning says he contacted the Queens District Attorney about 

(Henning Affidavit Para. 8) and over which he threatened me with arrest (Complaint 309)  In the 

very next sentence of the Memorandum, the Enterprise movants falsely ascribe “criminal matters 

being handled by Detective Henning” to a report against me for alleged extortion.  This is a 

different report, and one in which charges were never pressed and never investigated.  

(Complaint 229-32)  But the Court cannot tell this unless it uses a magnifying glass on Enterprise 

movants’ Exhibit D, which combines into one exhibit two different reports—clever.  So, the only 

complaint against me that the police investigated was the one concerning the Russian language 

web site, and that the Queens District Attorney’s Office concluded was unfounded (Henning 

Affidavit 9), but the Court will not find the DA’s conclusion anywhere in the Enterprise 

movants’ Memorandum. 

As for the “extortion” police report on which charges were not pressed and the police did 

not investigate, the Enterprise movants’ misleading state, “Tellingly, the police report 

demonstrates [which means “prove indubitably”] that the plaintiff’s attempt to extort money 

from Ms. Shipilina predates his divorce complaint by six months.”  (Memorandum p 4-1)  The 

wording of this sentence implies that the report, on which no charges were pressed, is true in its 

claim of extortion because my lawyers served the annulment/divorced complaint six months after 

the report was filed.   
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The time line of events is important here.  (Complaint at 223 to 232)  In late October 

2000, Enterprise movant Shipilina and I met with Enterprise movant Petrovich at Kuba, Mundy 

& Associates to arrange for a separation, to be followed by a divorce.  At this meeting I was 

advised by Enterprise movant Petrovich, after he consulted with Enterprise movant Mundy, to lie 

in an affidavit to the INS in order to assure that Enterprise movant Shipilina would obtain a 

permanent green card.  (Complaint 223-24)  Afterwards, I consulted with an attorney friend, 

Jeffrey N. Drummond, and in no uncertain terms, he confirmed that my decision not to lie was 

the only acceptable course of action.  I notified Enterprise movant Shipilina that I would not lie 

for her to the INS, after that, on December 13, 2000, she filed the perjured police report alleging 

my extortion attempt.  (Complaint 226, 229, 230) 

The filing of the perjured report claiming extortion came after a divorce was imminent, 

and after I refused to cooperate with Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina’s 

shenanigans to defraud the INS.  Rather than demonstrating moral turpitude in me, the filing of 

the false report more reasonably infers an effort to create a false record by which Enterprise 

movants Kuba, Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina could pressure me into lying before the INS or 

use to their advantage in a divorce proceeding that appeared imminent at that time.  (Complaint 

232)  Otherwise, why file a report on which charges are not pressed unless to hold that 

ammunition in reserve.  

The Enterprise movants claim in their Memorandum at p 4-2 & n. 7 that I “abuse[d] the 

court system … as a means to harass and intimidate …” because in May 2002, I filed a motion to 

reform the divorce stipulation to which they say I had “voluntarily consented.”  As I said in my 

Complaint at 279-284, I entered the divorce settlement as a result of receiving a threatening 

telephone call in October 2001 from an anonymous, thuggish-sounding stranger who warned me 
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against pursuing the divorce proceedings.  The caller said he was telephoning on behalf of my 

“soon to be ex-wife, Angelina.”—the stage name she used in Cypriot and Mexican brothels and 

at Flash Dancers.  I felt extremely threatened and decided not to take any chances with my 

physical safety.  Enterprise movant Mundy has a tape recording of this call.  Still the Enterprise 

movants contend that I voluntarily consented to a settlement and then later, out of an alleged 

effort to “harass and intimidate,” brought a motion to reform for duress, coercion and fraud.   

The Enterprise movants just don’t get it: conduct isn’t duress unless it works, and when it works 

the victim is not going to tell the world unless, as what happened with me, circumstances 

changed, which I stated in my motion to vacate.  At the very least, there’s a fact dispute here that 

can be resolved through discovery.   

By the end of March 2002, I had received two more threatening telephone calls, one in 

February and one in March, from a man sounding like the same person in the first menacing call.  

(Complaint 289-91, 318)  In these two calls, the man referred to himself as John Pierre, and once 

again said he was calling on behalf of Angelina—the prostitution and lap-dancing name used by 

movant Shipilina.  The purpose of these terrorizing calls were clearly to prevent me from 

providing information to the INS concerning Enterprise movant Shipilina’s fraud on the INS and 

the US State Department in obtaining an immigrant visa.  (Complaint 191-93)   

After the February 6, 2002 call, I filed a complaint with the 13th Police Precinct and the 

FBI.  (Complaint 858-62)  The FBI did start a preliminary investigation and apparently tracked 

down the man making the threats, but the FBI agents refused to tell me his name.  (Complaint 

863-64)  One of the agents, however, did tell me that the FBI decided not to interview the man 

for fear he might cause me harm.  (Complaint 865-66)   
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After the March 27, 2002 threatening call, I filed for an order of protection in the New 

York County Family Court—there was no place left to go.  (Complaint 868)  Unfortunately, the 

judge refused to grant me a discovery subpoena for telephone records and other information that 

would have led to identifying the man making the threats and enable me, through the discovery 

process, to link that man with movant Shipilina.   

The Enterprise movants call my efforts to find protection from the police, FBI and the 

Family Court as “objectively offensive and repugnant” and an attempt to “harass and incense.”  

(Memorandum at p 4 n. 8)  Further, the Enterprise movants in footnote 8 asks this Court to send 

a chilling message to any US citizen who foolishly chooses to fight for his rights—if you lose, 

and res judicata does not apply, the courts will still use that to throw out any cause of action that 

reveals itself later on.  The right to pursue justice through the legal system will be a right in name 

only.  

The movants also claim that because bureaucrats chose to laugh at me before even 

hearing my evidence, such callousness shows I am improperly using the legal system.  

(Memorandum p 4 n. 8 & 9)  On the other hand, perhaps these bureaucrats are of the same 

quality that granted two of the 911 hijackers their visas, just months after killing thousands.  

Thus far, I have received four threatening telephone calls, two of which are on audiotape; copies 

of both are in the possession of movant Mundy.  The fourth, this time in Russian, threatened me 

not to travel to Krasnodar, Russia to continue my investigation into this case.  I reported that call 

to the 13th Precinct and the FBI.  Both said there was nothing they could do without the 

telephone number from where the call came, but the FBI did start an investigation into some to 

the allegations in this Complaint.  So who’s being harassed; who’s being intimidated by a large 
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underworld entity—not the Enterprise movants.  Still the issue of my motivation is more 

appropriately explored in discovery rather than a motion to dismiss. 

The Enterprise movants also do not cite any ethical canons or disciplinary rules I 

allegedly violated in my pursuit of justice.  They merely engage in name-calling in a transparent 

attempt to bias the Court because I had the audacity to exercise my civil rights.  If I have abused 

the judicial system as they allege, they can bring abuse of process or malicious prosecution 

actions.  But in pari delicto, even if true, which it is not, is no reason for dismissal of a RICO 

action.  Neither the Rico statute nor the legislative history suggests that a Rico plaintiff has to be 

an innocent victim.   

The Enterprise movants continue their distraction from the real issue before this Court—

whether the Complaint alleges a claim under RICO—by saying I “improperly made public” the 

disciplinary complaint I filed against Enterprise movant Mundy when I annexed it to my motion 

to reform the divorce stipulation.  Since that motion was in a domestic relations case, and 

domestic relations cases are not opened to the public, it was not made public by me.  These 

RICO proceedings, however, are open to the public, so the first party to improperly make public 

the disciplinary complaint against Enterprise movant Mundy was Enterprise movant Mundy in 

Exhibit J.  So why am I being blamed for that—to falsely smear me, of course. 

The Enterprise movants then switch gears from castigating me to playing the victim.  

They pretend that Enterprise movant Mundy “reluctantly” filed a disciplinary grievance against 

me in the face of my “assault of frivolous litigation.”  (Memorandum p 5 n. 10)  This change in 

tack, however, did not leave behind the movants’ pattern of omissions and misstatements.  

The Enterprise movants failed to say that the disciplinary committee quickly closed its 

investigation into Enterprise movant Mundy’s grievance against me after I filed my reply.   My 
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reply made clear that the disciplinary grievance was simply an attempt to deter my use of the 

legal system by making the bizarre claim that my filing of a RICO complaint was evidence of 

my unfitness to practice law.  The disciplinary grievance was a unique way of trying to thwart 

the purpose of Congress in enacting the civil RICO statute: “Those who have been wronged by 

organized crime should at least be given access to a legal remedy.”  Congressional hearings 

quoted in Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 487, 105 S.Ct. 3275, 3280 (1985). 

The basis for the conclusion that the disciplinary grievance was an attempt to scare me 

off of the RICO case is that Enterprise movant Mundy had received the RICO complaint before 

he filed the disciplinary grievance.  Exhibit A, Certificate of Mailing and Affidavit of Mailing.  

In fact his grievance makes reference to the RICO action that had already been filed with the 

Court.  Enterprise movant Mundy had received the RICO complaint as part of my request for a 

waiver of summons under Rule 4(d).  At the time he received the waiver request and RICO 

complaint, neither Mundy nor the other defendants had yet been served with the summons.  The 

strategy in filing the disciplinary complaint was obviously to intimidate me against going 

through with this RICO action, which I could have done by simply not serving the RICO 

summons.  The disciplinary grievance was just another effort by the Russian mafia to misuse the 

state’s legal apparatus to deny me of my civil rights and the right to earn a living because I dared 

to oppose that organization. 

The Enterprise movants create another false impression that the emotional distress action 

brought against them in the New York Supreme Court is another separate cause of action meant 

to harass.  (Memorandum p 5-2)  That action is identical to the Fifth Cause of Action in this 

RICO suit—intentional infliction of emotional distress.  The New York State action was brought 

on March 25, 2003 as a precautionary measure to toll the statute of limitations on the intentional 
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infliction of emotional distress by members of the Russian mafia.  And no, I am not admitting 

that the statute had run by the time the RICO complaint was filed on April 18, 2003.  The 

Enterprise movants claim the emotional distress summons with notice was never served on them.  

(Memorandum p 5-2, n 11)  That is false.  Exhibit B contains copies of the affidavits of service.  

In fact, Enterprise movant Mundy even contacted my lawyer at the time, Jeffrey Drummond, 

concerning the emotional distress suit. 

To sum up, I was tricked, drugged and pushed into this sinkhole of a situation when I ran 

a foul of a large criminal organization operating out of Russia.  I was taken for a ride by a 

mobster moll right out of a 1940s detective movie, except standing behind this moll are Russian 

and Chechen organized crime figures, associates of the Chechen Special Islamic Regiment and 

other members of the Russian mafia. 

 

B. Enterprise Movants Spin the Complaint 

The Enterprise movants continue their maligning of me by claiming this RICO action is 

the latest in my “quest to harass, intimidate and persecute” the Enterprise movants.  

(Memorandum p 6-1)  If seems a little ludicrous that I, a sole practitioner lawyer, eking out a 

living, could “harass, intimidate and persecute” an entire law firm that advertises on the Internet 

in Russian on the very same page as an agency marketing Russian girls for marriage and linked 

to pornography, www.russianday.com, Exhibit C, and has offices in New Jersey, New York City 

and Rockland County.  Or that I could persecute a lucrative strip club advertised as “Live from 

the heart of NYC” in Times Square, www.flashdancernyc.com; a New York City Police 

Detective, a medical doctor and a wealthy Russian prostitute along with numerous others, 

including gangsters and Islamic lunatics.   

http://www.russianday.com/
http://www.flashdancernyc.com/
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If I have caused such trials and tribulations to the Russian mafia, then why haven’t the 

Enterprise movants filed harassment actions and complained about intimidation?  Because 

there’s no basis.  Where are their allegations of my arranging threatening telephone calls and 

threats of arrest or surreptitiously feeding them drugs?  There are none.  Only the objection that I 

sought to redress the harm done to me and protect my physical safety from what I now know is 

the Russian mafia.  The Enterprise movants ask this Court to not only grant dismissal because 

they don’t like me exercising my rights as an American, but also request this Court to act as a 

medieval inquisitor that would permanently crush my constitutional rights with “an injunction 

barring [me] from filing any future related claims.”  (Memorandum p 65-2)  I assume that would 

even entail a class action RICO suit against the Russian mafia for which I am currently trying to 

form a class of American men who have suffered similar harm by using the web site been-

scammed.com.  

 

i. Does it or doesn’t it exist—the Enterprise, a.k.a, the Russian mafia 

The Enterprise movants do a good job of cherry-picking the Complaint’s allegations 

concerning the Enterprise, by leaving out a couple of key ones: 

1. The Enterprise is an on going operation in which its members associate together for the 
purpose of engaging in illegal and legal activities in order to earn substantial profits.  

 
2. A key aim of the Enterprise is to infiltrate and expand its activities in hard currency 

markets where profits are not threatened by inconvertibility of the local currency or 
drastic depreciations. 

 
They also question whether the Russian mafia did any harm to my business and property 

by referring to only one allegation in the Complaint at paragraph 3 (Memorandum p 7-1) and 

ignoring others at 188, 900-907.  The Enterprise movants also object in footnote 12 of their 
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Memorandum that I “failed to state [it should be “allege”] how” the Russian mafia injured my 

business and property.  Even had the Complaint failed to specify the manner in which I was 

injured, which it does not, in the RICO context, “[a]t the pleading stage, general factual 

allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s conduct may suffice, for on a motion to 

dismiss we presume that general allegations embrace those specific facts that are necessary to 

support the claim.”  NOW v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256, 127 L.Ed.2d 99, 114 S.Ct. 798 (1994) 

(quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561, 119 L.Ed.2d 351, 112 S.Ct. 2130 

(1992)).      

But the Enterprise movants key criticism over the Complaint’s Enterprise allegations is 

that the Russian mafia and its operations throughout the world are figments of my imagination.  

(Memorandum p 7-2)  That remains to be seen, which is the task of discovery.  But the 

Complaint clearly does allege the existence of a global Russian organized crime group of which 

the Enterprise movants and other defendants are alleged members.   (Complaint 1, 2, 10-14, 16-

127)   Further, the Court can take judicial notice of the Russian mafia from articles such as the 

following one by Scott P. Boylan, Organized Crime and Corruption in Russia, Vol. 19, Fordham 

Int’l L.J., 1999, 2013 (1996):  “Presently, the U.S. and Russian Governments are cooperating in 

efforts to combat criminals operating in the United States and Russia. [100] The FBI has 

assigned agents to the U.S. Embassy in Moscow, while U.S. Department of Justice prosecutors 

currently reside in Moscow.”  If the Complaint’s allegations about the Enterprise are imaginary, 

why doesn’t the FBI save taxpayer dollars by closing down its Moscow office and its Russian 

organized crime unit here in New York, which is currently looking into some of the allegations 

in the Complaint?   
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The Enterprise movants also try to discredit the existence of the Russian mafia by 

claiming “the configuration of the alleged [E]nterprise centers around  Ms. Shipilina and the 

people she purportedly encountered and places to which she purportedly traveled.”  

(Memorandum p 7-2)  The Russian mafia does not center on movant Shipilina although the 

defendants in this case do have connections with her.  Enterprise movant Shipilina is a mid-level 

manager and asset of the Russian mafia, who works with, works for, cooperates with or directs 

other members of the criminal enterprise.  When I walked into the cross hairs of the Russian mob 

(Complaint 130-137), Shipilina was the one dispatched by defendant Perlin to sucker me into 

unknowingly helping the mob infiltrate another of its members into the US.  The only way I have 

been able to expose some of the workings of the Russian mafia members named as defendants 

was by following the thread of Enterprise movant Shipilina.   

My dark passage began with the discovery of telephone calls that Shipilina made from 

my apartment in order to marketed her sexual services to Flash Dancers’ customers. (Complaint 

214)   The truth led through a labyrinth of sleaze, crime and corruption that my attorney friend, 

Jeffrey Drummond, helped me realize was part of the Russian mafia.  I am just one of the pieces 

of wood that the Russian mafia used to fuel its Mordor engine of greed.  As I said, “This 

complaint concerns a portion of the Enterprise’s activities in America, Russia, Cyprus and 

Mexico and some of its Members, the defendants, who are alleged to engage in money 

laundering, prostitution, pornography, white slavery, drug trafficking, bribery, tampering with 

witnesses and informants, obstructing justice, tax evasion, failure to report the transfer of funds 

overseas, mail and wire fraud, immigration violations, conspiracy to commit murder for hire and 

the use of the international facilities to assist in carrying out Enterprise activities.”  (Complaint 

15)  The Complaint does not address all the activities or all the members of the Russian mafia.  A 
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person injured by organized crime, such as the Italian mafia, will only be talking about a limited 

number of crimes and persons.  A person who is loan-sharked by the Italian mob will not likely 

come into contact with those who issue fake construction bonds.  No individual will ever be the 

victim of all of a gang’s illegal acts.   

The Enterprise movants object, “there is absolutely no connection offered by plaintiff 

among any of the defendants comprising the purported enterprise.”  (Memorandum p 7-3)  The 

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich claim their only connection with the defendants 

in this case is with Enterprise movant Shipilina.  (Id.)  I don’t know that and neither does this 

Court because there has been no discovery.  Once again, the Complaint need only allege, which 

it does throughout.  Prostitutes and pornography flow out of southern Russia into New York for 

sale and use in lap dancing clubs like Flash Dancers or over the internet (Complaint 19, 22, 23, 

24, 25, 73, 322, 329, 330, 331, 343, 363, 366, 413, 434, 435), immigration laws are violated to 

get the prostitutes into America and keep them here (Complaint 27, 29, 32, 87, 95, 113, 191-93, 

323-25, 327-28, 353, 405-09), drugs are brought in from southern Russia to keep lap-dancing 

customers happy (Complaint 23, 48, 97, 100, 206, 332, 334, 460), prostitutes and pornography 

also flow from southern Russia to Cyprus and on to the US (Complaint 96, 106, 112, 403, 410, 

412),  prostitutes and pornography move from Moscow to southern California (Complaint 37, 38, 

51, 80, 368, 370, 374, 376, 377) or first to Mexico and then into the US (Complaint 114, 117, 

119, 122, 126, 423, 426, 427, 428, 431-32), the prostitute underground railway extends into 

Wisconsin from southern Russia (Complaint 42, 69, 350, 352), the operations are protect with 

bribery (Complaint 47, 65, 66, 67, 84, 88, 298, 302, 307) and intimidation (Complaint 30, 46, 49, 

50, 77, 98, 99, 265-68, 280-83, 287-90, 293, 297, 308, 316-18), profits are laundered (Complaint 

31, 101-04, 295, 301, 335, 414, 447, 453, 454-58) and the system corrupted (Complaint 874).  It 
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is all interrelated—supply, production, protection, profit maximization, reinvestment and 

growth—with each defendant playing his or her part in the success of a large organization.     

A little common sense is needed to show the absurdity of the Enterprise movants 

objection that the defendants are not connected.  When I worked as an associate at Cravath, 

Swaine and Moore or as a political producer at Channel 7 Eyewitness News, I never came into 

contact with every member in those large organizations, but it was clear that we all shared the 

organization’s goals and worked for that end.  On anyone case or story, I was at times the only 

connection among different members of the organization, all of whom were working to make the 

organization succeed and providing varying degrees of assistance on that particular case or story.  

That’s how large organizations work.  They muster together resources, which include people, to 

support the pursuit of numerous activities to achieve the organization’s goals.  At any one time, 

Cravath, Swaine and Moore is working on dozens of cases, Eyewitness News on dozens of 

stories and the Russian mafia on dozens of targets.  Looking at only one case, one story or one 

target will reveal only some of the organization’s members and some of them will not even know 

each other, but they all share the common goal and accept the means for achieving it.  Otherwise, 

they will be fired, or, as with the Russian mafia, worst.  And no, I am not claiming Cravath or 

Eyewitness News as being RICO enterprises. 

Alternatively, in Hansel’n Gretel Brand, Inc. v. Savitsky, 1997 WL 543088, *2 (SDNY 

Sept. 3, 1997) the defendants argued, as the Enterprise movants do here, that a complaint must 

allege a common link other than the racketeering activity (Memorandum p 7-3) or, stated 

differently, they played roles in the enterprise distinct from the racketeering activity.  According 

to Hansel, that is not the law of the Second Circuit.   
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Finally, for this section, if what the Complaint alleges at paragraphs 1, 10-15 is not an 

enterprise, than neither is the Italian mafia, the very impetus for the RICO statute.  

 

(ii) Missing and misstated allegations by Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich 

Although Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich’s object that the criminal 

allegations against them are “conclusory” (Memorandum p 8-2), a fair reading of the “ninety-one 

page, complaint” with its “nine hundred and fifteen separate numbered allegations” 

(Memorandum p 8 n. 13) shows it provides them fair notice of the claims against them. 

  Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich also call the Complaint’s allegations 

“outlandish, extremely broad and fantastic ….”  (Memorandum p 9-2)   Well, of course they are.  

They describe the conduct of members of the Russian mafia, which, to quote an American 

executive in Moscow, are “frigging unbelievable.”  The Complaint merely depicts the Enterprise 

movants deeds, and, if those had not been outlandish, then there would be no Complaint.  

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich seek to have the Court view the 

allegations against them in isolation.  (Memorandum pp 8-10)  That would mean missing the 

forest for the trees.  The purpose of RICO is to reach organized crime groups.  If defendants are 

permitted to narrow the focus to individual defendants in a vacuum, then there is no RICO 

statute.  The cause of action is against the Russian mafia of which the defendants are part.  Large 

organizations work through individual humans who make decisions within their sphere of 

responsibility and carry out tasks to get them accomplished.  It is a one for all, all for one 

situation.  And that is how the law treats RICO participants: joint and severally liable.  Fleisch-

hauer v. Feltner, 879  F.2d 1290, 1301 (6th Cir. 1989).  The US Senate report on RICO stated: 

“What is needed here … are new approaches that will deal not only with individuals, but also 



 32

with the economic base through which those individuals constitute such a serious threat to the 

economic well-being of the Nation.”  S.Rep. No. 91-617, p 79 (1969).    

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich, and by inference the other movants, 

also object that their non-predicate criminal acts alleged in the Complaint (Complaint 684-853) 

are “merely repetitive of the alleged predicate acts.” (Memorandum p 9-3)  Not fully true, or all 

of those other criminal acts would also be predicate acts, but they are not.  While some of the 

Enterprise movants and other defendants’ crimes do violate both the RICO predicate acts and, at 

the same time, New York criminal law, many of their acts include state or federal crimes that do 

not fall within the list of predicate acts in 18 USC 1961.  Among the non-predicate federal 

crimes are employing unauthorized aliens, 8 USC 1324a; tax evasion, 26 USC 7201, 7203, 7206-

07; use of fraudulent documents, 8 USC 1324c; bribing Russian officials in violation of the 

foreign corrupt practices act, 15 USC 78dd-2, 3; perjury, 18 USC 1621, and false statements, 18 

USC 1001; conspiracies to violate federal law, 18 USC 371; and obstructing federal government 

proceedings, 18 USC 1505.  As for New York State law, the violations include prostitution, 

Penal 230; reckless endangerment, Penal 120.20 & 120.25; coercion, Penal 135.60 & 135.65; 

official misconduct, Penal 195; intimidation, Penal 215.15; and conspiracy to violate state law, 

Penal 105. 

In their summary of the allegations, Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich 

leave out many of the averments, which makes it difficult to follow the Complaint if only the 

sections they refer to are read.  (Memorandum p 8-2 to 10-2)  Perhaps this is an instance of self-

fulfilling criticism, since they already claim the Complaint is “chaotic”.  (Memorandum p 8 n. 

13)   Among crucial allegations left out:  
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1. Complaint 237, when at a meeting with me “… Member Alina Shipilina threatened the 

plaintiff with physical harm and possibly death from her Russian criminal associates 

unless he agreed to lie to the INS for her.”  Here Enterprise movant Shipilina was 

carrying out the agreed course of action by Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich and 

her.  (Complaint 236) 

2. Complaint 239 in which Enterprise movant Shipilina, at the behest of Mundy and 

Petrovich (Complaint 234), obtained a temporary order of protection against me based on 

perjured testimony. 

3. Complaint 244, which explains Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy, Petrovich and 

Shipilina’s reasons for intimidating me into a settlement: “A trial would produce 

evidence of Member Alina Shipilina’s fraud on the INS, U.S. tax evasion, money 

laundering, violation of foreign transactions reporting, prostitution, promoting 

prostitution, narcotics trafficking and perjury that would threaten the Enterprise’s Scheme 

and risk exposure of Enterprise activities in which Member Alina Shipilina was 

involved.” 

4.  Complaint 316-318 in which Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina 

arranged for Member John Madison, a.k.a. Pierre, to threaten me into not testifying 

before any INS proceeding concerning Shipilina. 

5. Complaint 705, 706, 722, 723, 738, 739 in which Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and 

Petrovich conspired to violate federal law, commit predicate acts and break various New 

York criminal laws.   
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Besides deleting complete allegations that they apparently don’t like, Enterprise movants 

Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich misstate others or omit key parts.  For example: 

1. They say the Complaint alleges Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich 

“[O]perate a green card and visa mill that fraudulently obtains U.S. visas, residency status 

and naturalization for aliens.”  (Memorandum p 8-1)  However, their statement alters the 

meaning of the allegation by omitting the word “Russians”—the main beneficiaries of the 

illegal conduct.  (Complaint 28) 

2. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich say the Complaint alleges Petrovich 

“[A]cts as an attorney in the US, although not admitted, under the supervision of 

Mundy.”  (Memorandum p 8-2)  Here they left out that Petrovich was an attorney in 

Russia, which helps infer he is also acting as one here. 

3. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich say the Complaint alleges they were, 

“intimidating witnesses from providing testimony to US authorities/Courts in connection 

with the plaintiff’s divorce proceeding….”  (Memorandum p 9-1, (4))  The Complaint 

alleges intimidating witnesses “from providing testimony to any US authorities” and not 

just about the divorce proceeding, but any US investigation, such as by the INS.  

(Complaint 265)  

4. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich say the Complaint alleges they were 

“intimidating the plaintiff to dissuade him from trying to set aside the agreed upon 

divorce settlement.” (Memorandum p 9-1, (6))  The referenced “agreed upon divorce 

settlement” was one made by my lawyer without my knowledge or approval.  (Complaint 

278, 279)  
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5. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich say the Complaint alleges they were 

“using … bribery … intimidation” against me and others “to obstruct the criminal 

indictment…” of one of the defendants.  (Memorandum p 9-1, (7))  They omit key parts 

of the allegations that among the intimidators were Chechen Islamic Mafiosi, that one 

reason for the intimidation was to prevent me from cooperating with the INS, that the 

money used to pay for the intimidation and bribes in violation of the Foreign Corrupt 

Practices law came from illegal Russian mafia activities, that around $10,000 was paid to 

corrupt Russian officials, that the international telephone and transportation system was 

used to make the intimidation and bribery arrangements and to wire the money, that 

witnesses were in fact threaten, and that the criminal case against a Russian mafia 

member was closed in order to keep secret some of the Russian mafia’s activities.  

(Complaint 286-306) 

6. In their memorandum at p 9-1, (7), they also fail to mention that among the people 

allegedly bribed was a New York City detective who threatened me with arrest in order 

to keep me from cooperating with the INS or the Krasnodar district attorney prosecuting 

the criminal case.  (Complaint 306, 307) 

7. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich mistakenly imply the Complaint alleges 

the predicate act of obstruction of justice.  (Memorandum p 9-2)  The Complaint alleges 

the predicate act of tampering with witnesses and informants, which is 18 USC 1512.  

(Complaint 487, 492, 494, 504, 506)  It’s more than a semantic difference that Enterprise 

movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich exploit to make misleading legal arguments in their 

memorandum under section II. (B)(ii)(bb), which will be addressed below. 
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8. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich refer to the Complaint’s allegations 495, 

497, 507 and 509 as dealing with bribing Russian officials and coercing the plaintiff’s 

witnesses, but fail to mention that what makes such conduct predicate acts is that 

international facilities were used to arrange such conduct in aid of a racketeering 

organization—the Russian mafia, which violates 18 USC 1952.  (Memorandum p 9-2) 

9. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich, in their memorandum at p 9-3, 

summarize the Complaint’s allegations against Mundy and Petrovich for obstructing INS 

proceedings, but fail to cite to the criminal acts they aided and abetted in carrying out that 

obstruction—coercion and intimidation.  (Complaint 721, 737) 

10. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich omitted in their memorandum at p 9-3 

that the Complaint alleges their activities of tampering with witnesses involved threats of 

physical injury, intimidation and coercion, not only in the divorce proceeding and 

criminal case in Krasnodar, but in the INS investigation against Enterprise movant 

Shipilina.  (Complaint 713, 715, 716, 729, 731, 732) 

11. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich, in their memorandum at p 10-1, fail to 

mention the significance of the allegations of bribing a Russian official—it violates the 

foreign corrupt practices act.  (Complaint 717, 733)  They also omit that the other bribery 

allegations are for bribing or, in the alternative, rewarding a New York City detective, 

Enterprise movant Henning.  (Complaint 719, 735) 

12. Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich, in their memorandum at p 10-1, omit 

that the laundered money came from illegal Russian mafia activities and was used to 

threaten witnesses and bribe Russian officials.  (Complaint 718, 734)  
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This statement of facts has pointed out the Enterprise movants omissions, errors and 

misstatements as well as their effort to castigate me, the victim of RICO violations, as unworthy 

of the right to seek legal redress for harms whose causes didn’t become evident until hindsight 

and the aid of a Harvard educated lawyer began connecting the dots.  Those dots revealed a 

picture of the Enterprise movants and other Russian mafia members’ criminal activities.  As of 

the writing of this memorandum in opposition, the full extent of the Russian mafia’s activities 

that have injured me is still not known.  But my continuing investigation and discovery will 

complete the picture.  

In order to depict the segment of the Russian mafia’s activity involving the defendants, 

my complaint is one third longer than Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich’s 

Memorandum.  The Enterprise movants, however, have seized on my complaint’s length, not 

just to imply that the length itself is wrong, but to omit, misrepresent and twist allegations out of 

their common sense meaning in the probable hope that the time pressured court will miss what 

the Complaint actually alleges.   

 

C. Help 

 The Enterprise movants criticize me for making “numerous requests” for protection 

orders.  (Memorandum p 10-3)  I’ve been threaten with death by a member of the Russian mafia 

(Complaint 237), received four threatening telephone calls (Complaint 282, 289, 318 and June 

19, 2003 letter), been threaten with arrest on a bogus charge (Complaint 309; Henning Affidavit 

Para. 9, 10) and told by the FBI, the premier law enforcement agency in the world, to watch out 

for myself in public (Complaint 867).  During all this, I thought the judiciary would help me, and 
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made three requests for protection orders—but to no avail.  So, if anything, I’m a dope, but that 

is not grounds for dismissing a RICO complaint—I don’t think.   

 The Enterprise movants again provide misleading information to the Court when they say 

investigations by state and federal authorities “apparently have been dismissed or ignored.”  

(Memorandum p 10-3)  The Enterprise movants are clearly in a better position to know than me, 

since they are the ones being investigated.  But as far as my knowledge goes, the INS 

investigation is ongoing (Complaint 286), the FBI and Krasnodar police are currently looking 

into some of the allegations in the Complaint, and the New York City Board of Elections 

completed its investigation into Enterprise movant Shipilina falsely swearing to US citizenship 

when she registered to vote (Complaint 459) and referred those findings to the US Attorney for 

the Eastern District and the Queens District Attorney.   

 
Argument 

 Point 1: The RICO complaint meets the standard of review pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). 

“Dismissal of a civil RICO complaint for failure to state a claim is appropriate only when 

‘it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent 

with [plaintiff’s] allegations.’” Commercial Cleaning Servs. LLC v. Colin Serv. Sys. Inc., 271 

F.3d 374, 379 (2d Cir. 2001) (quoting H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Co., 492 US 

229, 249-50, 106 L.Ed.2d 195, 109 S.Ct. 2893 (1989).  “A complaint should not be dismissed for 

failure to state a claim ‘unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts 

in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief.’”  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 

12078, * 15, 16 (SDNY July 16, 2003, J. Mukasey) (citing Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-

46, 2 L. Ed. 2d 80, 78 S.Ct. 99 (1957); Goldman v. Belden, 754 F.2d 1059, 1065 (2d Cir. 1985)).  
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“On a motion to dismiss, a court must read the complaint generously, and draw all inferences in 

favor of the pleader.”  See California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508, 

515, 30 L. Ed. 2d 642, 92 S.Ct. 609 (1972).”   “The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure erect a 

powerful presumption against rejecting pleadings for failure to state a claim,” Robbins v. Wilkie, 

300 F.3d 1208, 1210 (10th Cir. 2002).  The court accepts the plaintiff’s description of what 

happened to him along with any conclusions that can be reasonably drawn.  Wright & Miller, 

Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1357, p 319. 

The issue on a motion to dismiss is not whether the plaintiff will ultimately prevail, but 

whether he is entitled to offer evidence to support his claims. See Villager Pond, Inc. v. Town of 

Darien, 56 F.3d 375, 378 (2d Cir. 1995).  It is not the Court’s function at this stage of the 

proceedings to weigh the evidence that might be presented at trial; instead, the Court should 

merely determine whether the complaint itself is legally sufficient.  Id.  The Enterprise movants’ 

Memorandum, however, seeks to have the Court consider the Complaint as though it were the 

transcript of a trial or the product of discovery.  

The Enterprise movants ask for dismissal because “bald conclusory statements… 

deductions, or opinions couched as factual allegations,” are not given the presumption of truth 

(Memorandum p 11-1, p 12-2), but they fail to specify which allegations they are referring.  If 

the Enterprise movants had really found allegations of conclusions and opinions, they should 

have moved for a more definite statement.  The Supreme Court stated in Swierkiewicz v. Sorema 

NA, 534 U.S. at 514, “If a pleading fails to specify the allegations in a manner that provides 

sufficient notice, a defendant can move for a more definite statement under Rule 12(e).   

The liberal notice pleading of Rule 8(a) is the starting point of a simplified pleading 

system, which was adopted to focus litigation on the merits of the claim.  See Conley, 355 U.S. 
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at 48.  The complaint need not state with precision all elements that give rise to a legal basis for 

recovery as long as fair notice of the nature of the action is provided.  Wright & Miller, Fed. 

Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1216, p 154.  The ninety-one-page RICO complaint in this action easily 

gives the Enterprise movants fair notice of the basis of the claims against them.  In addition, the 

RICO statute, even at the pleading stage, is to be liberally construed to effectuate its remedial 

purpose, see Sedima, 473 U.S. at 498, which includes the infliction of financial injury on 

racketeers, see US v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 593, 69 L.Ed.2d 246, 101 S.Ct. 2524 (1981), 

including the Russian mafia.   

In deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, courts are dealing only with the complaints’ 

allegations, Knevelbaard Diaries v. Kraft Foods, Inc., 232 F.3d 979, 991 (9th Cir. 2000), not the 

defendants’ allegations in their memorandum of law for a dismissal.  The court restricts its 

inquiry to “facts stated on the face of the complaint, in documents appended to the complaint or 

incorporated in the complaint by reference, and to matters of which judicial notice may be 

taken.”  Allen v. WestPoint-Pepperell, Inc., 945 F.2d 40, 44 (2d Cir. 1991); see also Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 10(c).  The Enterprise movants request the Court to consider a number of documents attached 

to their memorandum of law of which the plaintiff has knowledge.  (Memorandum p 12-2)  

When a court reviews statements extraneous to the complaint, the problem that usually arises is 

the plaintiff did not have notice that those statements would be considered in a motion to 

dismiss.  Cortec Indus., Inc. v. Sum Hldng. LP, 949 F.2d 42, 48 (1991).  In order to correct this 

notice deficiency, motions to dismiss are converted into summary judgment motions.  Id.  But 

“[w]here the plaintiff has actual notice of all the information in the movants’ papers … the 

necessity of translating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion into one under Rule 56 is largely dissipated.”  Id.  
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So, the Enterprise movants use of documents, to which the plaintiff had notice, argues against 

their effort to turn this motion into one for summary judgment.    

If this Court dismisses the Complaint or part of it under Rule 12(b)(6), then the plaintiff 

requests leave to amend.  

  

Point 2: Getting it, keeping it, running it and conspiring to do all three in violation of RICO. 
 
A. The elements of RICO. 

The RICO statute is a complex and, at times, seemingly confusing law that has given the 

courts many problems.  The plaintiff has used his perspective as an MBA graduate to understand 

the statute, which may be of assistance to the Court, or, the Court can skip ahead to the middle of 

page 43.   

Any criminal enterprise, such as the Russian mafia, can be thought of as similar to a 

business conglomerate with all its attendant business relationships.  The conglomerate consists of 

affiliates and subsidiaries each with their own managers.  The conglomerate may be tightly 

controlled or more akin to a confederation where all member companies are pretty much 

autonomous.  Business conglomerates often have their own in-house counsel or captive law firm 

where the lawyers not only participate in management decision-making but also provide 

directions for carrying out decisions and aspects of the operations.  The same holds true of 

accountants; public relations firms; advertising agencies; and management, personnel and 

physical plant consultants.  Even suppliers, wholesalers and retailers may swing enough 

influence to play a role in directing operations because of the integrated effort needed to bring a 

product or service to the market place just in time to meet consumer demand. 
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The really successful conglomerates have a strategic vision or goal that can be expressed 

in a sentence.  It’s goals, such as Merck’s: “Preserving and improving human life; medicine is 

for the patient.”  Or Disney: “Bringing happiness to millions.”  Or General Electric under Jack 

Welch: “Become number one or two in every market we serve.” Or the Russian mafia: “Infiltrate 

and expand operations into hard currency markets, especially the USA.”  (Complaint 2)  These 

goals are what give direction to decision making by managers, employees and associates in large, 

modernly managed organizations.  Such goals eliminate the need for a hierarchically structured 

command and control.  A mid-level manager does not need a higher up, who in turn needs 

another higher up, and so on, to clear a course of action.  According to Professor E. Kirby 

Warren at Columbia University’s School of Business, managers will make those day-to-day 

decisions that serve the organization’s stated goal. 

Once an organization’s goal is in place, the participants need to agree on strategies for 

achieving that goal.  With RICO conglomerates the strategies are summarized by the three main 

RICO violations 18 USC 1962(a)(b) &(c): get it, keep it and run it.  For the Russian mafia that 

means: 

1. Invest money from legitimate and racketeering activities to gain control of other 

businesses—whether legitimate, criminal or mixed—in order to grow the Enterprise. 

2. Use racketeering activities to maintain or take over businesses—whether legitimate, 

criminal or mixed—in order to consolidate and expand operations. 

3. Effectively operate the Enterprise by conducting the racketeering activities that are its 

core business and using other racketeering activities to protect the core business and 

maximize profits. 
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The conspiracy section 1962(d) comes into play when participants or associates of a RICO agree 

on any of the above strategies.  The Complaint alleges the Enterprise movants agreed on all 

three.  (Complaint 472, 478, 484, 501, 513, 543, 547, 559)  

In order to achieve its strategies a conglomerate needs tactics—the nuts-and-bolts acts 

needed to get, keep and run.  For RICO conglomerates the tactics are of two types: a pattern of 

racketeering activity that is defined as individual predicate acts which are related and continuous, 

and agreements; that is, conspiracies, to commit predicate acts, which should not be confused 

with an agreement to pursue a particular strategy, which is a conspiracy to violate RICO. 

As with must modern-day conglomerates, a RICO enterprise need reach across interstate 

or foreign borders. 

And finally, the statute requires a RICO conglomerate to have harmed the plaintiff. 

 

The purpose of RICO is not as narrow as the Enterprise movants claim when they say its 

aim is to protect legitimate business from infiltration by organized crime.  (Memorandum p 12-3)  

The statutory history “not only refers … to the importance of undermining organized crime’s 

influence on legitimate businesses but also refers to the need to protect the public from those 

[who] would run ‘organization[s] in a manner detrimental to the public interest.’”  Cedric 

Kushner Promotion, Ltd., v. King, 533 U.S. 158, 165, 150 L. Ed. 2d 198, 121 S.Ct. 2087 (2001) 

(citing Senate Rep. No. 91-617 at 82.)  RICO protects the public from those who use a legitimate 

or illegitimate enterprise as a vehicle through which unlawful activity is committed.  NOW, Inc 

v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 259.  And “[t]he statute’s remedial purposes are nowhere more 

evident than in the provision of a private action for those injured by racketeering activity.”  

Sedmia, 473 U.S. at 498.  “The object of civil RICO is … not merely to compensate victims but 
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to turn them into prosecutors, private attorney generals, dedicated to eliminating racketeering 

activity.”  Rotella v. Wood, 528 U.S. 549, 557, 145 L.Ed.2d 1047, 120 S.Ct. 1075 (2000).  The 

Complaint alleges the Russian mafia is an illegitimate enterprise (Complaint 1, 10, 12) in which 

the Enterprise movants and the other defendants participate in committing predicate acts 

(Complaint 466-681) that have harmed not only the plaintiff but other members of the public as 

well (Complaint 874, 884, 885, 900-907). 

The Enterprise movants also try to raise the standard for pleading RICO allegations by 

referring to the First Circuit’s proposition that courts should give RICO allegations stricter 

scrutiny because of “an almost inevitable stigmatizing effect on … defendants.”  Figuero Ruiz v. 

Alegria, 896 F.2d 645, 650 (1st Cir. 1990).  This, however, contradicts the Supreme Court, “[a]s 

for stigma, a civil RICO proceeding leaves no greater stain than do a number of other 

proceedings.”  Sedima at 492. 

The most favorite methods, however, used by the Enterprise movants to influence the 

Court into applying a higher standard of pleading to the plaintiff than is required by law consists 

of statements such as the Complaint “failed to demonstrate standing.”  (Memorandum 14-3)  

Demonstrate means to prove indubitably, but that is not the role of pleadings, Hickman v. 

Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 500-01.  Other times, they make conclusory use of various adjectives 

before the word allege, such as “sufficiently.”  (Memorandum p 14-3)  The complaint need only 

allege so that the defendant has fair notice; the proof comes later in the process.  Cater Constr. 

Co. v. Nischwitz, 111 F.2d at 973.   

The Complaint alleges all the RICO elements against the Enterprise movants that the 

Second Circuit requires: (a) defendants (Complaint 16-23, 27-39, 47) (b) through the 

commission of two or more predicate acts (Complaint 466-547, 556-59) (c) constituting a pattern 
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(Complaint 875-85) (d) of racketeering activities, those are predicate acts (Complaint 466-547, 

556-59) (e) directly or indirectly invests in (Complaint 471, 474, 488, 500, 512, 542, 546), or 

maintains an interest in (Complaint 471, 474, 477, 480, 483, 500, 512, 542), or participates in 

(Complaint 471, 474, 477, 480, 500, 512, 542, 546, 558) (f) an enterprise (Complaint 1, 10-15) 

(g) the activities of which affect interstate or foreign commerce (Complaint 874).  

 

B. Predicate acts, other than those of fraud, need not be pled with Rule 9(b) particularity. 

As the Complaint alleges, the Russian mafia’s aim is to infiltrate and expand its illegal 

and ancillary legal operations into markets such as the USA.  (Complaint 2)  In order to achieve 

this aim, its strategies include (1) taking money from organized crime activities to get and run 

more illegal and legal operations; (2) using certain criminal activities to keep what it’s already 

got; and (3) running its illegal and legal operations by using criminal practices.  To achieve each 

of these strategies requires the use of tactics; that is, the commission of various specific criminal 

acts called predicate acts.  See 18 USC 1961(1).  When these predicate acts are fraudulent in 

nature, such as wire fraud, then Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) applies, and only then. 

The Enterprise movants in sections B, B(i) and B(ii) of their Memorandum misstate the 

law on pleading with particularity in an effort to have Rule 9(b) apply to all the predicate acts 

alleged rather than only those involving fraud.  For example, the title to B(i) states: “Plaintiff’s 

RICO Claims Must Be Plead (sic) With Particularity under Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).”  (Memorandum 

p 14)  And B(ii) states: “Plaintiff Has Failed to Demonstrate the Particularity That Is Required  

for Pleading RICO under Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).”  (Memorandum p 16)  Within B(ii) they say, “… 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) dictates that the predicate acts alleged in the complaint must be pled with 

particularity,” and, “[A]s discussed more thoroughly below, plaintiff’s claims of predicate acts 
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…. Are clearly lacking in the required factual specificity under Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) ….”  

(Memorandum p 16-3)  These statements of the law are wrong, as are the arguments in those two 

sections that assume Rule 9(b) applies to all predicate acts. 

The Enterprise movants even lump together in Section B(ii) non-fraudulent predicate acts 

with fraudulent predicate acts in an apparent attempt to have Rule 9(b) particularity apply to the 

non-fraudulent acts such as white slavery (Memorandum p 17), importing aliens for immoral 

purposes (Memorandum p 17), tampering with a witness—deceptively labeled by them 

obstruction of justice (Memorandum p 18), bribery (Memorandum p 30) and money laundering 

(Memorandum p 32).  The “[d]efendants confuse the requirement to plead with particularity 

RICO acts predicated upon fraud … with Rule 8’s more general notice pleading ….”  Robbins v. 

Wilkie, 300 F.3d 1208, 1211 (10th Cir. 2002). 

The Supreme Court’s decision in Leatherman v. Tarrant County Narcotics Intelligence & 

Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163, 168, 122 L.Ed.2d 517, 113 S.Ct. 1160 (1993), has resulted in 

the federal courts holding to the proposition that, with the exception of actions falling within 

Rule 9, no special pleading requirements exist.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: 2d Civ 

1221 p 59.  The Supreme Court has declined to extend beyond fraud or mistake the Rule 9(b) 

requirement of greater particularity in allegations.  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 

513.  Since the federal rules do not include among the enumerated actions to which 9(b) applies 

the predicate acts alleged in the Complaint that do not involve fraud, those non-fraudulent acts, 

need not satisfy Rule 9(b).  Cf. Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. at 513.  Only predicate 

acts involving fraud, such as wire and mail fraud, require Rule 9(b) particularity, not predicate 

acts like bribery.  Abels v. Farmers Commodities Corp., 259 F.3d 910, 919 (8th Cir. 2001). 
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The Enterprise movants make another error that periodically rears its head throughout 

their Memorandum.  They claim “Rule 9(b) pleadings cannot be based upon information and 

belief.”  (Memorandum p 16-2)  That is not completely accurate.  Rule 9(b) allegations can be 

pled on information and belief when the matters are peculiarly within the opposing parties’ 

knowledge.  Luce v. Edelstein, 802 F.2d 49, 54 n.1 (2d Cir. 1986).  While pleadings of fraud 

generally cannot be based solely on information and belief, this rule is not rigidly enforced where 

much of the factual information needed to fill out the plaintiff’s complaint lies within the 

opposing parties’ knowledge.  DeVittorio v. Equidyne Extractive Indus., Inc., 822 F.2d 1242, 

1248 (2d Cir. 1987).  In such a situation, the plaintiff must still allege the facts on which his 

belief is founded, which the Complaint does.   

 

i. The Complaint’s allegations of predicate acts involving fraud satisfy Rule 9(b). 

 The Enterprise movants’ Memorandum at p 14-4 list the goals behind requiring 

fraudulent predicate acts to be pled with particularity.  However, “Rule 9(b) should not be 

applied in such a way as to exalt these goals above all else.”  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 

12078 * 38 (SDNY July 16, 2003, J. Mukasey).  “[A] plaintiff need not plead dates, times and 

places with absolute precision, so long as the complaint ‘gives fair notice and reasonable notice 

to defendants of the claim and the grounds upon which it is based.’” Int’l Motor Sports Group v. 

Gordon, 1999 WL 619633, at *3 (SDNY, Aug. 16, 1999, J. Mukasey)(quoting Spear, Leeds & 

Kellogg v. Public Service Co., 700 F. Supp. 791, 793 (SDNY 1988).  “The Second Circuit and 

courts in this district frequently have found that exclusive possession of the relevant information 

by the defendant is a ground for reading Rule 9(b)’s requirements permissively.”  Berk, 2003 

Lexis 12078 * 39.  Since the details of fraudulent predicate acts by the Russian mafia are not 
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available in 10K and 10Q Securities and Exchange filings or other public records, Rule 9(b) 

particularity should be applied permissively to the Complaint’s allegations concerning such acts 

should.  

As for those predicate acts of fraud where specific information of conduct is within the 

plaintiff’s knowledge, the Complaint alleges the gist of what the defendants said, the time frame, 

how the statements were made, how the statements were misleading, and how the Enterprise 

movants benefited.  The plaintiff, however, is not required to recite the precise statement which a 

specific person in the Enterprise made on a particular date.  Vista Co. v. Columbia Pictures 

Industries, Inc., 725 F.Supp. 1286, 1302 (SDNY 1989).  (Complaint 190-93, 201-03, 218-19, 

233, 240, 245, 273, 282, 289, 308-09, 318) 

Even as to fraudulent predicate acts, the Enterprise movants continue their tactic to apply 

still a higher pleading standard than the law demands.  They argue the goals “that dictate that 

fraud be pled with particularity exist with even greater urgency in civil RICO actions” because of 

the “stigmatizing effect” of being named a RICO defendant.  (Memorandum p 15-1)  Once 

again, the Supreme Court does not see it that way, “[a]s for stigma, a civil RICO proceeding 

leaves no greater stain than do a number of other proceedings.”  Sedima at 492. 

The movants also err when they claim that “[w]here multiple defendants are involved, the 

complaint is required to describe specifically each defendant’s alleged participation in the fraud.” 

(Memorandum p 16-1)  The actual rule is that defendants can be grouped together as long as 

there is enough information about the alleged wrongdoings to provide defendants with fair 

notice.  Vista v. Columbia Pictures Indus., 725 F.Supp. 1286, 1301-02.  “Rule 9(b) does not 

require omniscience; rather … enough specificity to put the defendants on notice ….”  Arnold v. 

Arnold Corp., 920 F.2d 1269, 1279-80 (6th Cir. 1990). 
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 If the Court determines that the Complaint’s allegations of fraudulent predicate acts do 

not meet Rule 9(b), the plaintiff requests leave to amend the Complaint, and where the 

information is peculiarly in the possession of the Enterprise movants, the plaintiff requests 

limited discovery in order to obtain that information before amending the Complaint.  

 

(ii) Predicate act allegations in the Complaint that do not require particularity, and a couple that 

do. 

In addition to the Enterprise movants’ false claim that Rule 9(b) applies to non-fraudulent 

predicate acts, they also mistakenly claim in section B(ii) of their Memorandum that the non-

predicate crimes alleged against them are “merely repetitive” of the predicate acts.  

(Memorandum p 16, n. 14)  If the crimes were repetitive, they would all be predicate acts, but 

they are not.  Among the non-predicate federal crimes are employing unauthorized aliens, 8 USC 

1324a; tax evasion, 26 USC 7201, 7203, 7206-07; use of fraudulent documents, 8 USC 1324c; 

bribing Russian officials in violation of the foreign corrupt practices act, 15 USC 78dd-2, 3; 

perjury, 18 USC 1621, and false statements, 18 USC 1001; conspiracies to violate federal law, 

18 USC 371; and obstructing federal government proceedings, 18 USC 1505.  As for New York 

State law, the non-predicate act violations include prostitution, Penal 230; reckless 

endangerment, Penal 120.20 & 120.25; coercion, Penal 135.60 & 135.65; official misconduct, 

Penal 195; intimidation, Penal 215.15; and conspiracy to violate state law, Penal 105. 

 

(aa) White slavery and fraud and misuse of visas. 

For some strange reason the Enterprise movants mix two non-fraudulent predicate 

crimes, white slavery and importing aliens for immoral purposes, with two fraudulent predicate 
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crimes, fraud and misuse of visas and procurement of nationality unlawfully.  Perhaps they want 

the Rule 9(b) particularity standard applied to the non-fraudulent crimes. 

First, let’s dispatch with the Enterprise movants usual litany that the Complaint does not 

provide evidence or as they say, “a single document, statement or fact” or “support,” in order to 

prove or as they say, “to show,” “for the plaintiff’s conclusions” and fails to “demonstrate” any 

of the above predicate crimes.  (Memorandum p 17-4)  Complaints do not prove or provide 

evidence.  Geisler v. Petrocelli, 616 F.2d 636, 639-40 (2d Cir. 1980). 

Second, putting aside the Enterprise movants’ monotonous name-calling, the Complaint’s 

allegations of white slavery and importing aliens for immoral purposes need only comply with 

Rule 8’s more general notice pleading, Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 500-01, 91 L.Ed. 451, 

67 S.Ct. 385 (1947), since they are not fraudulent predicate acts.  These allegations concerning 

the Enterprise movants are in the Complaint at 19, 22, 23, 27, 33, 38, 320, 322, 329, 403, 410, 

434, 466, 485, 490, 502, 521.  

As for fraud concerning visas and procurement of nationality, nearly all of that 

information is in the possession of the Enterprise movants, and, since the Second Circuit reads 

Rule 9(b)’s requirements permissively in such situations, Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 

39, and the plaintiff is not omniscient, Arnold v. Arnold Corp., 920 F.2d 1269, 1279-80 (6th Cir. 

1990), the Complaint provides enough information to give the Enterprise movants fair notice.  

(Complaint 28, 29, 32, 33, 223, 225, 324, 325, 327, 328, 408, 409, 467, 468, 491, 493, 503, 505, 

514, 522, 524) 

(bb) Tampering with a witness, victim or an informant. 

The Enterprise movants refer to 18 USC 1512 as “the predicate act of obstruction of 

justice,” (Memorandum 18-2), but the title to that section is “Tampering with a witness, victim or 
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an informant.”  The term  “obstruction of justice” includes the many different crimes listed in the 

eighteen sections of Chapter 73 of Title 18, which is why the chapter is called “Obstruction of 

Justice.”  Not all of the crimes listed in the chapter are predicate acts.  Perhaps the Enterprise 

movants’ juxtaposition of terminology is because the two cases they depend on in their 

Memorandum at p 19-2, Kashelkar v. Rubin & Rothman, 97 F.Supp.2d 383 (SDNY 2000), and 

O’Malley v. NYC Transit Auth., 896 F.2d 704 (2d Cir. 1990), use the term “obstruction of 

justice” in their decisions, but those decisions do not concern 18 USC 1512, tampering with a 

witness, victim or an informant. 

Tampering is alleged against Enterprise movants FlashDancers (Complaint 281-83, 288-

90, 317-18, 479, 482); Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich (Complaint 224, 225, 228, 229, 232, 234, 

236, 237, 239-41, 243-45, 265-68, 273, 280-83, 286-90, 297-98, 302-04, 306-12, 316-18, 487, 

492, 494, 504, 506); Shipilina (Complaint 228, 229, 232, 234, 236, 237, 239-41, 243-45, 265-68, 

280-83, 286-90, 293, 297-98, 302-04, 306-12, 316-18, 530, 531); and Henning (Complaint 307-

12).  The Complaint also alleges violation of another section in Chapter 73, 18 USC 1510, in 

which movant Shipilina attempted to reward the plaintiff for not communicating with criminal 

investigators.  (Complaint at 233, 529)  

In an apparent effort to rewrite 18 USC 1512 to their liking, the Enterprise movants 

delete the key paragraph, (b)(3), mislabel another paragraph and selectively edit the statute to 

their benefit.  (Memorandum p 18-3) 

Here is how the pertinent part of 18 USC 1512 actually reads: 

(b) Whoever knowingly uses intimidation, threatens, or corruptly persuades another 

person, or attempts to do so, or engages in misleading conduct toward another person, with intent 

to--  
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(3) hinder, delay, or prevent the communication to a law enforcement officer or judge of 

the United States of information relating to the commission or possible commission of a Federal 

offense …. 

Besides editing in “physical force” and editing out “corruptly persuades,” the Enterprise 

movants completely deleted section 1512(b)(3)   (Memorandum p 18-3)  By doing so, they were 

able to argue that 18 USC 1512 can only be violated if there is an ongoing “official proceeding” 

of the federal government.  (Memorandum p 19-1)  Since the Russian criminal case and the New 

York divorce case were not federal, the movants conclude there was no official proceeding, so 

no violation.  (Memorandum p 19-2)  Section 1512(b)(3), however, does not require an ongoing 

official federal proceeding because it does not even include the words “official proceeding” as do 

sections 1512(b)(1) & (2).  It specifically concerns communications to a federal law enforcement 

officer, which usually occur before any proceedings begin.   

If the Court concludes that 1512(b)(3) does require an ongoing federal proceeding, the 

plaintiff argues that when Enterprise movant Shipilina entered the US in July 2000 on a 

conditional permanent residency an official proceeding began that will not end until she is 

granted permanent residency or removed from the country.  The Enterprise movants even state at 

Memorandum p 3-1 that “Mundy … continues to represent Ms. Shipilina in relation to 

immigration matters pending before the Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services.”  So an 

official proceeding has been going on since July 2000. 

As the Complaint alleges, there were threats made against the plaintiff and witnesses in 

Russia concerning the divorce case and the Russian criminal case, also officials in Russia were 

corruptly persuaded, with bribes, to close the criminal case against one of the defendants.  

(Complaint 236, 237, 239-41, 243-45, 265-68, 273, 280-83, 286-90, 293, 297-98, 302-04, 306-
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12, 316-18, 479, 482, 487, 492, 494, 504, 506, 530, 531)  The reason for those threats and bribes 

was to hinder, delay or prevent information reaching federal law enforcement officials about the 

Enterprise movants’ violations of federal law in furtherance of the Russian mafia’s Scheme.  

(Complaint 224, 225, 228, 232, 234, 236, 237, 241, 243, 244, 265, 281, 287, 288, 290, 304, 306, 

307, 317, 318)  Whether that information was to come directly from the plaintiff or by way of 

testimony in a state court and Russian criminal case, it was on its way to federal law enforcement 

officers until the Enterprise movants’ threats and bribes effectively prevented any court 

testimony and attempted to stop the plaintiff from giving information.  The Enterprise movants 

argue at Memorandum p 19, n. 16; p 23-1 that with respect to the plaintiff, they did not violate 

1512(b)(3) because the plaintiff “continued to cooperate with the INS.”  A violation of the statute 

specifically includes the attempt to threaten, intimidate or corruptly persuade.  18 USC 1512(b).  

The effort does not have to succeed to be a violation or to cause harm.  In fact, the threats against 

the plaintiff led to court action, including this RICO case. 

The Enterprise movants in their Memorandum at p 20-3 to p 24-3 make four legal errors: 

1.  They mistakenly apply Rule 9(b) particularity requirements to the pleading of the non-

fraudulent predicate act of 18 USC 1512, tampering with a witness, victim or informant.  Rule 

9(b) does not apply to non-fraudulent predicate acts.  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 

513. 

2.  Eleven times in this section they object that the tampering allegations do not provide 

“proof,” (Memorandum p 20-3,4, p 21-1,2,3, p 22-1,2,3, p 23-2,3, p 24-2).  Pleadings are not 

required to provide proof.  Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 500-01.    

3.  The Enterprise movants make statements as though they were facts, and then use those 

statements to conclude that there were no violations of 18 USC 1512.  That is not the purpose of 
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a memorandum of law for a motion to dismiss.  Discovery is the device for ascertaining the facts 

relative to the issues, Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 501, and it is the tier of fact who makes 

inferences from the admissible evidence.  For example the movants repeatedly say, “[t]he 

plaintiff cannot state which witnesses were purportedly threatened.”  (Memorandum p 21-2, p 

23-2, p 24-3)  They do not know that.  The witnesses’ names will come out in discovery, unless 

the Court wants the names now.  Or, when the Enterprise movants conclude that medical records 

and an audiotape actually exist and show the plaintiff assaulted movant Shipilina and tried to 

extort money.  Based on their assumption of the existence of these items, they conclude that 

movant Mundy’s threats to use the records and audiotape in court were not tampering.  

(Memorandum p 21-1,3)  Whether the records and audiotape exist, which the Complaint alleges 

at 245, 247 they do not, and whether they are authentic is a discovery issue.  Or, when they 

conclude that getting a US citizen to give up the procedural right of making a motion for a trail 

by using threats does not constitute damage.  (Memorandum p 22-1)  Or, when the Enterprise 

movants conclude at Memorandum p 22-3 to p 23-1 that a call in the night from a man using a 

false name, who menacingly says the following is not a threat: “…cease and desist with your 

actions against Alina Shipilina,” “I know everything about you,” “…you disgust me,” “…I’m 

very much available,” “You better get your act together…,” “… you at this point in time have 

crossed several boundaries that cause for a lot of red flags to wave in the air…,”  “That’s it—

leave her alone! Have a nice day.”  (Complaint 289, 290)  Or, when they conclude that movant 

Henning’s threat to arrest the plaintiff for “violation of a protective order,” which was not a 

violation, (Henning Affidavit ¶ 9), was not tampering. 

4.  The Enterprise movants wrongly claim that allegations of tampering with a witness or 

informant cannot be made on information and belief.  (Memorandum p 20-3, p 21-2, p 22-1, p 
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22-2, p 23-2, p 24-2)  Violation of 18 USC 1512 is a non-fraudulent predicate act, so it can be 

pled on information and belief, Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: 2d Civ. 1224, p 205. 

If the Court, however, considers tampering fraudulent, the predicate act can still be pled 

on information and belief and the standard of particularity lessen, since the crucial information is 

peculiarly in the Enterprise movants possession.  Luce v. Edelstein, 802 F.2d 49, 54 n.1 (2d Cir. 

1986); Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.  The plaintiff was not a party to Enterprise 

movants FlashDancers, Kuba, Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning’s agreements and 

arrangements for threatening, intimidating or corruptly persuading witnesses, the plaintiff or 

officials in order to prevent exposure of the Russian mafia’s Scheme and its activities.  Yet 

among the movants’ objections in their Memorandum at p 21-2 is that the Complaint does not 

name “exactly which enterprise gangsters carried out [the] threats.”  Give me a break.  Mobsters 

do not leave calling cards.   

 The Enterprise movants’ Memorandum fails to address other alleged violations of 18 

USC 1512, such as Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina’s use of misleading 

conduct in the form of suborning perjury and perjury before the INS, the police and a New York 

court to cover up culpable information concerning an asset of the Russian mafia, Shipilina, so 

that she might obtain permanent residency.  (Complaint 224, 225, 228, 229, 232, 234, 239)  The 

Memorandum also leaves out Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina’s arrangement 

to threaten the plaintiff with death at the hands of Russian gangsters.  (Complaint 236, 237)  In 

addition, the Memorandum at p 24-2 claims the Complaint did not allege when the third 

threatening telephone call was made to the plaintiff, but the Complaint states at paragraph 318: 

“On March 27, 2002, in the evening, a man calling himself John Pierre telephoned the plaintiff 

and threatened him not to testify before the INS or try to reopen the Krasnodar criminal case.”  
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Further, the Enterprise movants wrongly state in their Memorandum at p 24-3 that other than 

movant Shipilina and defendant member Inessa Shipilina. “… the plaintiff fails to name a single 

person for whom these purported illegal activities [tampering under 18 USC 1512] were 

performed,”  The Complaint alleges at 243, 244, 304 that the purpose of the threats, 

intimidations, corrupt persuasions and misleading conduct were to prevent the exposure of the 

Russian mafia’s Scheme and its activities.  Since the Enterprise movants and other defendants 

are, as alleged, members of the Russian mafia, the tampering activities were performed for them. 

  The Enterprise movants once again use the tactic of claiming the alleged non-predicate 

acts in the Complaint are “repetitive of the already asserted ‘predicate acts.’”  (Memorandum at p 

18, n 15, and p 24, n 17)  And once again that is not the full truth.  While some of the Enterprise 

movants and other defendants’ crimes do violate both the RICO predicate acts and, at the same 

time, New York criminal law, many of their acts include state or federal crimes that do not fall 

within the list of predicate acts in 18 USC 1961. 

The Complaint’s allegations of the Enterprise movants’ tampering in violation of 18 USC 

1512 by using threats, intimidation, corrupt persuasion and misleading conduct provide enough 

information to give the movants fair and reasonable notice. 

 

cc. Mail and Wire Fraud 
 

The Enterprise movants’ Memorandum mistakenly states the pleading requirements for 

mail and wire fraud by claiming “it essential that evidence show,” (Memorandum p 25-2), a 

“showing … is necessary,” (Memorandum p 25-2), the Complaint “fails to provide any facts,” 

(Memorandum p 25-3), the Complaint must “demonstrate,” (Memorandum p 25-3), the 



 57

Complaint “has not established,” (Memorandum p 26-1), “there is no proof,” (Memorandum p 

26-3), “has failed to demonstrate,” (Memorandum p 27-3), “failed to show,” (Memorandum p 

27-3), “failed to provide any documentation,” (Memorandum p 29-1), “failed to provide any 

evidence,” (Memorandum p 29-3).  Although the predicate acts of wire fraud, which includes 

today’s ubiquitous use of the Internet, and mail fraud require pleading with particularity under 

Rule 9(b), the special nature of fraud does not necessitate anything other than notice of the claim. 

It does not require proof.  It simply necessitates a higher degree of notice, enabling the Enterprise 

movants to respond specifically, at an early stage.  Abels v. Farmers Commodities Corp., 259 

F.3d 910, 920 (8th Cir. 2001).  “While Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) proscribes the pleading of fraud by 

hindsight, we also cannot expect the plaintiffs to plead fraud with complete insight before 

discovery is complete.”  Maldonado v. Dominguez, 137 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 1998). 

The Enterprise movants harp on the plaintiff’s failure to “demonstrate” this or “show” 

that, which means prove this or prove that.  Black’s Law Dictionary.  For example at 

Memorandum p 27-3, it’s failure to demonstrate the Scheme exists or that the Enterprise 

movants were part of the Scheme and failure to show they engaged in mail and wire fraud to 

keep the Scheme going and protect it.  The Complaint doesn’t have to demonstrate, show or 

prove only allege the mail and wire fraud elements.  (Complaint 2, 227, 228, 232, 234, 236, 240, 

243, 245, 254, 265, 273, 275, 280-82, 287-89, 293-95, 298, 300-01, 306, 308, 315-318, 473, 493, 

505, 515, 516, 557)  In Gitterman v. Vitoulis, 564 F.Supp. 46, 49 (SDNY 1982), the Court 

denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss a RICO action by holding it was not beyond the 

possibility that the plaintiffs could prove the “use of the mails in furtherance of defendants’ 

schemes to defraud the plaintiffs, in violation of 18 USC 1341; [and] interstate telephone calls in 

furtherance of defendants’ scheme to defraud the plaintiffs, in violation of 18 USC 1343.”  The 



 58

plaintiffs in that case did not have to “demonstrate”, “show” or “prove” as the Enterprise 

movants claim the plaintiff has to here.  Furthermore, a RICO complaint need not be specific as 

to each allegation of mail or wire fraud when the nature of the RICO Scheme is sufficiently pled 

so as to give notice to each defendant where, as here, the challenge to the allegations precedes 

discovery.  Ifill v. West, No. 96 Civ. 6308, 1999 WL 690144, at *4 (SDNY Aug. 24, 1999).    

 

The elements of the predicate acts of mail and wire fraud are similar but not identical: 

Mail fraud requires (1) existence of a scheme to defraud; (2) defendants participate in the scheme 

with intent to defraud; (3) defendants use the US Postal Service to further the scheme.  US v. 

Zagari, 111 F.3d 307, 327 (2d Cir. 1997).  Wire fraud replaces element (3) with communications 

that cross state lines to further the scheme.  Id. 

The Enterprise movants exploit the similarity between mail and wire fraud to foist the 

false assumption that when a letter is sent or delivered by the US Postal Service, it must cross 

state lines.  “To properly plead mail … fraud violations, the plaintiff must demonstrate interstate 

use ….”  (Memorandum p 25-4)  Not true, whether a letter sent through the US Postal Service 

travels across town or around the world is irrelevant for mail fraud. 18 USC 1341.  Federal 

jurisdiction over the US Postal Service is sufficient to assert jurisdiction over intrastate postal 

service mailings under the mail fraud statute.  US v. Elliott, 89 F.3d 1360, 1364 (8th Cir. 1996).  

The Complaint alleges at 240, 241 that Enterprise movant Mundy sent a letter through the US 

Postal Service threatening a “difficult” divorce proceeding in order to intimidate the plaintiff into 

lying to the INS in furtherance of the Russian mafia’s Scheme.  Even though the letter was sent 

intrastate (Memorandum p 26-2), the mail fraud statute still applies. 
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The “scheme to defraud” under mail and wire fraud has been interpreted broadly by the 

courts to include any trickery, deceit, half-truth, concealment of material facts or affirmative 

misrepresentations.  Rakoff and Goldstein, RICO, Civil and Criminal, 2.02(1)(c).  A scheme to 

defraud is measured by a standard of “moral uprightness, of fundamental honesty, fair play and 

right dealing in the general and business life of members of society.”  Gregory v. US, 252 F.2d 

104, 109 (5th Cir.1958).  The Complaint alleges a scheme by the Russian mafia to infiltrate and 

expand its operations in the US by, in part, tricking American men into bringing mafia managers 

and prostitutes to America as companions and wives.  (Complaint 2, 135-38, 164, 883)  The 

Supreme Court recently added a materiality factor to the scheme that is satisfy when the maker 

of the representation or omission has reason to know the recipient is likely to regard the matter as 

important in determining his choice of action.  Neder v. US, 527 U.S. 1, 22-23, 144 L.Ed.2d 35, 

119 S.Ct. 1827 (1999).  The Complaint alleges that the Russian mafia Scheme, which ensnared 

the plaintiff, falsely depicts its managers and prostitutes as honest, hard-working women who 

want to raise a family because if the truth were told the mafia knows American men would run 

the other way.  (Complaint 165, 167, 170-72, 174-80, 361-66)      

As for the element of intent or knowing participation in or aiding and abetting the 

Scheme, Rule 9(b) specifically states: “Malice, intent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of 

a person may be averred generally.”  The Supreme Court also held that “[m]alice, intent, 

knowledge, and other condition of mind of a person may be averred generally.”  Swierkiewicz v. 

Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 513 n. 3.  The Complaint at 682, 683 generally alleges intent and 

knowledge. 

The Second Circuit requires some minimal basis for conclusory allegations of scienter 

that give rise to a strong inference of fraudulent intent.  Powers v. British Vita PLC, 57 F.3d 176, 
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184 (2d Cir. 1995).  A complaint may give rise to a sufficient inference of fraudulent intent by 

alleging a motive for committing fraud and an opportunity to do so.  Id. citing Beck v. 

Manufacturers Hanover Trust Co., 820 F.2d 46, 50 (2d Cir.  1987).  As alleged in the Complaint, 

the Enterprise movants’ motive for engaging in mail and wire fraud is to protect and further the 

Enterprise’s Scheme, which for them is the Golden Fleece (Complaint 2, 12), and their 

opportunities are inferred by the allegations of what they did: communications by mail and wire 

to carry out bribery, threats, intimidation, perjury and lulling in furtherance of the Scheme.  They 

saw their opportunities and they took them.  (Complaint 31, 201-205, 218, 219, 227, 228, 234, 

236, 243, 245, 254, 265, 273, 275, 280-82, 287-89, 293, 294, 295, 298, 300, 301, 306-08, 315-

18, 493, 495, 497, 505, 507, 509, 532, 534, 540, 541, 557, and 742)  Furthermore, intent to 

defraud can be inferred by a pattern of conduct, US v. Reid, 533 F.2d 1255, 1264 (D.C. Cir. 

1976), or the nature of the scheme itself, Beck v. Manufacturers Hanover Trust Co., 820 F.2d 46, 

49-51 (2d Cir. 1987).  The Complaint’s allegations cited to directly above illustrate the 

Enterprise movants’ modus operandi of making communications to arrange and execute various 

crimes to assure the Scheme’s ongoing success.  A key characteristic of the nature of the Scheme 

is defrauding and lulling its targets. (Complaint 883)  As such, the Enterprise movants’ objection 

that the Complaint’s allegations of intent are “not sufficient” (Memorandum p25-3) fails. 

The third element “in furtherance of the scheme” means communications by mail or wire 

need only be “incident to an essential part of the scheme,” and even innocent mailings, Schmuck 

v. US, 489 U.S. 705, 711, 715, 103 L.Ed.2d 734, 109 S.Ct. 2091 (1989), or acts to lull the victim 

into a false sense of security, United States v. Maze, 414 U.S. 395, 403, 38 L.Ed.2d 603, 94 S.Ct. 

645 (1974) may suffice.  Nearly any communication—by any person in the racketeering 

association, whether to the victim, or to any other member of the association, or third party and 
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whatever its content—can be in furtherance of the scheme.  Rakoff and Goldstein, RICO, Civil 

and Criminal, 2.02(1)(c).  The defendant does not have to actually participate in the 

communication as long as he reasonably foresaw it.  Maze, 414 U.S. 395, 399, 38 L.Ed.2d 603, 

94 S.Ct. 645 (1974); US v. Blackmon, 839 F.3d 900, 907 (2d Cir. 1988).  Further, the 

communication does not have to be false in any way or inaccurate so long as it is made in 

furtherance or pursuant to the scheme.  US v. Reid, 533 F.2d 1255, 1263 (D.C. Cir. 1976).  The 

Enterprise movants alleged communications by mail and wire to arrange and carry out bribery, 

threats, intimidation, perjury and lulling were in furtherance of the Scheme.  (Complaint 31, 201-

205, 218, 219, 227, 228, 234, 236, 243, 245, 254, 265, 273, 275, 280-82, 287-89, 293, 294, 295, 

298, 300, 301, 306-08, 315-18, 493, 495, 497, 505, 507, 509, 532, 534, 540, 541, 557, and 742)   

In the Second Circuit, there is a fourth element.  Mail and wire fraud require reliance by 

the plaintiff or a third party, Sterling Interiors Group, Inc. v. Haworth, 94 Civ. 9216, 1996 US 

Dist Lexis 13908, *10, so the plaintiff has to allege he detrimentally relied on the mail or wire 

communications, Metromedia Co. v. Fugazy, 983 F.2d 350, 368 (2d Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 508 

U.S. 952, 124 L.Ed.2d 662, 113 S.Ct. 2445 (1993).   The Enterprise movants failed to include 

this fourth element, but the Court most likely will.  The Complaint’s story (as in news story—not 

the “imaginary tale of fantasy” used by the Enterprise movants) paints a bleak picture of how the 

Russian mafia suckered him.  He relied on numerous deceptions meant to further and protect the 

Russian mafia’s Scheme and lull him into believing what was not the truth.  (Complaint 200-05, 

218-19)  As such the Second Circuit’s reliance requirement is alleged.   

The plaintiff, however, argues that this reliance requirement is inappropriate for mail and 

wire fraud in the RICO context.  Although common law civil fraud requires reliance, liability 

under the civil RICO statute is based on criminal fraud, which under the federal statute does not 
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require reliance by anyone: it only requires that the defendant tried to deceive, whether he 

succeeded or not.  Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 24.  Since the federal criminal fraud 

statutes, such as mail and wire fraud, do not require reliance, “a literal reading of RICO—the 

presumptive choice of interpretation—[shows] nothing more than the criminal violation and 

resulting harm is required.”  Systems Management, Inc. v. Loiselle, 303 F.3d 100, 104 (1st Cir. 

2002).  “Reliance is doubtless the most obvious way in which fraud can cause harm, but it is not 

the only way….”  Id.  So to the extent, if it does, require reliance, the Court is applying a law in 

conflict with another circuit and the Supreme Court. 

Contrary to the Enterprise movants’ statement at Memorandum p 25-4, the Complaint 

never alleged intrastate wire communications in furtherance of the Scheme as a violation of the 

wire fraud statute.  In addition, the Enterprise movants also wrongly assumed that international 

wire communications are not covered by the wire fraud act.  (Memorandum p 25-4, p 26-2)  The 

act reaches communication via telephone, radio, television, microwave and the Internet, whether 

interstate or international, if the international communication touches the US, Wentz v US, 244 

F2d 172, 175 (9th Cir. 1957); US v. Goldberg, 830 F.2d 459, 468, n.1 (3d Cir. 1987)(dissenting 

opinion J. Sloviter).  The Complaint alleges wire communications between Enterprise movants in 

the US and member defendants overseas, so those international uses of the wire system 

obviously touched the US, perhaps foreign would have been a better word to use in the 

Complaint.  (Complaint 31, 227, 294, 295, 300, 301, 315, 493, 495, 497, 505, 507, 509, 532, 

534, 540, 541, 557, and 742)  

The Enterprise movants cite to McCoy v. Goldberg, 748 F.Supp. 146, 154 (SDNY 1990) 

for the presumption that wire communications between residents of New York are intrastate.  

That case is distinguishable from this action.  In McCoy, the complaint failed to allege interstate 
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communications, which is the jurisdictional prerequisite for wire fraud.  McCoy at 154.   The 

Complaint in this action specificity alleges interstate wire communications by movants, Mundy, 

Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning.  (Complaint 315, 488, 493, 495, 497, 505, 507, 509, 532, 557)  

Still, the Enterprise movants claim that this presumption of intrastate wire communication 

applies to communications among movants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning because “it 

is apparent [they] all reside in New York.”  (Memorandum p 26-3)  Apparent is not a fact, and 

there will not be any admissible facts until discovery.  The Complaint, however, does allege that 

Kuba, Mundy & Associates has an office in New Jersey and that movant Shipilina frequently 

travels.  (Complaint 222, 338, 417, 449)  In addition, Mundy, Petrovich and Henning were all 

served at work, but where they reside or were when they communicated by wire is within their 

knowledge, so the Complaint need not allege all the specifics the movants demand.  Berk v. 

Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.   

The Enterprise movants even try to apply their intrastate presumption to the threatening 

telephone calls (Complaint 282, 289, 318) made by Member Madison, a.k.a. Pierre, by claiming 

the calls are presumptively intrastate because this unknown defendant is listed in the Complaint 

as a “domestic” member of the Enterprise.  (Memorandum p 27-1)  It is obvious from the 

Complaint’s structure that “domestic” refers to the US, not New York.  First, domestic 

defendants include persons from Wisconsin and California while the residences of others are 

unknown.  Second the non-domestic defendants are divided up by country: Russia, Cyprus and 

Mexico.  Besides, Member Madison’s real name and location are unknown to the plaintiff, but if 

the Enterprise movants would like to provide such, then whether the threatening calls were 

intrastate or interstate might be quickly resolved.  But once again, that is really discovery, not 

pleading. 
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The Enterprise movants further object that the Complaint does not allege these 

threatening calls were interstate.  (Memorandum p 27-1)  The plaintiff thanks the Enterprise 

movants for pointing out this oversight and, if leave to amend is granted, the plaintiff will 

include allegations that the calls were interstate or foreign.     

On another alleged telephone call or calls where Mundy, Petrovich or Shipilina 

communicated with Enterprise movant Henning to arrange for threatening the plaintiff with a 

bogus arrest (Complaint 315), the movants argue that because the Complaint pleads in the 

alternative that the communication was by interstate or international means, it is somehow 

deficient.  (Memorandum p 26-3)  The federal rules, however, permit pleading in the alternative: 

“A party may set forth two or more statements of a claim … alternately or hypothetically, either 

in one count … or in separate counts ….”  Rule 8(e)(2).  Movants also wrongly claim that the 

allegation fails because it is made on information and belief.  Even fraudulent predicate acts can 

be pled on information and belief when the information, as here, is within the possession of the 

defendants.  DeVittorio v. Equidyne Extractive Indus., Inc., 822 F.2d 1242, 1248 (2d Cir. 1987). 

Another error made by the Enterprise movants is their assertion that each communication 

by mail or wire must contain a false or misleading statement.  With respect to the letter sent to 

the plaintiff by Enterprise movant Mundy (Complaint 240, 241) and the arrangements made by 

movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina to threaten Russian witnesses and bribe Russian 

officials (Complaint 294, 300), the Enterprise movants argue “[t]here is absolutely no 

identification of the specific statements which were purportedly false or misleading or the 

manner in which this letter was purportedly fraudulent.”  (Memorandum p 28-4, and similar 

statement at p 29-1concerning threats and bribes.)  The Court in Spira v. Nick, 876 F.Supp. 553, 

559 (SDNY 1995) disagrees: “The mailings [and telephone communications] that are elements 
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of the offense need not themselves contain false or misleading statements.”  In fact, a defendant 

“may have committed mail [wire] fraud even if [the defendant] never used the mails [wire].  

[Because] the offense consists of the foreseeable use of the mails [wire] by anyone in furtherance 

of a scheme.”  Id.  A plaintiff may, but need not, allege that a defendant made misrepresentations 

of fact.  Murr Plumbing, Inc. v. Scherer Brothers Financial, 48 F.3d 1066, 1069 n. 6 (8th Cir. 

1995).   

Since misrepresentations of fact are not necessary to the offense, it follows that no 

misrepresentations need be transmitted by mail or wire: even routine business communications in 

these media or one sent for legitimate business purposes may suffice so long as it assists in 

carrying out the scheme.  Atlas Pile Driving Co. v. DiCon Financial Co., 886 F.2d 986, 992 (8th 

Cir. 1989).  So even accepting the Enterprise movants spin that the Mundy letter threatening 

“difficult” divorce proceedings “merely represents communication between parties in connection 

with litigation” (Memorandum p 28-4), it still furthered the Scheme in violation of the mail fraud 

statute.  As for Enterprise movants’ Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina’s use of international 

facilities that touch the US to arrange for threats and bribery, those also do not require 

misrepresentations to violate the mail and wire fraud statutes.  Further, to the extent that the 

Enterprise movants other criminal conduct as alleged in the Complaint at 684-773, 778-783 used 

the mail, or interstate or foreign wire communications to advance or protect the Russian mafia’s 

Scheme, then those communications constitute mail or wire fraud. 

The Enterprise movants persist in their false proposition that Rule 9(b) applies to 

predicate acts when they say, “because the plaintiff alleges mail and wire fraud as predicate 

acts…” the allegations must be made with particularity.  (Memorandum p 28-2)  Rule 9(b) 

applies to mail and wire fraud pleadings, but not because mail and wire fraud are predicate acts, 
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but because they are fraudulent.  Rule 9(b) does not apply to predicate acts that are not in 

themselves fraudulent.  Spira v. Nick, 876 F.Supp. 553, 559-60.   

The Enterprise movants miss a number of important considerations in applying the 

particularity requirement to mail and wire fraud.  The flexibility provided by Rule 11(b)(3) 

allows pleadings based on evidence reasonably anticipated after further investigation or 

discovery, which relaxes the particularity requirements of Rule 9(b) where the RICO plaintiff 

lacks access to all facts necessary to detail a claim.  Rotella v. Wood, 528 U.S. 549, 560, 145 

L.Ed.2d 1047, 120 S.Ct. 1075 (2000).  The movants object that the Complaint provides no 

specific dates, times, places or particulars.  (Memorandum p 28-4, p 29-1, p 29-3)  But as Chief 

Judge Mukasey’s opinion in Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 38, 39, holds: a plaintiff 

need not plead dates, times and places with absolute precision, so long as the complaint gives fair 

notice and reasonable notice to defendants of the claim and the grounds upon which it is based.   

In addition, Rule 9(b) should be applied with flexibility, and the plaintiff does not have to 

plead issues that defendants may have concealed.  Rolo v. City Investing Co. Liquidating Trust, 

155 F.3d 644, 658 (3d Cir. 1998).   Most of the Complaint’s allegations of mail and wire fraud 

involve conduct within the knowledge of the Enterprise movants and other member defendants, 

except for Paulsen.  Criminal plans are not publicized, especially to the victim.  They are hatched 

in secret so as to conceal those involved.  Communications by electronic means concerning 

agreements and arrangements made in furtherance of the Scheme (Complaint 228, 234, 236, 243, 

245, 254, 265, 273, 275, 293, 294, 298, 300, 306, 307, 308, 315) will cut across state or foreign 

borders in this age of email, the international reach of the Russian mafia (Complaint 1), movant 

Shipilina’s frequent travels to Russia and Cyprus (Complaint 449), and the interstate nature of 

Enterprise movant Kuba, Mundy & Associates (Complaint 222) while mailings using the US 
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Post need not cross any borders.  “As to the above uses of the mails and wires, the plaintiff [is] 

surely correct that a court cannot reasonably expect highly specific allegations before allowing 

…. [a] discovery period.  The facts that would have to be alleged are known to the defendants, 

but the plaintiff [has] not yet had a chance to find them out.  (This is especially true of telephone 

calls, which may leave little or no paper trail.)  Where a plaintiff is not a party to a 

communication, particularity in pleading may become impractical.”  Abels v. Farmers 

Commodities Corp., 259 F.3d 910, 921 (8th Cir. 2001). 

As for the threatening telephone calls received by the plaintiff, his caller identification 

service did not reveal where the calls came from (Complaint 282, 289, 318).  In addition, the 

plaintiff cannot realistically know without discovery how the Enterprise movants reached their 

agreements or made their arrangements to threaten the plaintiff with physical harm (Complaint 

280, 281, 287, 288, 316, 317) in order to keep him from exposing the Russian mafia’s Scheme.    

The Complaint provides details on other communications to which the plaintiff was a 

party.  International telephone calls that touched the US and mail delivered by the US Postal 

Service were used by Enterprise movant Shipilina to further the Russian mafia’s Scheme and lull 

the plaintiff so as to protect that Scheme.  (Complaint 201-205, 218-19, 227)  If the Enterprise 

movants would like the plaintiff’s contemporaneous notes as to the telephone calls and copies of 

the mail, he will provide them on request, but there is no requirement that these documents be 

attached to the Complaint, since their production really involves discovery. 

In their Memorandum at p 27-2, the Enterprise movants confuse violations of the mail 

and wire fraud acts, which fall within Rule 9(b) pleading standards, with violations of 18 USC 

1952: Interstate and foreign travel or transportation in aid of a racketeering enterprise (Complaint 

495, 497, 507, 509, 519, 532, 534, 540, 541), and 18 USC 1956: money laundering (Complaint 
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496, 498, 508, 510, 533, 535, 536, 538, 539).  The predicate acts of interstate and foreign travel 

or transportation in aid of a racketeering enterprise and money laundering do not require Rule 

9(b) particularity pleading, since they are non-fraudulent.  On those occasions when Enterprise 

movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina used or caused to be used the mail or wire in order to 

further the Scheme by travel or transportation in aid of the Russian mafia or laundering money, 

they then also violated the mail and wire fraud statutes.  So the actual mail or wire 

communication part of the conduct, not the travel or transportation in aid or money laundering, 

needs to be pled with particularity.  The communication conduct, however, is within their 

knowledge, so Rule 9(b) is read permissively.  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.   The 

Court, of course, could also grant limited discovery on the communication conduct involved in 

aiding the Russian mafia and laundering money.    

In their Memorandum at p 29-2 the Enterprise movants misstate the Complaint’s 

allegations to fit their argument, reminiscent of the newspaper reporting motto, “Don’t let the 

facts get in the way of a good story,” only here, it’s don’t let the allegations get in the way of a 

dissembling argument.  The Enterprise movants say the Complaint at 294 “alleges that Mundy 

and Petrovich [and Shipilina] used the international telephone system to threaten witnesses [in 

Russia]….”  (Memorandum p 29-2)  Not accurate.  The Complaint at 294 alleges they 

“arrange[d]” for the threatening of witnesses in Krasnodar, Russia—not that they did the 

threatening.  A big difference, since making the arrangements required using the international 

telephone system from America to overseas while the threats themselves did not.  The threats 

were most likely made internally within Russia.   

The Memorandum at p 29-3 objects that the Complaint did not identify the witnesses 

threatened or the nature of the threats.  The plaintiff knows which witnesses in Krasnodar were 
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threatened and the manner of the threats, but since those communications were made in 

Krasnodar, they do not fall under the wire fraud statute.  It is the communications used by 

movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina in arranging the threats that are alleged to violate the 

wire fraud statute—not the telephone calls and in person threats made by Russian goons on 

witnesses in Krasnodar.  (Complaint 293, 297)   

The Enterprise movants repeat their misstatement of the law on using “information and 

belief” to plead fraud under Rule 9(b) when they claim the plaintiff’s allegations are deficient 

because some are based “only upon information and belief.”  (Memorandum p 30-2)  Pleading 

mail and wire fraud on information and belief is permissible where the facts are peculiarly within 

the knowledge of the defendants.  Gitterman v. Vitoulis, 564 F.Supp. 46, 50 (SDNY 1982).  The 

mere fact that the plaintiff, in a complaint alleging fraud, had pleaded certain matters on 

information and belief was an insufficient basis for dismissal.  Kamerman v. Steinberg, 113 

F.R.D. 511, 513 (SDNY 1986). 

In their claim that the Complaint is “sadly deficient on all fronts” (Memorandum p 30-2) 

the Enterprise movants ignore that Rule 8(f) provides “all pleadings shall be so construed as to 

do substantial justice.”  It is inappropriate to focus exclusively, as the Enterprise movants do, on 

the fact that Rule 9(b) requires particularity in pleading fraud.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & 

Proc.: Civil 2d 1298, p 621.  If the Complaint has not alleged mail and wire fraud with the 

desired degree of particularity, that defect should not be fatal in light of Rule 8(f).  Levenson v. 

B. & M. Furniture Co., 120 F.2d 1009, 1009(2d Cir. 1941).  “Fraud is a matter of such indefinite 

character that, ordinarily, a charge of it should not be stricken from a pleading unless it is clear 

that, under no circumstances, could proof, conforming to the strict requirements provided for 

fraud charges, be introduced under the pleadings, which would probably convince the trier of 
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fact that fraud had in fact been perpetrated.”  Massey-Ferguson, Inc. v. Bent Equip. Co., 283 

F.2d 12, 15 (5th Cir. 1960).  As the Supreme Court said in Glus v. Brooklyn Eastern District 

Terminal, 359 U.S. 231, 235, 3 L.Ed.2d 770, 79 S.Ct. 760 (1959), “It may well be that 

petitioner’s complaint as now drawn is too vague, but that is no ground for dismissing his 

action…. His allegations are sufficient for the present.  Whether petitioner can in fact make out a 

case … must await trial.” 

If the Court, however, decides to dismiss the mail and wire fraud claims because Rule 

9(b) is not satisfied, then the plaintiff requests leave to amend the Complaint, since “[a]n 

insufficient allegation of fraud … is subject to the liberal amendment provisions of Rule 15, 

Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1300, p 661, and leave to amend should be freely 

granted when dismissal is based on Rule 9(b), Koehler v. Bank of Bermuda, 209 F.3d 130, 138 

(2d Cir. 2000).   

 

(dd) Bribery 

The Enterprise movants wrongly claim that pleading the non-fraudulent predicate act of 

bribery, 18 USC 201, (Complaint 254, 255, 323, 499, 511, 517, 523) requires Rule 9(b) 

particularity.  (Memorandum p 30-3)  Only predicate acts involving fraud, such as wire and mail 

fraud, require Rule 9(b) particularity, not predicate acts like bribery.  Abels v. Farmers 

Commodities Corp., 259 F.3d 910, 919 (8th Cir. 2001).  If the Court decides to apply Rule 9(b) to 

bribery, the specifics are within the knowledge of movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina; 

therefore, Rule 9(b) should be read permissively.  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.    

The “bribery” section of the Enterprise movants’ Memorandum also confuses the 

predicate act of bribery under 18 USC 201 with the predicate act of interstate and foreign travel 



 71

or transportation in aid of racketeering enterprises, 18 USC 1952.  Bribery requires paying off a 

US government official or employee.  Russian public officials are not US employees, so bribing 

them does not violate 18 USC 201.   However, using international facilities that touch the US in 

order to bribe Russian officials to prevent the exposure of Russian mafia activities of prostitution 

and narcotics trafficking constitutes aiding a racketeering enterprise, 18 USC 1952.  (Complaint 

298-302) 

Aiding a racketeering enterprise is a non-fraudulent predicate act, so only the general 

notice pleading requirements of Rule 8 applies.  See Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 48.  But in 

case the Court decides to apply Rule 9(b) to aiding a racketeering enterprise, the specifics of 

which international facilities were used, when and where the bribe was paid and who paid it are 

within the knowledge of movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina; therefore, Rule 9(b) should be 

read permissively.  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.   And contrary to the Enterprise 

movants claims of a paucity of details, the Complaint does allege the Russian officials who 

received the bribes, the time frame and the approximate amount.  (Complaint 302, 303) 

The alleged conduct of Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina in bribing 

movant Henning did not violate the federal bribery statute because Henning is not a federal 

employee.  Their conduct did, however, violate the predict act of tampering with a witness, 

victim or informant, 18 USC 1512(b), by corruptly persuading movant Henning to threaten the 

plaintiff with arrest on a phony charge.  (Complaint 306-07, 492, 504, 530)  At the time of 

Henning’s threat on March 27, 2001, there was an ongoing INS investigation although it had not 

reached the level of a case, which is referred to an INS judge.  The predicate act of tampering is a 

non-fraudulent crime, so only the general notice pleading requirements of Rule 8 applies.  See 

Conley, 355 U.S. at 48.  But if the Court decides to apply Rule 9(b) to tampering by corruptly 
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persuading, the specifics as to when, where, how the bribes were paid or who witnessed such are 

peculiarly within the knowledge of movants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning; therefore, 

Rule 9(b) should be read permissively.  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.    

There is nothing wrong with pleading on information and belief the predicate acts of 

bribery, aiding a racketeering enterprise or tampering.  See Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: 

2d Civ. 1224, p 205.  And if the Court does consider these predicate acts fraudulent, they can still 

be pled on information and belief because they are peculiarly within the opposing parties’ 

knowledge.  Luce v. Edelstein, 802 F.2d 49, 54 n.1 (2d Cir. 1986). 

Beyond trying to have Rule 9(b) apply to non-fraudulent predicate acts, the Enterprise 

movants once again object to the Complaint because “[t]here is no proof” or “fails to identify a 

single document, statement or fact” (Memorandum p 31-1), “fails to offer any proof” 

(Memorandum p 31-2), “fails to identify a single document, statement or fact … to show” or 

“cannot offer any proof” (Memorandum p 32-1).  The plaintiff must not be put to the test to 

prove his allegations at the pleading stage.  NOW, Inc v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256, 127 

L.Ed.2d 99, 114 S.Ct. 798 (1994). 

Lastly, Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning object that their 

non-predicate criminal acts relating to bribery (Complaint 717, 719, 733, 735, 759, 761, 779) are 

“merely repetitive” of the alleged predicate acts (Memorandum p 32, n 19).  Once again, that is 

not fully true.  The underlying conduct of bribing Police Detective Henning violates New York 

Penal Code 200 or 200.20 (Complaint 719, 735, 761, 779), but it is not a predicate act.  The 

bribing of Russian officials (Complaint 298-302), on the other hand, constitutes the predicate act 

of aiding a racketeering enterprise, 18 USC 1952, (Complaint 495, 507, 532) and also violates 
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the foreign corrupt practices act, 15 USC 78dd-2, which is a non-predicate act (Complaint 717, 

733, 759). 

 

(ee) Money laundering 

The Complaint at 293, 295, 296, 297, 298, 299, 301, 302 alleges Enterprise movants 

Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina’s joint involvement in the transfer of funds from illegal Russian 

mafia activities to Russia in order to bribe Russian officials and pay gangsters to threaten 

witnesses. The Complaint at 321, 335, 446-50 makes additional allegations of movant Shipilina 

laundering money.   

The Enterprise movants Memorandum at p 33-3 mistakenly includes the allegation of 

aiding a racketeering enterprise by arranging for the threatening of witnesses (Complaint 294) 

and aiding a racketeering enterprise by arranging for bribing Russian officials (Complaint 300) 

as money laundering on the part of movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina.  These two 

allegations are violations of 18 USC 1952, aiding a racketeering enterprise.  In addition, the 

Enterprise movants wrongly attribute the bribery allegations of New York City INS agents 

(Complaint 254, 253) as involving money laundering.  They do not.   

The Enterprise movants, once again, err in applying Rule 9(b) particularity to the 

predicate act of money laundering, 18 USC 1956.  (Memorandum p 32-3)  The Supreme Court 

has declined to extend beyond fraud or mistake the Rule 9(b) requirement of greater particularity 

in allegations.  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 513.  Money laundering is a non-

fraudulent predicate act; therefore, the general notice pleading requirements of Rule 8 apply.  See 

Conley, 355 U.S. at 48.   
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If the Court does decide to apply Rule 9(b) to money laundering, the details of the 

conduct are largely within the knowledge of movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina, so Rule 

9(b) should be read permissively.  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.  And, contrary to 

the Enterprise movants claims of a paucity of details, the Complaint does allege the funds from 

Russian mafia activities were sent from America to Russia, on or about March 2002 and in the 

amount of over $10,000.  (Complaint 293, 295, 296, 297, 298, 299, 301, 302) 

The Enterprise movants also object that the allegations of money laundering are made on 

information and belief.  Money laundering is a non-fraudulent predicate act, so it can be pled on 

information and belief.  See Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: 2d Civ. 1224, p 205.  If the 

Court does consider money laundering fraudulent, it can still be pled on information and belief 

because the conduct is peculiarly within the opposing parties’ knowledge.  Luce v. Edelstein, 

802 F.2d 49, 54 n.1 (2d Cir. 1986). 

Beyond trying to have Rule 9(b) apply to the non-fraudulent predicate act of money 

laundering, the Enterprise movants once again object to the Complaint because it “fails to 

identify a single document, statement or fact” (Memorandum p 32-3), “fails to demonstrate” 

(Memorandum p 33-1), fails to offer “proof” (Memorandum p 33-3).  The function of pleadings 

is not to provide proof and evidence.  Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 500-01. 

 

(ff) Other predicate acts 

 The Enterprise movants ignored other non-fraudulent predicate acts alleged against them.  

FlashDancers:  failure to report to the INS alien prostitutes employed by them, 18 USC 2424 

(Complaint 469); importing, selling and distributing pornography, 18 USC 1462 & 1465 

(Complaint 470); acquiring and dispensing narcotics, 21 USC 841, 952 (Complaint 476). 
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Mundy and Petrovich:  aiding a racketeering enterprise, 18 USC 1952 (Complaint 497, 507). 

Shipilina:  murder-for-hire, 18 USC 1958 (Complaint 518); aiding a racketeering enterprise, 18 

USC 1952 (Complaint 519, 532, 534, 540, 541); importing, selling and distributing pornography, 

18 USC 1462 & 1465 (Complaint 525); importing and dispensing narcotics, 21 USC 841, 952 

(Complaint 526-28); obstruction of a criminal investigation, 18 USC 1510 (Complaint 529); 

failure to file monetary transfer reports, 31 USC 5316 (Complaint 537). 

Paulsen:  importing, selling and distributing pornography, 18 USC 1462 & 1465 (Complaint 

544-45) 

None of the above predicate acts are required to be pled with particularity under Rule 

9(b). The Supreme Court has declined to extend beyond fraud or mistake the Rule 9(b) 

requirement of greater particularity in allegations.  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 

513.   

 There is one allegation involving fraud by FlashDancers that has not been addressed.  

FlashDancers concealed from the New York State Liquor Authority the prostitution activities 

conducted at the club and misrepresented on its 1996 license application that the only type of 

business conducted at the club was dancing and only Enterprise movant Lepofsky held an 

interest in the club.  (Complaint 437-39)  These allegations meet the particularity requirement of 

Rule 9(b). 

The Enterprise movants’ strategy in Section B of their Memorandum to falsely paint all 

the allegations of predicate acts as requiring Rule 9(b) particularity is obvious and mistaken.  

Only fraudulent predicate acts require particularity in pleading.  Subtler, however, is the reason 

for this mistaken application of Rule 9(b).  The movants apparently hope to exploit Rule 9(b)’s 
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subjective standard that is often used by some courts, which disfavor civil Rico suits, to dismiss 

them.   

To the extent, if any, that the Complaint does not meet the pleading standard of 

particularity, the plaintiff requests leave to amend the Complaint. 

 

C. Pattern 

The Supreme Court requires the plaintiff allege a pattern—not prove, nor be required to 

meet some higher standard that the Enterprise movants try to assert with various adverbs 

preceding the word “allege” or “plead.”  See Sedima, 473 U.S. 479, 496; Hickman v. Taylor, 329 

U.S. 495, 500-01.    

The Enterprise movants continue their mistaken tactic of demanding proof from a 

complaint—this time, proof of a pattern.  Their litany of words, all criticizing the lack of proof or 

evidence, include the Complaint fails to “establish” (Memorandum p 34-3, p 36-3), “failed to 

sufficiently establish” (Memorandum p 38-3), fails to “make a showing” (Memorandum p 35-2), 

“[w]ithout a showing” (Memorandum p 39-3) “must prove” (Memorandum p 35-4), “instead of 

simply proving” (Memorandum p 39-2), “there has been no demonstration” (Memorandum p 36-

3), must “demonstrate” (Memorandum p 38-3, p 39-2), “not one iota of evidence” 

(Memorandum p 39-2).  However, “[i]t is a familiar rule of pleading … that evidence by which 

an allegation is sought to be established need not be pleaded.  … Such matters [of evidence] … 

are for proof and we doubt the propriety, much less the necessity of their allegation.”  Cater 

Constr. Co. v. Nischwitz, 111 F.2d 971, 973 (7th Cir. 1940).   

They also demand something akin to Rule 9(b) particularity: “plead [with] sufficiency” 

(Memorandum p 36-3), cannot be “devoid of any specific allegation” (Memorandum p 39-2).  
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All that the federal rules require in pleading non-fraudulent conduct is that a party should set 

forth the averments in general terms.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1281, p 519.  

Furthermore, pleading a RICO pattern does not fall within Rule 9(b) particularity requirements.  

Abels v. Farmers Commodities Corp., 259 F.3d 910, 919 (8th Cir. 2001). 

The Enterprise movants even claim the Complaint makes “broad and sweeping 

conclusions such as on information and belief ….” (Memorandum p 39-2) while in the same 

paragraph they make the broad and sweeping conclusion that “the complaint is totally devoid of 

any specific allegation” and the allegations are only the plaintiff’s opinion and legal conclusions.   

Rule 11 permits a pleader, after reasonable inquiry, to set forth allegations that are likely to have 

evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery.  

Moore’s Fed. Prac. ¶8.04[4].  The liberal notice pleading of Rule 8(a) is the starting point of a 

simplified pleading system, which was adopted to focus litigation on the merits of the claim.  See 

Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 48.  Further, “conclusions” aren’t allegations; they are reached 

by inference from evidentiary facts.  There are no evidentiary facts in this case yet, because there 

has been no discovery.  Once again, the Enterprise movants seem to be arguing that the plaintiff 

should have conducted discovery before serving the Complaint—not exactly federal civil 

procedure, or that the Court should apply a summary judgment standard to a motion to dismiss.   

 

The requirements for a pattern under RICO starts with 18 USC 3575(e): “Criminal 

conduct forms a pattern if it embraces criminal acts that have the same or similar purposes, 

results, participants, victims or methods of commission, or otherwise are interrelated by 

distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated events.”   Sedima, 473 U.S. 479, 496, n. 14.  

This has come to be the relatedness requirement for a RICO pattern, and can be thought of as 



 78

similar means to reach similar ends and similar violators preying on similar victims.  In addition 

to relatedness, a pattern of racketeering activity must also have continuity, which can be closed 

or open.  It is relatedness plus continuity that combines to produce a pattern of racketeering 

activity.  H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Co., 492 US 229, 239, 106 L.Ed.2d 195, 109 

S.Ct. 2893 (1989).  The Enterprise movants object to the Complaint for not “showing” either 

close-ended or open-ended continuity.  (Memorandum p 35-2)  Once again, a complaint is not 

required to “show”; that is “to prove.”  It must allege a pattern, which the Complaint does at 875-

885. 

The Enterprise movants do not object to the Complaint on relatedness grounds, but the 

Court may.  The Complaint alleges criminal activity by the Russian mafia of which the 

Enterprise movants are members who personally engage in various illegal acts under the Russian 

mafia banner.  (Complaint 1, 15, 16-23, 27-39, 47, 466-547, 556-559)  The Enterprise movants 

are alleged not to be separate and distinct from the Russian mafia but part of it: diligently 

working to achieve its ends and reap its benefits, as would any member of a large organization.  

The Enterprise movants, as with the other defendant members of the Russian mafia—similar 

participants—are alleged to work together for its success by using predicate acts—similar 

methods—in order to assure the effectiveness of concurrent or successive predicate and non-

predicate criminal acts.  (Complaint 879)  Often a number of different crimes are necessary for 

contributing to the successful operation of the Russian mafia and its Scheme—similar results.  

(Complaint 879) 

For example, the flow of Enterprise human capital from the former Soviet Union often 

requires a combination of visa fraud, bribery, perjury, mail and wire fraud, and travel in aid of a 

racketeering enterprise in order to bring Russian managers, pimps and prostitutes to the U.S.  
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(Complaint 880)  In addition, the drive to maximize profits and minimize expenses of the 

Russian mafia results in repeated tax evasion that requires money laundering and exporting 

revenues out of the U.S. without reporting so as to disguise the ownership and source of the 

revenues.  (Complaint 881)  Also, in order to protect valuable members threatened with 

exposure, the Enterprise members engage in criminal acts such as tampering with witnesses, 

unlawful imprisonment, reckless endangerment, coercion, intimidation, official misconduct and 

menacing.  (Complaint 882) 

The Russian mafia’s Scheme of continued expansion into hard currency markets targets 

similar victims—American men looking for Russian wives and companions, and is carried out 

for similar purposes—to defraud the men into bringing a mob manager or prostitute to America 

in circumvention of U.S. immigration laws.  (Complaint 883)  The Russian mafia’s predicate 

acts—similar methods—used in expanding and conducting its U.S. operations enable it to target 

thousands of additional consumers—similar victims—for sexual services with the similar result 

of dramatically increasing the health risks, such as exposure to AIDS, to those consumers and 

their partners  (Complaint 885) while making huge profits.  The Russian mafia’s predicate acts in 

expanding and conducting its operations also bode ill for many legitimate entertainment 

companies—similar victims—by unfairly competing for entertainment dollars that would 

otherwise flow to the investors and employees of legitimate businesses in the leisure industry—

similar results. 

While none of the Enterprise movants individually engage in all the predicate acts 

alleged, that is not what relatedness requires.  The importance is some “organizing principle that 

renders [the predicate acts] ‘ordered’ or ‘arranged’.  H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone 
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Co., 492 US 229, 237.  In this case, the organizing principles are the Russian mafia’s Scheme 

and its members’ greed. 

Continuity exists when ongoing unlawful activities have a scope and persistence that pose 

a special threat to social well-being.  GE Investment Private Placement Partners II v. Parker 

MLP, 247 F.3d 543, 549 (4th Cir. 2001).  The Complaint’s allegations concerning “relatedness” 

also aver a threat to the social fabric of this society. 

 

(i) Closed continuity 

The Enterprise movants wrongly state: “In determining the duration of a pattern of 

racketeering activity, Courts focus solely on the predicate acts of racketeering each defendant is 

alleged to have committed.”  (Memorandum p 36-2)  They cite De Falco v. Bernas, 244 F.3d 

286, 321 (2d Cir. 2001) for support, but that is not what De Falco held.  The De Falco Court did 

not look at the acts of each individual defendant in isolation, but at all the defendants together in 

determining duration.  The De Falco Court said, “[t]he duration of a pattern of racketeering is 

measured by the RICO predicate acts the defendants [plural]commit.”  De Falco at 321.  The 

Enterprise movants quote out of context from De Falco, “Closed-ended continuity is 

demonstrated by predicate acts that ‘amount to continued criminal activity’ by a particular 

defendant.” De Falco at 321.  The reference “particular defendant” meant all the defendants 

taken together, not in isolation.  The Supreme Court said in H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell 

Telephone Co., 492 US 229, 242, the “continuity test looks to the period during which predicate 

acts were committed,” and “continuity may be established by showing that the predicate acts or 

offenses are part of an ongoing entity’s regular way of doing business.”  The focus for 

determining duration under the continuity requirement is on the acts all the defendants 
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committed on behalf of the criminal entity, not on each defendant’s conduct viewed in isolation 

from other members of the enterprise.  The whole purpose of enacting RICO was to reach 

criminal organizations.  Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494, 496. 

Closed continuity requires that the alleged predicate acts occur over a substantial period 

of time, which for the Second Circuit appears to be two or more years.  De Falco at 321.  In order 

to come up with a time span of less than two years, the Enterprise movants argue that in 

determining closed continuity the Court should look only at the alleged predicate acts by each 

movant and defendant in isolation.  The implication of this analysis would make a joke of RICO.  

Here’s why.  If defendant X is alleged to have done two bad deeds within one year of each other, 

and defendant Y, a fellow gang member of X’s, is alleged to have done two bad things over the 

period of one week but a year and a half after the last alleged bad deed of X, then there is no 

closed continuity even though X and Y belong to the same gang and are pursuing the same end.  

The reason, as the Enterprise movants argue, is that X’s acts were not over two years and Y’s act 

were only over a week, so neither did bad deeds spanning two years.  Nice piece of sophistry, but 

it would eliminate the entire purpose of RICO, which is to take down continuing criminal 

organizations.  Of course, if X and Y’s bad acts are taken together as the gang’s conduct, they 

occurred over 2.5 years, which is long enough for the Second Circuit and what the Supreme 

Court requires as “a series of related predicates” over a substantial period of time.  H.J. Inc. v. 

Northwestern Bell Telephone Co., 492 US 229, 242.   

The Enterprise movants focus only on their individual predicate acts without addressing, 

as the Complaint makes clear, that their alleged acts, along with those of other defendants, are 

part of “a series of related predicates.”  (Complaint 878-885)  The series of predicate acts aimed 

at the plaintiff began in 1999 when Enterprise movant Shipilina and Member Perlin are alleged 
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to have targeted the plaintiff as part of the Russian mafia’s Scheme to infiltrate and expand its 

operations in the US.  (Complaint 135, 136)   The most recent predicate act of which the plaintiff 

is aware is the threatening telephone call in June 2003 that warned him to stay out of Krasnodar.  

The acts against the plaintiff are all part, although a tiny part, of keeping the Russian mafia’s 

Scheme on track, which began soon after the fall of the Soviet Union.  (Complaint 10, 13) 

 

(ii) Open continuity 

Open continuity means there exists a threat of continuing racketeering activity, such as 

when the nature of an enterprise’s activities project into the future.  H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern 

Bell Telephone Co., 492 US 229, 242.  The threat of continued racketeering activity may be 

established by showing—or in the case of a pleading by alleging—that the predicate acts or 

offenses are part of the ongoing entity’s regular way of doing business.  H.J. Inc. at 242.   

The Complaint at 876-885 alleges the Enterprise, the Russian mafia, continues to do 

predicate acts again and again which it has done in the past to others.  The Russian mafia uses a 

complex, intertwined web of predicate acts to maintain and continue expanding its activities in 

an insatiable drive for new targets and more money.  (Complaint 879, 884)  And as alleged in the 

Complaint at 2, 13, the Russian mafia’s Scheme is aimed at infiltrating and expanding illegal and 

ancillary legal activities into hard currency markets, especially the US, for the personal 

enrichment of the members of the Enterprise.  The Russian mafia’s conduct and goal are not a 

“discrete and relatively short lived scheme” that will end any time soon, as the Enterprise 

movants claim.  (Memorandum p 39-1)   It is a scheme that has harmed others and will continue 

to do so because it richly rewards members of the Russian mob and there are still plenty of 

potential American targets. 
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Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich mistake themselves as the Enterprise in 

this action—they are not.   The Enterprise, or Russian mafia, is defined as consisting of domestic 

and foreign corporations, partnerships, individuals, government officials, law firms, organized 

crime gangs (including American, Russian and Chechen) and an Islamic terrorist and crime clan. 

(Complaint 11)  Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich are alleged members of the 

Enterprise, the Russian mafia.  “[T]he threat of continuity is sufficiently established where the 

predicates can be attributed to defendant[s] operating as part of a long-term association that 

exists for criminal purposes.”  H.J. Inc. at 242-43.  “Such associations include, but extend well 

beyond, those traditionally grouped under the phrase ‘organized crime.’”  Id. at 243.  The 

Russian mafia is just such an organization, and the Enterprise movants along with other 

defendants are alleged as members engaged in predicate acts to further its Scheme.  (Complaint 

876, 877) 

The Enterprise movants have engaged in predicate acts against the plaintiff for nearly 

four years.  Just five weeks after the Enterprise movants were mailed on April 20, 2003 by first 

class US post the Complaint and wavier of summons request, the plaintiff received another 

threatening telephone call—this time from a thuggish-sounding man speaking in Russian.  (June 

19, 2003 letter to the Court)  The threat was clear, if the plaintiff returned to Krasnodar, Russia 

to continue gathering evidence against the Russian mafia defendants in this federal action, then, 

it was going to be bad for him.  This was not only a dramatic increase in the level of threat—

since it is well known in Russia that a gang leaves enforcement to their foreign associates unless 

it is ineffectual, then the Russians ruthlessly intervene—but also makes clear that the Enterprise 

movants and other defendants are not through with the plaintiff yet.  Nor is the Russian mafia 

through with America yet or about to withdraw any time soon.  Even the Enterprise movants’ 



 84

Memorandum at p 3-1 admits Mundy’s continuing efforts to obtain one of the Russian mafia’s 

assets, Shipilina, permanent residency and citizenship despite her violation of immigration laws 

(Complaint 191-93) and committing a felony by claiming US citizenship in registering to vote 

(Complaint 459, 744).   

The Enterprise movants argue that because the Complaint “has never been amended” and 

describes only “past criminal acts” that there is no threat of future criminal acts by the Russian 

mafia.  (Memorandum p 38-4 to p 39-1)  By this Orwellian reasoning, a plaintiff would not only 

have to continually amend his complaint, but conduct an ongoing investigation at his own 

expense that would expose subsequent predicate acts while a case was pending and before it 

reached discovery.  Under such a requirement, defendants would have been forewarned by a 

complaint and might be smart enough to lay low until the heat blew over, which would make it 

virtually impossible for a plaintiff to ever amend his complaint with additional predicate acts.  

Moreover, whenever a plaintiff did amend his complaint, it would be to describe predicate acts 

that had already taken place and, unlike in quantum mechanics, the past is not the future, so there 

could never be a threat of future RICO violations because all the predicate acts in every amended 

complaint occurred in the past.  Discovery, along with the RICO statute, would disappear into a 

black hole. 

 

The Complaint should not be dismissed for failing to plead closed or open continuity.  

The Supreme Court in H.J. Inc. reversed a district court’s grant of dismissal because the plaintiff 

may be able to prove, consistent with the complaint’s allegations, that the multiple predicate acts 

alleged constitute a pattern of racketeering activity that satisfies closed continuity.  H.J. Inc. at 

250.  In the same case, the Supreme Court also held that a threat of continuing predicate acts 
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might be established at trial by showing that the acts were the enterprise’s regular way of doing 

business, or a regular way of conducting or participating in the conduct of the alleged and 

ongoing RICO enterprise.   H.J. Inc. at 250.  The Supreme Court’s decision in H.J. Inc. applies 

her as well. 

 

D.  Under civil RICO, a “racketeering injury” need not be alleged for a violation of 18 USC 

1962(c), but what about violations of 18 USC 1962(a) & (b)?  

To begin, the Enterprise movants once again try to create a stricter standard for pleading 

than required under the law.  In the title to their section D (Memorandum p 39) and the text in 

D(i) (Memorandum p 40-3) they assert the Complaint must “establish”; that is prove, the 

elements of 18 USC 1962(a).  That is incorrect; the Complaint need only allege.  See 

Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 512.  As for the pleading standard for the elements 

of a 1962(b) violation, the Enterprise movants in section D(ii) say the Complaint’s allegations 

are “insufficient”.  (Memorandum p 41-3)  They don’t mention the standard they are using to 

measure “insufficiency”.  Perhaps it is their ubiquitous version of Rule 9(b), but that rule only 

applies to predicate acts of fraud, not 1962(a) & (b).  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 

513.   

 

The main issue in this section, however, is whether a complaint must allege a 

“racketeering injury.”  The Second Circuit has narrowly interpreted the Supreme Court decision 

in Sedima by requiring that a private citizen using civil RICO, 18 USC 1964(c), must allege 

damages from some nebulous “racketeering injury” in order to survive dismissal of his complaint 

for failing to aver 18 USC 1962(a) & (b) injuries.   
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RICO 1962(a) says money from a pattern of racketeering activities cannot be used to get 

a stake in, set up or operate an enterprise, and 1962(b) that racketeering activities themselves 

cannot be used to get or keep a stake in an enterprise.  The Enterprise movants refer to the 

elusive “racketeering injury” requirement as a “use” or “investment injury” for 1962(a) 

(Memorandum p 40-2) and “acquisition” or “maintenance” injury for 1962(b) (Memorandum p 

41-2).  The Supreme Court in Sedima criticized as “unhelpfully tautological” the Second 

Circuit’s attempt to define the “racketeering injury” requirement.  Sedima, 473 U.S. 479, 494.  

“The evident difficulty in discerning just what the racketeering injury requirement consists of 

would make it rather hard to apply in practice or explain to a jury.”  Sedima at 494 n. 12.  The 

Supreme Court in H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Co., 492 US 229, 236, reiterated, “In 

Sedima … this Court rejected a restrictive interpretation of 1964(c) that would have made it a 

condition for maintaining a civil RICO action … that plaintiff show a special racketeering 

injury.”  And again in Holmes v. Sec. Investor Prot. Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 270, n.15, 117 L.Ed.2d 

532, 112 S.Ct. 1311 (1992), the concept of an “antitrust injury” has no analogue in the RICO 

setting as requiring a “racketeering injury.”    

The plaintiff in Sedima brought a civil RICO action under 18 USC 1964(c), alleging 

violations of the substantive RICO section 18 USC 1962(c), which prohibits using racketeering 

activities to run an enterprise.  The Supreme Court stated:  

“Section 1964(c) authorizes a private suit by ‘[a]ny person injured in his business or 

property by reason of a violation of 1962.’  Section 1962 in turn makes it unlawful for 

‘any person’—not just mobsters—to use money derived from a pattern of racketeering 

activity to invest in an enterprise, to acquire control of an enterprise through a pattern of 

racketeering activity, or to conduct an enterprise through a pattern of racketeering 
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activity.  1962(a)-(c).  If the defendant engages in a pattern of racketeering activity in a 

manner forbidden by these provisions [referring to 1962(a)-(c)], and the racketeering 

activities injure the plaintiff in his business or property, the plaintiff has a claim under 

1964(c).  There is no room in the statutory language for an additional, amorphous 

‘racketeering injury’ requirement.”  Sedima at 495.  

A straightforward reading of the Supreme Court’s opinion shows it did not restrict its 

arguments to 1962(c) alone. There is no room for an amorphous “racketeering injury” 

requirement in sections 1962(a) & (b) as well.  “Given that ‘racketeering activity’ consists no 

more and no less than the commission of a predicate act ….”, Sedima at 495, it follows there is 

no other conduct that can be described as a “racketeering injury.”  Therefore, any damages will 

flow from the commission of those predicate acts.  Sedima at 497.  “RICO is to ‘be liberally 

construed to effectuate its remedial purposes.’ Pub.L. 91-452, 904(a), 84 Stat. 947.  The statute’s 

‘remedial purposes’ are nowhere more evident than in the provision of a private action for those 

injured by racketeering activity.  Far from effectuating these purposes, [a] narrow reading … 

would in effect eliminate 1964(c) from the statute,” Sedima at 498, in actions alleging violations 

of 1962(a) & (b).  “In borrowing its ‘racketeering injury’ requirement from antitrust standing 

principles, the [Second Circuit] created exactly the problems Congress sought to avoid,” Sedima 

at 498-99: the creating of obstacles for a private litigant, especially when the litigant goes up 

against the archetypal, intimidating mob.  

The cases from the Second Circuit courts that the Enterprise movants rely on for 

requiring an injury separate and distinct from that caused by the predicate acts in 1962(a) & (b) 

are inconsistent with the Supreme Court and some other Circuits.  The Enterprise movants’ cases 

say the injury from a 1962(a) violation must come from the investment of money in an 
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enterprise, Update Traffic Systems, Inc v. Gould, 857 F.Supp. 274, 282 (EDNY 1994); NRB 

Indus., Inc. v. RA Taylor & Assoc., 1998 WL 3638 *1, and a 1962(b) violation, must come from 

the acquisition or maintenance of a stake in an enterprise, Medgar Evers Houses Tenants v. 

Medgar Evers Houses Assoc., 25 F.Supp.2d 116, 124 (SDNY 1998).  The Second Circuit 

considers these injuries as “racketeering injuries”, for which the Supreme Court finds there is no 

such requirement.   

The Supreme Court in Sedima essentially ruled against the Second Circuit’s efforts to 

create another way for dismissing civil RICO cases: “While we understand the court’s concern 

over the consequences of an unbridled reading of the statute, we reject both of its holdings.”  

Sedima at 481.  Other circuits have also rejected the unspecified “racketeering injury” element: 

Potomac Electric Power Co. v. Electric Motor Supply, Inc., 262 F.3d 260, 264 n. 2 (4th Cir. 

2001)(under 18 USC 1962(a), damages need not flow from the use or investment of racketeering 

income, only from the predicate acts); Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833, 837-38 (4th 

Cir. 1990) (In an action for violation of 1962(a), the plaintiff need only allege injury from the 

predicate acts); Haroco v. American National Bank & Trust Co. of Chicago, 747 F.2d 384, 395-

399 (7th Cir. 1984) (“[W]e reject the Second Circuit’s imposition of a racketeering injury 

requirement. Civil RICO plaintiffs need not allege injury beyond that caused by the predicate 

acts.”), aff’d, 473 U.S. 606, 87 L.Ed.2d 437, 105 S.Ct. 3291. 

 

D(i) Violations of 1962(a) and injury from the use or investment of racketeering income. 

 If the Court requires allegations of “racketeering injuries” for 18 USC 1962(a), the 

plaintiff argues the following: 
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RICO 1962(a) prohibits taking the money from a pattern of racketeering activities and 

using or investing it to acquire a stake in an enterprise, or set up an enterprise, or operate an 

enterprise.  Quaknine v. MacFarlane, 897 F.2d 75, 82 (2d Cir. 1990). 

The Enterprise movants misstate the Complaint and unjustifiably narrow the law’s 

requirements when they say, “[the] complaint fails to even allege that Mundy and Petrovich 

received racketeering income from the purported enterprise [Russian mafia] or used or invested 

[that] income … to acquire an interest in the alleged enterprise [Russian mafia].”  .  

(Memorandum p 40-3)  First, the Complaint alleges that Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and 

Petrovich engaged in predicate acts as members of the Russian mafia to acquire money to run the 

interstate law firm of Kuba, Mundy & Associates.  (Complaint 488, 500, 512)  Second, RICO 

1962(a) is violated not only when racketeering money is used to acquire an interest in an 

organization but also when it is used in the operation of that organization, whether the criminal 

enterprise or another organization, such as the Kuba, Mundy & Associates law firm.  Batista, 

Civil RICO, 2003 Cumulative Supplement, 4.41, p 133.  Kuba, Mundy & Associates is not the 

Russian mafia alleged in the Complaint at 1, 2.  It is, however, an organization—a law firm, that 

belongs to the Russian mafia and is alleged to use money from predicate acts to run its 

operations for the mob.  (Complaint 488)     

 As for Enterprise movants, FlashDancers they are alleged to use racketeering income to 

run the Flash Dancers Club, the Cybertech Network and other Russian mafia activities and to 

establish additional mob activities.  (Complaint 471, 474)  Enterprise movant Shipilina, doing 

business as Angelina, uses racketeering income to establish and operate Russian mafia activities, 

such as prostitution, drug trafficking and money laundering.  (Complaint 542, 519, 520, 521, 

526-28, 536-39)  Movant Paulsen, doing business as Wayne Williams, uses racketeering income 
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to set up and run Russian mafia pornography activities in Southern California.  (Complaint 546)  

Movant Henning is not alleged with violating 1962(a).  

 The money the above movants are alleged to reap from predicate acts has been used to 

injure the plaintiff.  In Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078, *35, Chief Judge Mukasey quoted 

from Quaknine v. MacFarlane, 897 F.2d 75, 83 (2d Cir. 1990),  “[b]ecause the conduct 

constituting a violation of 1962(a) is investment of racketeering income, a plaintiff must allege 

injury from the defendant’s investment of the racketeering income to recover under 1962(a).”  

Chief Judge Mukasey dismissed the 1962(a) cause of action because “the plaintiffs allege no 

such investment injury.”  Berk at *35.  Unlike Berk, the Complaint in this case does allege 

investment injury. 

The Complaint at 901 alleges the above movants used proceeds from racketeering 

activities to build a litigation war chest in order to fund fraudulent legal proceedings against the 

plaintiff and fraudulently defend against legitimate proceedings in order to whipsaw the plaintiff 

into submission.  (Complaint 901)  The District Court in Crowe v. Smith, 848 F.Supp. 1258, 

1265 (WD La 1994) found that allegations of defendants using assets from racketeering activities 

to fund a litigation war chest that was used for fraudulent legal proceedings constituted injury 

from the use or investment of racketeering income. 

In addition, the Complaint alleges at 902, 903 that racketeering funds were not used for 

the Enterprise’s general operations, as in Vista Co. v. Columbia Pictures Indus., Inc., 725 

F.Supp. 1286, 1299 (SDNY 1989), but for specific predicate acts directed against the plaintiff 

that caused him injury.  For example, racketeering income used to bribe public employees into 

subverting the proper administration of the law in America and Russia and to purchase the 



 91

intimidation of witnesses prevented the plaintiff from rectifying the harm done to his business by 

the Russian mafia.  (Complaint 902, 903)   

 

D(ii) Violations of 1962(b) and injury from acquiring or maintaining an interest or control. 

If the Court requires allegations of “racketeering injuries” for 18 USC 1962(b), the 

plaintiff argues the following: 

RICO 1962(b) “prohibits a person from acquiring or maintaining any interest in or 

control of any enterprise [organization] through a pattern of racketeering activities.”  Rakoff and 

Goldstein, RICO Civil and Criminal, 1.06[2].  “Interest” in 1962(b) includes “all property and 

interests, as broadly described, which are related to the violations” H.R.Rep. No. 1549, 91st 

Cong., 2d Sess. 57, reprinted in U.S. Code Cong. & Ad.News 4007 (1970).   

  The Enterprise movants condemn the Complaint’s use of the word “maintain’ in its 

allegations.  (Memorandum p 41-3)  Using words from a statute is one of the most effective ways 

to provide defendants notice of what they are alleged to have done wrong, which is the purpose 

of a complaint.  “Maintain” is not a difficult word to understand; it means to carry on.  The 

Complaint at 488, 500, 512 alleges that Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich engaged 

in a pattern of racketeering activity to carry on Kuba, Mundy & Associates as part of the Russian 

mafia.  FlashDancers is alleged to use predicate acts to keep control over part of the Russian 

mafia’s activities and acquire additional activities.  (Complaint 471, 474, 477, 480)  Movant 

Shipilina is alleged to conduct various predicate acts to carry on and control her interests in the 

Russian mafia, such as prostitution, money laundering, drug trafficking and intimidation.  

(Complaint 542, 518, 519, 520, 521, 526-28, 530, 531, 534, 536-39)  Movants Paulsen and 

Henning are not alleged with violating 1962(b). 
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 The racketeering activities engaged in by the above movants to acquire or maintain an 

interest in or control part of the Russian mafia injured the plaintiff.  In Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 

Lexis 12078, at *37, Chief Judge Mukasey dismissed the plaintiffs’ 1962(b) action for failing to 

allege acquisition or maintenance injuries that must be distinct from the predicate acts.  Unlike 

Berk, the Complaint in this case does allege acquisition of interests in and maintaining control of 

segments of the Russian mafia’s functions.  The Complaint at 904 & 905 states the above 

movants used racketeering activities to acquire or preserve influence over some Russian mafia 

activities that were used to cause the plaintiff harm.  In addition, the racketeering activities 

carried out by them that injured the plaintiff can be considered a continuing effort to acquire 

further control of or interests in segments of the Russian mafia.  The acts of a successful manager 

not only further his company’s goals but also win for him added influence and stakes in the 

organization.  

 
D(iii) Enterprise movants’ violations of 1962(c) and their participation in the Russian mafia. 
 

As elsewhere in the Enterprise movants’ Memorandum, section D(iii) objects to the 

Complaint’s allegations for failing to “show” (Memorandum p 42-3) or “satisfy the stringent 

standard” (Memorandum p 43-2) for pleading a RICO violation.  Once again, a complaint need 

not show; that is prove, nor are heightened standards of pleading required to allege the Enterprise 

movants “conduct or participation, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of [an] enterprise’s 

affairs.”  See Robbins v. Wilkie, 300 F.3d 1208, 1211 (10th Cir. 2002).  No special pleading 

requirements exist except for fraud or mistake in Rule 9(b).  Leatherman v. Tarrant County 

Narcotics Intelligence & Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163, 168, 122 L.Ed.2d 517, 113 S.Ct. 1160 
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(1993).  The plaintiff need only allege each element of a 1962(c) violation.  See Sedima, 473 

U.S. 479, 496. 

 

The Enterprise movants twist the requirement for a violation of 1962(c) by claiming the 

plaintiff must have been “injured by the defendants … conduct ….”  (Memorandum p 41-4)  The 

implication is that the discrete, individual acts of the Enterprise movants when viewed in 

isolation, with nothing more, must allegedly cause harm to the plaintiff.  The attempt to focus on 

individual defendants without any relation to others undercuts RICO’s purpose to eradicate 

organized crime.  Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494, 496, 146 L.Ed.2d 561, 120 S.Ct. 1608 (2000) 

(emphasis added). 

 A 1962(c) violation requires conduct of an enterprise through a pattern of racketeering 

activity, Sedima at 496, and that racketeering activity, or predicate acts, cause the plaintiff injury, 

Sedima at 497.  The key for alleging the Enterprise movants liable is that they participate in, 

direct, conduct, manage or knowingly implement the Enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of 

racketeering activities that cause the plaintiff harm.  “[F]or the essence of the violation is the 

commission of those acts in connection with the conduct of an enterprise.”  Sedima at 497 

(emphasis added).    

In order to participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of an enterprise’s affairs, a 

defendant must play some part in directing those affairs.  Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 

179, 122 L.Ed.2d 525, 113 S.Ct. 1163 (1992).  That does not mean that only primary 

responsibility for the enterprise’s affairs is required.  “[T]he phrase ‘directly or indirectly’ makes 

clear that RICO liability is not limited to those with a formal position in the enterprise, but some 

part in directing the enterprise’s affairs is required.”  Reves at 179.  What is needed is that a 
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person participates in the operation or management of the enterprise.  Reves at 185.  But an 

enterprise is “operated” not just by upper management but also by lower rung participants who 

are under the direction of upper management or by others associated with the enterprise who 

exert control; that is, authority.  Reves at 184.    “[E]ven if a defendant is not acting in a 

managerial role … he can still be liable for directing the enterprise’s affairs if he ‘exercised 

broad discretion’ in carrying out the instructions of his principal.”  US v. Diaz, 176 F.3d 52, 92 

(2d Cir. 1999), citing Napoli v. US, 45 F.3d 680, 683 (2d Cir. 1995).  In addition, a defendant 

may also take part in the conduct of an enterprise by knowingly implementing decisions as well 

as making them.  US v. Oreto, 37 F.3d 739, 750 (1st Cir. 1994). 

The Enterprise movants falsely claim the Complaint is devoid of allegations that they 

play some part in directing the affairs of a segment of the Russian mafia, and that it only alleges 

they were “merely involved” (what ever that means) or “simply performed tasks necessary or 

helpful” to the Russian mob.  (Memorandum p 43-2)  What the Complaint alleges is the 

Enterprise movants, along with the other defendants, run, operate or direct parts of the Russian 

mafia—not the entire worldwide criminal enterprise (Complaint 15).   

For example, Enterprise movants FlashDancers and member American Organized Crime 

Gang 1, to which they belong, operates a criminal conglomerate of prostitution, pornography, 

intimidation, immigration fraud, drug trafficking and money laundering through its topless clubs 

and the Internet site www.flashdancersnyc.com.  (Complaint 16-23, 471, 474, 477, 480, 483)  

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich manage a segment of the Russian mafia’s 

immigration of human assets, such as prostitutes, into New York; direct the fraudulent 

acquisition of visas; suborn perjury before the INS, IRS and the courts; decide on the use of 

coercion and intimidation; and make decisions concerning money laundering and the use of 

http://www.flashdancersnyc.com/
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international facilities to carry out their responsibilities in bringing in some of the Russian 

mafia’s assets—not all.  (Complaint 27-24, 485, 488, 490, 492, 494, 495, 496, 497, 498, 499, 

500, 512, more than the “only two paragraphs” that the Memorandum p 43-2 claims as alleging 

Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich’s role in the mafia.)  Enterprise movant Shipilina is a middle level 

manager for the Russian mafia handling under her discretion a relatively small part of its 

prostitution, pornography, money laundering, drug smuggling and relationship building with 

Russian, Chechen and American organized crime groups.  (Complaint 36, 542)  Enterprise 

movant Paulsen, operating under the pseudonym, Wayne Williams, manages the production and 

importing of a portion of the Russian mafia’s pornography for Southern California.  (Complaint 

37-39, 546)  Enterprise movant Henning knowingly implements decisions by higher ups in the 

Russian mafia to use his police powers for tampering with government informants.  (Complaint 

47, 558)    

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich cite to Morin v. Trupin, 835 F.Supp. 

126, 134-36 (SDNY 1993) and Strong & Fisher v. Maxima, 1993 WL 277205, at *1, for support 

of the argument that their involvement with the Russian mafia does not amount to participation 

in its management or operation.  (Memorandum p 42-3 to p 43-1)  Morin, in citing to Strong, 

says, “even though the complaint alleged that defendants had substantial power to induce the 

alleged enterprise to take actions, it did not allege sufficient power to conduct or participate in 

conducting the alleged enterprise ….”  Morin at 135 (emphasis added).   Unlike in those two 

cases, the Complaint in this action not only alleges sufficient power but also the actual activities 

by the Kuba, Mundy & Associates law firm along with Mundy and Petrovich in conducting or 

participating in conducting part of the Russian mafia’s affairs.   (Complaint 27-33, 488, 490, 492, 

494, 495, 496, 497, 498, 499, 500, 512)  As the Complaint alleges, Enterprise movants Kuba, 
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Mundy and Petrovich’s actions are not limited to providing legal advice and legal services to the 

Russian mafia, but constitute a direct and independent role in its affairs that satisfies the 

operation or management requirement.  Turkish v. Kasenetz, 964 F.Supp. 689, 694-95 (EDNY 

1997). 

“An attorney’s license is not an invitation to engage in racketeering, and a lawyer no less 

than anyone else is bound by generally applicable legislative enactments.  Neither Reves nor 

RICO itself exempts professionals … from the law’s proscriptions, and the fact that a defendant 

has the good fortune to possess the title ‘attorney at law’ is, standing alone, completely irrelevant 

to the analysis dictated by the Supreme Court [in Reves].”  Handeem v. Lemaire, 112 F.3d 1339, 

1349 (8th Cir. 1997).  In the situation where a firm, its employee and an attorney are alleged, as 

here, for misusing the judicial system, allegations that support a 1962(c) violation may aver: (1) 

joining in a collaborative undertaken with other Russian mafia members to illegally provide 

immigration papers for mafia prostitutes and managers (Complaint 485, 486, 490, 491, 502, 

503), to silence witnesses and informants (Complaint 265-68, 280, 282, 287, 289, 293-97, 316, 

318), to bribe government officials (Complaint 254, 255, 298-303, 306-08); (2) navigating 

Russian mafia members through court and administrative proceedings by suborning perjury 

before the INS (Complaint 224, 225, 236, 237), by suborning perjury before law enforcement 

officers (Complaint 229, 230), by directing and preparing court filings with erroneous 

information (Complaint 234, 239, 275-77), by coercing opponents of the mafia with non-existent 

or falsified evidence in court proceedings (Complaint 245, 273);  and (3) taking the lead with 

their legal acuity in making important decisions concerning the operation of part of the Russian 

mafia, such as obtaining visas and naturalization for mafia assets (Complaint 485, 486, 490, 491, 
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502, 503) or money laundering (Complaint 294).  See Handeem v. Lemaire, 112 F.3d 1339, 

1349-50. 

The compensable injury under 1962(c) is the harm suffered from the predicate acts; that 

is, any recoverable damages will flow from the commission of those predicate acts.  Sedima, 473 

U.S. at 497. 

 

E. The Enterprise, a.k.a. Russian mafia, exists. 
 

The Enterprise movants once again confuse their motion to dismiss with a summary 

judgment motion or a trial by objecting that the Complaint’s allegations do not prove the 

existence of the Russian mafia.  For instance, they objections include “there is no showing” 

(Memorandum p 46-2), “failed to proffer any evidence” (Memorandum p 46-3), has “a compete 

paucity of evidence” (Memorandum p 47-1) and “failed to establish the existence of an 

enterprise” (Memorandum p 47-1).  Even the quote they use from the Supreme Court saying an 

enterprise is “proved by evidence” comes from a Supreme Court case concerned with a 

conviction after trial—not a motion to dismiss a RICO complaint.  US v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 

583, 69 L.Ed.2d 246, 101 S.Ct. 2524 (1981).  “The pleading of additional evidence is not only 

unnecessary, but in contravention of proper pleading procedure.”  Geisler v. Petrocelli, 616 F.2d 

636, 640 (2d Cir. 1980). 

The movants also try to heighten the pleading standard for alleging the existence of the 

Russian mafia beyond the requirement that “[a] party should set forth the averments in his 

pleadings in general terms … that are sufficient to provide the necessary notice to the adversary.”  

Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1281, p 519.  They object the Complaint fails to 

“allege specific facts” (Memorandum p 46-2), “has not pled any details” (Memorandum p 46-3), 
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“is clearly insufficient” (Memorandum p 46, n. 21).  Their objections are unfounded, since an 

enterprise can be pled generally.  Azurite Corp. Ltd. v. Amster & Co., 730 F.Supp. 571, 577 

(SDNY 1991). 

In addition, the Enterprise movants wrongly draw inferences from statements they make 

in their Memorandum as though those statements were part of an evidentiary record, but no such 

record exists because discovery has not yet occur.  They boot strap these inferences into 

conclusions that the Russian mafia does not exist, or the Enterprise movants are not part of it, or 

they do not swing any weight within it.  (Memorandum p 46-2, p 46 n. 22, p 47-1)    

  Further, the Enterprise movants resort to name-calling to convince the Court that the 

Russian mafia does not exist: “preposterous allegations”, “frivolous nature” or “stretching the 

bounds and limits of the most delusional imagination.”  (Memorandum p 47-2)  Of course, 

vituperative words can often be successful when used against unpopular causes.  

 

The enterprise in this action is the Russian mafia or as the Complaint at 1 states, “[t]he 

Russian International Crime Organization [which] generates profits worldwide from numerous 

criminal activities that include without limitation drug trafficking, money laundering, tax 

evasion, immigration fraud, prostitution, pornography, white slavery, bribery, mail and wire 

fraud, murder, extortion, coercion and terror.”  The Enterprise movants and the other defendants 

in this action are not the entire Enterprise but members of it; that is, they are members of the 

Russian mafia.  (Complaint 11, 15, 16-127)  They work together for the mafia’s goals and their 

own enrichment.  (Complaint 12, 13)  Taken together, they are a segment of the Russian mafia, a 

relatively few pieces in a jigsaw puzzle that is the Russian mafia in the 21st century. 
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“[A]n enterprise includes any union or group of individuals associated in fact.”  NOW v. 

Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 260, 127 L.Ed.2d 99, 114 S.Ct. 798 (1994)(quoting United States v. 

Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 580, 69 L.Ed.2d 246, 101 S.Ct. 2524(1981)).  An enterprise is a group of 

persons associated together for a common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct.  United 

States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 583.   

The Complaint alleges the Russian mafia is an ongoing organization in which its 

members associate together for the purpose of engaging in illegal and legal activities in order to 

earn substantial profits.  (Complaint 12)  That a key aim of the Enterprise is to infiltrate and 

expand its activities in hard currency markets where profits are not threatened by inconvertibility 

of the local currency or drastic depreciations.  (Complaint 13)  And the relationships among the 

Russian mafia’s members are both formal, including agreements and chain of command 

authority, and informal in which the common objectives of the mafia, to infiltrate and grow in 

hard currency markets, controls decision-making.  (Complaint 14)  The last part of that allegation 

of common objectives controlling decision-making is nothing more than modern day 

management principles for running non-hierarchically structured organizations.  

In Commercial Cleaning Servs. LLC v. Colin Serv. Sys., Inc., 271 F.3d 374, 379 (2d 

Cir.2001), the Second Circuit, taking as true the plaintiff’s allegations, did not dismiss for failure 

to plead an enterprise composed of entities associated-in-fact that included the defendant 

company, which hired illegal aliens to provided cleaning services; employment services; labor 

contractors; newspapers in which the defendant advertised; and immigrant networks that assisted 

fellow illegal immigrants in getting work, housing and illegal work permits.  The enterprise 

alleged in this action is a more cohesive organization.  Given the notoriety of the Russian mafia, 

the Court could actually take judicial notice of its existence.  Whether the defendants are 
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members of it is another matter, which must await discovery, for the Complaint only does what it 

is suppose to: allege they are members.  (Complaint 16-127)  

The Enterprise movants’ argument that an enterprise must have a “structural continuity” 

or “distinctness” extending beyond the performance of the pattern of racketeering acts 

(Memorandum p 44-3, 45-2) or a “hierarchy” (Memorandum p 44-3) has been expressly 

disavowed by the Second Circuit.  Moss v. Morgan Stanley, Inc., 719 F.2d 5, 22 (2d Cir. 1983); 

United States v. Bargaric, 706 F.2d 42, 55 (2d Cir. 1983); United States v. Mazzei, 700 F.2d 85, 

88 (2d Cir. 1983).   The Enterprise movants base their position on a couple of decisions by 

district courts in the Second Circuit that hold a plaintiff does not adequately plead a RICO 

enterprise if he fails to plead racketeering acts distinct from the enterprise and fails to plead an 

enterprise with a centralized hierarchy.  (Memorandum p 45-2)  The cases, Goldfine v. 

Sichenzia, 118 F.Supp.2d 392, 400 (SDNY 2000), and Black Radio Network, Inc. v. NYNEX 

Corp., 44 F.Supp.2d 565, 580 (SDNY 1999), derive these requirements exclusively from 

Schmidt v. Fleet Bank, 16 F.Supp.2d 340, 349-50 (SDNY 1998), which in turn based its holding 

on cases from the Eight Circuit.  The Second Circuit disagreed with Schmidt on precisely the 

points for which the Enterprise movants cite Goldfine and Black Radio.  See Pavlov v. Bank of 

New York Co., Inc., 25 Fed.App. 70, 2002 WL 63576 (2d Cir. Jan. 14, 2002)(unpublished 

decision).  In reversing the district court’s dismissal of a RICO claim in Pavlov, the Second 

Circuit reiterated its position, “[o]ur Circuit has rejected the Eighth Circuit’s restrictive approach 

to the enterprise element ….  The enterprise need not necessarily have a continuity extending 

beyond the performance of the pattern of racketeering acts alleged, or a structural hierarchy, so 

long as it is in fact an enterprise defined in the statute.  We have repeatedly found a sufficient 
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enterprise where the complaint alleges a group without centralized hierarchy formed for the sole 

purpose of carrying out a pattern of racketeering acts.”  Id. at *71.    

The Second Circuit long before Pavlov dismissed the reasoning of the Eight Circuit on 

which Schmidt, Goldfine and Black Radio are based.  Hansel’n Gretel Brand, Inc. v. Savitsky, 

1997 WL 543088, *2 (SDNY Sept. 3, 1997).  In Hansel the defendants argued, as the Enterprise 

movants do here, that a complaint must allege a common link among them other than the 

racketeering activity (Memorandum p 45-2) or, alternatively stated, that the defendants played 

roles in the enterprise distinct from the racketeering activity.  The Enterprise movants err when 

they claim support for this argument comes from Turkette at 583, which states the enterprise is 

separate and apart from the pattern of racketeering activity.  The Second Circuit in United States 

v. Mazzei, 700 F.2d 85, 88 (2d Cir. 1983), considered the impact of Turkette, and rejected the 

movants notion.  Hansel at *2 (quoting Mazzei at 89).  Further, in Colony Holbrook, Inc. v. 

Strata, G.C., Inc., 928 F.Supp. 1224, 1235-36 (EDNY 1996), the court rejected the view that an 

enterprise encompasses only an association with an ascertainable structure having an existence 

apart from the commission of the predicate acts. 

Operating under their misunderstanding of the law, the Enterprise movants object the 

Complaint does not provide a flow chart of the command and control as well as the 

interrelationship of all the members of the Russian mafia, or at least the defendants.  

(Memorandum p 46-1, 2)  Even discovery will not finalize a flow chart for the Russian mafia, 

but will show connections among the defendants, who the Enterprise movants inaccurately 

contend make up the entire alleged Enterprise, Russian mafia.  (Memorandum p 45-3)  The 

Complaint specifically states the defendants comprise only “a portion of the Enterprise’s 

activities in America, Russia, Cyprus and Mexico.” 
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The Enterprise movants claim that a small law firm, Kuba, Mundy & Associates, could 

not hold together part of the Russian mafia and conduct legal work for all the defendants in this 

action across the world.  (Memorandum p 46-2)  The problem with this objection is the 

Complaint does not allege that.  The Complaint alleges, “Kuba, Mundy & Associates act as 

consiliari and manager of US immigration issues in New York for the Enterprise.”  (Complaint 

27, emphasis added)  New York is not the world, although some may think so.  Further, the 

Complaint alleges that the law firm “operates a green card and visa mill that fraudulently obtains 

visas…for Russians” (Complaint 28), and “uses coercion and intimidation against” against some 

parties (Complaint 30).  While such operations do further the Russian mafia’s aims in New York; 

they don’t hold that worldwide organization together, or even the US Chapter.  Kuba, Mundy & 

Associates just runs a department, although an important one, of the Russian mafia’s operations. 

They also object “[t]here is absolutely no other connection….” among them and the other 

defendants other than the encounters, travels and work of Enterprise movant Shipilina.  The 

Court does not know that.  The evidence of the full extent of the connections is within the 

Enterprise movants knowledge and will come out in discovery. 

There is, however, a thread that leads through the Complaint’s allegations, just as the 

thread of money led reporters Woodward and Bernstein through the maze of Watergate.  In this 

case the thread is a person: movant Shipilina.  One of the few ways of exposing underworld 

organizations from the outside is by tracking one of its members, noting that member’s 

interactions with other members and the events that subsequently ensue.  As the Complaint 

alleges, the plaintiff followed that thread to pimps, prostitutes, pornographers, pushers, brothels, 

well known gangsters, Islamic Mafiosi, corrupt public officials, a green card mill, money 

launderers, crooked lawyers, lap-dancing clubs, killers, goons, bribers, intimidators and 
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perjurers.  As Humphrey Bogart said in the Maltese Falcon, “All those on one side.  Maybe some 

of them are unimportant, I won’t argue about that.  But look at the number of them.”   

The “number of them” paints a picture of part of the Russian mafia.  When the control of 

the Communist Party fell apart, some enterprising Russian men and women started recruiting 

willing young females to sell sexual services overseas for hard currency.  (Complaint 10, 13, 41, 

42, 61, 69, 80, 85)  In order to get those nubile bodies to the lucrative markets required 

circumventing immigration laws.  (Complaint 27-29, 32, 33)  How?  By sneaking in assets across 

borders, bribing immigration officials, tricking stupid Americans into marriage, engagements or 

relationships.  (Complaint 423, 426, 427, 254, 255, 323, 367, 368, 361, 363, 365, 883)  Once the 

flow of willing bodies ramped up, managers were needed in the hard currency markets to keep 

track of the cash flow in order to mitigate the tendency of these young ladies to maximize their 

income and minimize the commissions they paid.  Managers were also needed to find new 

outlets, increase the flow of assets from Russia, branch off into related areas—such as drugs, 

protect the growing operations with threats and intimidation, build relationships with other 

organized crime groups and bring in lawyers, law enforcement officials, accountants, Internet 

companies and every other type of professional needed to successfully manage and run a 

business.   (Complaint 11, 15)   

Even if Schmidt, Goldfine and Black Radio were still the law in the Second Circuit, the 

plaintiff argues the Complaint has pled that the Russian mafia, and along with it the defendants’ 

segment of it, “would exist despite the alleged pattern of racketeering activity,” (Memorandum p 

45-2).  The pattern of racketeering activity, as opposed to an enterprise, is a series of criminal 

acts defined by 18 USC 1961(1).  Turkette at 583.  The latter is pled by allegations of “the 

requisite number of acts of racketeering committed by the participants in the enterprise,” 
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Turkette at 583.  The Complaint alleges a pattern of predicate acts by the Enterprise movants and 

other defendants to assist and carry out Russian mafia activities.  (Complaint 466-683)  The 

Russian mafia also engages in other criminal acts and racketeering activities in other parts of the 

world not alleged in the Complaint.  (Complaint 1)  In addition, some of the Russian mafia’s 

activities, although sorted, are legitimate.  For example, employing young females to take off all 

their clothes and jiggle their bodies close to the faces of strangers paying $20 a “dance” is not a 

predicate act.  However, the income from such lap-dancing does help support the mob’s infra 

structure.  So even deleting all the alleged predicate acts in the Complaint still leaves a distinct 

association of fellow travelers seeking fortune and, for some, glory by way of the Russian mafia.    

 

F. Standing.  

The Enterprise movants continue their effort to heighten civil RICO pleading 

requirements—this time for standing.  At Memorandum p 48-1, they assert the Complaint “must 

show”, which means to prove, Black’s Law Dictionary.  But the purpose of a complaint under 

the federal rules is to give notice, not prove.  Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 500-01, 91 L.Ed. 

451, 67 S.Ct. 385 (1947).    

In their Memorandum at p 48-4, the movants claim the plaintiff  “cannot demonstrate 

with any specificity in what manner” injuries were sustained to his business or property.   

Demonstrate means “to prove indubitably”, Black’s Law Dictionary, complaints do not prove.  

In addition, the Enterprise movants’ reference to a “specificity” requirement for “demonstrating 

injury” fails to mention where this standard comes from.  Perhaps it is their ubiquitous version of 

Rule 9(b), but both the Supreme Court and the federal rules foreclose the adoption of that 

position.  See Michael Goldsmith, Judicial Immunity for White Collar Crime: The Ironic Demise 
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of Civil RICO, 30 Harv. J. on Legis. 1, 18-22 (1993) (criticizing several attempts at RICO 

reform through judicial revisionism including improper heightened pleading requirements).  The 

Enterprise movants objection to a lack of “specificity” in injury is more appropriate for a 

summary judgment motion after discovery has been conducted.  But, even at that stage, if the 

plaintiff cannot prove the exact amount of harm, a nominal amount of damage is adequate to 

support liability.  Potomac Elec. Power v. Electric Motor & Supply, 262 F.3d 260, 266 (4th Cir. 

2001). 

More importantly, the Complaint at 900-907 provides the movants enough specifics for 

fair notice of the harm done to the plaintiff.  But even had the Complaint failed to specify the 

manner of injury and only made what the Memorandum at p 48-4 objects to as “conclusory 

allegations [of injury that]… are not definite or ascertainable …,” the Supreme Court has held 

that “[a]t the pleading stage, general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s 

conduct may suffice, for on a motion to dismiss we presume that general allegations embrace 

those specific facts that are necessary to support the claim.”  NOW v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 

256 (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561, 119 L.Ed.2d 351, 112 S.Ct. 

2130 (1992). 

  

Civil RICO provides standing to sue to “[a]ny person injured in his business or property 

by reason of a violation of [18 USC 1962].”  18 USC 1964(c).  In order to bring suit, a plaintiff 

must allege: (1) defendants’ violation of 1962, (2) injury to the plaintiff’s business and property 

and (3) causation of injury by defendants violation.  Commercial Cleaning Servs.,  271 F.3d 374, 

379 (2d Cir. 2001).  The “by reason of” clause in 18 USC 1964(c) limits standing to plaintiffs 

who allege the RICO violation was both the factual and proximate causes of the averred injuries.  
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Commercial Cleaning Servs.,  271 F.3d 374, 379 (citing Holmes v. Sec. Investor Prot. Corp., 503 

U.S. 258, 268, 117 L.Ed.2d 532, 112 S.Ct. 1311 (1992)). 

The Enterprise movants mistakenly claim the Second Circuit “has made clear that 

liability … does not ‘depend on whether there is proximate causation as that term is used at 

common law.’”  (Memorandum p 48-1, citing Abrahams v. Young & Rubican Inc., 79 F.3d 234, 

237 (2d Cir. 1996).  The current law in the Second Circuit on RICO proximate causation is not 

so clear.  The Circuit has moved away from the Enterprise movants’ assertion that proximate 

causation is determined by a zone of interest test in which the plaintiff must be “in the category 

the statute meant to protect.”  (Memorandum p 48-1)  Rather common law principles for 

determining proximate cause seem favored.  “Central to the notion of proximate cause is the idea 

that a person is not liable to all those who may have been injured by his conduct, but only to 

those with respect to whom his acts were ‘a substantial factor in the sequence of responsible 

causation,’ and whose injury was ‘reasonably foreseeable or anticipated as a natural 

consequence.’”  Lerner v. Fleet Bank, 318 F.3d 113, 123 (2d Cir. 2003)(citing First Nationwide 

Bank v. Gelt Funding Corp., 27 F.3d 763, 769 (2d Cir, 1994) (quoting Hecht v. Commerce 

Clearing House, Inc., 897 F.2d 21, 23-24).  In Lerner, the Second Circuit found that racketeering 

activities, or predicate acts, were not a substantial factor in the chain of causation, nor were the 

losses reasonably foreseeable, Lerner at 123, which sounds a lot like common law proximate 

causation.  The Lerner court, however, took a circuitous route to get here and, to a degree, left its 

options open for defining proximate causation. 

In Lerner, the Second Circuit backtracked and maneuvered away from the “zone of 

interest” test.  Id. at 120.  “We have previously implied that there might be an additional standing 

component—that the plaintiff must fall within the zone of interests RICO seeks to protect.  Id. 
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(citing see Laborers Local 17 v. Philip Morris, Inc. 191 F.3d 229, 239 (2d Cir. 1999).  “[T]he 

zone of interests test … is an inquiry into whether … the plaintiff is within the class of persons 

sought to be benefited by the provision at issue.”  Id. (quoting Holmes v. Securities Investor 

Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 287, 117 L.Ed.2d 532, 112 S.Ct. 1311 (1992)(Scalia, J., 

concurring).”  The Second Circuit concluded “it wiser to resolve [such] cases on grounds of 

proximate causality.”  Lerner at 120.  The Lerner court further stated that in Abrahams v. Young 

& Rubican Inc., 79 F.3d 234, 237, relied upon by the Enterprise movants, it “resolved the 

[standing] issue on the grounds of proximate causation,” Lerner at 121, and explained that in 

Abrahams the Court should have used the term “proximate causality” instead of zone of 

interests, but that both are pretty much the same, Lerner at 121 n. 6.  “[T]he reasonably 

foreseeable victim of a RICO enterprise will often be … the type of victim the RICO statute 

seeks to protect.”  Lerner at 122.   

The Second Circuit in Lerner finally held the better approach to resolving causation was 

that adopted by the Supreme Court in Holmes, Lerner at 121-122, which indicates the Second 

Circuit is moving away from the “zone of interest test” relied on by the Enterprise movants.  The 

plaintiff, therefore, suggests following the holding of Holmes and other circuits that the 

proximate cause required for RICO standing is a common law concept.  See e.g. Systems 

Management, Inc. v. Loiselle, 303 F.3d 100, 104 (1st Cir. 2002); Perry v. American Tobacco Co., 

324 F.3d 845, 848 (6th Cir. 2003).   

In Holmes, the Supreme Court reasoned that standing under civil RICO concerns only the 

injury to a person, not the legal right of that person to sue for violations of predicate acts.  

Holmes, 503 U.S. 258, 280.  In reaching its decision, the Court analogized to the Sherman Act 

which federal courts have held as requiring common law proximate causation to determine 
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standing.  Lerner at 120-121.  The reason for applying common law proximate causation under 

the Sherman Act applies just as readily to civil RICO suits under 1964(c).  Holmes at 267-69.  

Holmes, therefore, opts for common law causation principles under RICO, Perry v. American 

Tobacco Co., 324 F.3d 845, 848 (6th Cir. 2003), in which the traditional rule requiring that the 

defendant’s acts substantially caused an injury that was foreseeable includes the traditional 

requirement that the injury was “direct”, in that the defendant did not injure some intermediary 

who in turn harmed the plaintiff.  Laborer’s Local 17 Health & Benefit Fund v. Philip Morris, 

Inc., 191 F.3d 229, 235-36 (2d 1999); see Holmes at 268.   

As the Complaint alleges, there was no one standing between the plaintiff and the 

defendants, so the harm was direct.  (Complaint 900-907)  In addition, the predicate acts and 

RICO violations committed in furtherance of the Russian mafia’s Scheme factually harmed the 

plaintiff’s business and financial interests, and the injuries from those predicate acts and RICO 

violations were foreseeable.  Id. 

In their advocating a “zone of interest” test for proximate cause, the Enterprise movants 

claim a plaintiff must be “the intended target.”  (Memorandum p 48-1)  On the target issue, the 

Second Circuit has repeatedly emphasized that the targets, competitors and intended victims of a 

racketeering enterprise are those that are the reasonably foreseeable victims of a RICO violation.  

Lerner at 124.  The targets do not have to be specifically named by the criminal entity when it 

concocts its scheme; they only need to fall within the group of reasonably foreseeable victims.  

The Enterprise movants falsely claim that the Complaint asserts all the defendants in this action, 

banded together, looked up the plaintiff’s name while he was working in Moscow and decided to 

target him for exploitation (Memorandum p 48-3).  The Russian mafia and its Scheme of 

targeting American businessmen as unwitting accomplices in bringing the mafia’s assets and 
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managers to the new world existed well before the plaintiff landed in Moscow on July 4, 1999.  

(Complaint 10, 360-63, 883)  The plaintiff had the unfortunate luck of stepping into the cross 

hairs of the Russian mafia’s Scheme when he accepted an invitation to a party in his apartment 

building.  (Complaint 128-38)  If the plaintiff had been loan sharked by the Italian mafia, the 

Enterprise movants would not make the ludicrous claim that to satisfy standing the Italian mafia 

had to create a loan sharking enterprise solely targeting the plaintiff.  Here it is not the Italian but 

the Russian mafia, a large criminal entity that the plaintiff will prove exists if given the 

opportunity for discovery.  “No precedent suggests that a racketeering enterprise may have only 

one “target,” or that only a primary target has standing … there is a broad class of plaintiffs 

under RICO.”  Baisch v. Galina, 346 F.3d 366, 375 (2nd Cir. 2003).   

Some courts do not even require that the plaintiff be the target or intended victim of 

predicate acts so long as the plaintiff’s business or property was directly injured as a proximate 

result of the violation.  Rakoff and Goldstein, RICO Civil and Criminal, 4.02[7].  The Complaint 

alleges such injuries at 900-907.  

If this Court does decide to follow the “zone of interest test,” or at least add it to the 

common law proximate cause requirement, the plaintiff argues that at this stage of the 

proceedings there is a set of facts that can be proved that will satisfy the “zone of interest test,” 

so dismissal on those grounds would be inappropriate.  See Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 

U.S. 506, 513-14, 152 L.Ed.2d 1, 122 S.Ct. 992 (2002).  Furthermore, disputed claims of 

causation and injury cannot be decided on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  See Knevelbaard Diaries v. 

Kraft Foods, Inc., 232 F.3d 979, 989 (9th Cir. 2000). 

Further, in NOW v. Scheidler, the plaintiffs alleged that a RICO conspiracy had injured 

them in their business or property, and the Supreme Court concluded that nothing more was 
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needed to confer standing at the pleading stage.  NOW v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256 (quoting 

Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561, 119 L.Ed.2d 351, 112 S.Ct. 2130 (1992)).   

This action alleges damages to “business and financial interests.”  (Complaint 900-907)  The 

Enterprise movants apparently try to narrow the damages recoverable under RICO to exclude 

harm to financial interests.  (Memorandum p 48-4)  Whether an interest is property depends on 

state law.  Oscar v. University Student Coop Ass’n, 939 F.2d 808, 810-11 (9th Cir. 1991).  Under 

New York law, property includes anything that may be subject to ownership and includes 

obligations, rights and other intangibles.  New York Jur2d, Prop 1.  Financial interests clearly 

fall within the definition of property, so this Complaint alleges damage to the plaintiff’s business 

and property interests, which is enough to confer standing. 

Nevertheless, the Enterprise movants object to the damages alleged in the Complaint 

even though such types of harm have been held recoverable under RICO.  When a commercial 

business loses money, it has suffered injury to both business and property.  Rakoff and 

Goldstein, RICO Civil and Criminal,  4.03[2].  The Complaint at 907(a) alleges loss of profits 

from the plaintiff’s law and consulting business as a result of halting normal work and 

investigating and seeking to rectify harm from the Scheme.  Philatelic Foundation v. Kaplan, No. 

85 Civ.8571, slip op. (SDNY May 9, 1986), dismissed in part 647 F.Supp. 1344.  Lost profits are 

considered an injury to business.  Terminate Control Corp. v. Horowitz, 28 F.3d 1335, 1343 (2d 

Cir. 1994).  Business interruptions and expenses resulting from the Russian mafia’s Scheme, 

alleged in the Complaint at 907(b), are recoverable and sufficient to stand a motion to dismiss.  

R.A.G. S. Couture, Inc. v. Hyatt, 774 F.2d 1350, 1353 (1985).  The values of business 

opportunities lost due to RICO predicate acts, alleged in the Complaint at 907(c), are 

compensable.  Terminate Control Corp. v. Horowitz, 28 F.3d 1335, 1343.  Expenses from the 
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investigation of the tampering with and intimidation of witnesses and subordination of perjury 

and bribery in order to avoid and rectify injury, alleged at Complaint 907(d), are recoverable.  

Malley-Duff & Associates v. Crown Life Ins. Co., 792 F.2d 341, 355 (3d Cir. 1986).  Harm to 

business reputation and goodwill, alleged at Complaint 907(e), constitutes a RICO injury.  Lewis 

v. LHU, 696 F.Supp. 723, 727 (DDC 1988).   

The Enterprise movants also mistakenly use a case to argue this RICO action has not 

accrued because the alleged damages have not become “clear and definite.”  (Memorandum p 

48-2)  The facts in the case they cite, Bankers Trust Co. v. Rhodes, 859 F.2d 1096, 1106 (2d Cir. 

1988), cert denied, 490 U.S. 1007 (1989), are diametrically different from this action.   Bankers 

Trust deals with a RICO claim by a creditor against its debtor.  Since the damages claimed under 

RICO by the creditor were also subject to a bankruptcy proceeding, the Second Circuit decided 

the damages would not become definite until the bankruptcy action made clear how much of 

those damages the creditor would recover in bankruptcy.  Once that happened, the amount not 

recovered through the bankruptcy action could be recovered under RICO.  That is, the damages 

claimed under RICO would become “clear and definite.”  

Two more recent cases not cited by the Enterprise movants, but which use the exact 

words quoted in their Memorandum at p 48-2: “a cause of action under RICO does not accrue 

until the amount of damages becomes clear and definite,” more clearly show that the reason for 

those RICO actions not accruing was that the creditors might still recover on their loans through 

other pending actions.  Strangely the words quoted by the Enterprise movants in their 

Memorandum do not appear anywhere in the case they do cite, Bankers Trust.    

The two cases in which those exact words do appear: First Nationwide Bank v. Gelt 

Funding Corp., 27 F.3d 763, 768 (2d Cir. 1994) and Motorola Credit Corp. v. Uzan, 322 F.3d 
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130, 135 (2d Cir. 2003) hold that “[t]he ‘clear and definite’ amount of damages suffered by a 

secured creditor who is fraudulently induced to make a loan and seeks to recover the value of the 

loan itself, ‘cannot be established until it is finally determined whether the collateral is 

insufficient to make the plaintiff whole, and if so, by how much.”  Motorola at 135 (quoting First 

Nationwide at 768).  So until the creditor recovered on the collateral, the amount remaining to 

recover under RICO was uncertain “because the RICO damages are netted against recovery 

obtained from collateral and other sources….”  Id.  The plaintiff in this action is not a creditor; 

therefore, the reasoning of those cases does not apply and damages have accrued. 

The Enterprise movants then try to absolve themselves of any harm they may have 

legally caused the plaintiff by stating such harm was the result of the plaintiff’s “own careless 

actions.”  (Memorandum p 49-1)  Perhaps not having employed a “taster” to test meals prepared 

by his wife for drugs or following his heart into a trap the Buddhists refer to as “idiot 

compassion” made the plaintiff contributory negligent.  But contributory negligence applies to 

negligence actions—not criminal conduct by the Russian mafia.  The Enterprise movants may, 

however, be taking a page from George Orwell’s depiction of the former Soviet Union where the 

victim is the violator and the violator the victim.     

 

G. Conspiracy. 

Again the Enterprise movants try to wrongly heighten the standard for pleading RICO, 

this time for averring conspiracy under 18 USC 1962(d).  They mistakenly claim that the 

Complaint “must show” (Memorandum at p 49-2), which means to prove, and object to a 

“paucity of facts” (Memorandum p 50-1).   But the plaintiff must not be put to the test to prove 

his allegations at the pleading stage.  NOW, Inc v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256. 
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The movants also object the Complaint fails “to adequately plead when or where such 

purported agreements occurred, the nature of the agreements or what the terms of the agreements 

to conspire were,” (Memorandum p 50-1).  This sounds very much like their ubiquitous 

“particularity” requirement adopted from Rule 9(b).  However, the Supreme Court has declined 

to extend beyond fraud or mistake the Rule 9(b) requirement of greater particularity in 

allegations.  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 513.  The heighten standard of 

particularity the movants demand by requiring the pleading of “when”, “where” and the “terms 

of the agreements to conspire” does not apply.  But even if it did, such information is peculiarly 

within the possession of the Enterprise movants, so their new standard for pleading RICO 

conspiracy should be permissively applied.  Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39.   

A plaintiff is not required to be omniscience, but provide enough information to put the 

defendants on notice.  Arnold v. Arnold Corp., 920 F.2d 1269, 1279-80 (6th Cir. 1990).  The 

Complaint’s conspiracy allegations not only provide enough information to put the movants on 

notice but also a fair amount of information as to “when”, “where” and the “terms” of the 

agreements.  For example: the conspiracy to trick the plaintiff by using lies and drugs so that he 

would bring an asset of the Russian mafia to America began in July 1999 (Complaint 135, 136), 

the conspiracy to force the plaintiff to lie to the INS in order to protect the Russian mafia’s 

Scheme began around November 2000 (Compliant 228), the agreement to obtain an order of 

protection based on perjury in order to pressure the plaintiff into lying to the INS occurred in 

December 2000 or January 2001 (Complaint 234), the agreement to have the plaintiff threatened 

with death at the hands of Russian gangsters occurred around January 2001 (Complaint 236), the 

conspiracy to prevent the plaintiff from going to trial in order to avoid exposure of some of the 

Russian mafia’s activities began around February or March 2001 (Complaint 243), the 
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agreement to bribe an INS official occurred in the Spring of 2001 (Complaint 254), the 

conspiracy to use Russian or Islamic Mafiosi to silence witnesses began around April 2001 

(Complaint  265), the agreement to hide movant Shipilina’s true net worth from the New York 

Supreme Court occurred probably in the Summer of 2001 (Complaint 275), the conspiracy to use 

hoodlums to threaten the plaintiff so as to avoid a public trail that would expose part of the 

Russian mafia and to keep him from providing information to law enforcement agencies started 

in October 2001 with the first of four threats made over twenty months (Complaint 280, 287, 

316), the conspiracy to use Russian gangsters or Islamic Mafiosi to force witnesses in a criminal 

case in Russia to change their testimony or refuse to testify began around March 2002 

(Complaint 293), the agreement to bribe a New York City detective occurred around March 2001 

(Complaint 306), the murder-for-hire agreement occurred in July or August 2002 (Complaint 

319), and agreements to import prostitutes, pornography, drugs or launder money occurred in 

March 2000 (Complaint 321), Fall of 2000 (Complaint 326) and September 2000 (Complaint 

401). 

In addition, the Enterprise movants object that the allegations of conspiracy are 

“conclusory” (Memorandum p 49-2) and “bare conclusory” (Memorandum p 50-1).  Conclusory 

means expressing a factual inference without stating the underlying facts.  Black’s Law 

Dictionary.  Well, most of the underlying facts for the Enterprise movants’ conspiracies are 

within their possession and won’t come out until discovery.   

They use Morin v. Trupin, 747 F.Supp. 1051, 1067 (SDNY 1990), for holding that 

conclusory and bare allegations of conspiracy are insufficient to plead RICO conspiracy.  

(Memorandum p 49-2)  That is what Morin holds, but it does so because in that case the 

“[p]laintiffs’ entire allegation of a RICO conspiracy consist[ed] of the following: ‘The 
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defendants conspired with each other to violate 18 USC Sec. 1962(a), (b) and (c).’”  Morin at 

1067 (emphasis added).  Now there’s a bare allegation.  The Enterprise movants, however, do 

not even mention that lone, short allegation in their Memorandum as the reason the Morin court 

dismissed the conspiracy claims.  Nor do the movants compare that allegation with the numerous 

allegations of conspiracy in the Complaint in this action. 

 

A RICO conspiracy violation occurs when any person conspires to violate 18 USC 

1962(a), (b) or (c).  18 USC 1962(d).  

The Enterprise movants’ implication that a necessary element of a RICO conspiracy is 

the conspirators “agreed to form” a RICO enterprise makes no sense if a RICO enterprise already 

exists, such as the Russian mafia.  (Memorandum p 49-2)  In such a case, and where the 

conspirators are members of the enterprise, a complaint only needs to allege the existence of an 

agreement to violate 1962(a), (b) or (c).  See Cofacredit v. Windsor Plumbing Supply Co., 187 

F.3d 229, 244 (2d Cir. 1999).  The Complaint alleges such agreements by the Enterprise movants 

at 472, 475, 478, 481, 484, 489, 501, 513, 543, 547, 559, and these conspirators are alleged to be 

members of the Russian mafia (Complaint 16-23, 27-39, 44-50).  

The plaintiff must also allege that the conspirators intended to further the criminal 

endeavor, which can be met by merely adopting the goal of advancing or facilitating the 

violation of RICO 1962(a)(b) or (c).  See Salinas v. U.S., 522 U.S. 52, 65, 139 L.Ed.2d 352, 118 

S.Ct. 469 (1997).  The Complaint does so at 472, 475, 478, 481, 484, 489, 501, 513, 543, 547, 

559.  A conspirator need not agree to undertake all of the acts necessary to commit an offense.  

Salinas at 65.  He can be a conspirator by agreeing to facilitate only some of the acts leading to 

the offense.  Salinas at 65.  The Supreme Court’s standard appears less stringent than the one 
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advocated by the Enterprise movants that conspirators “understood the scope of the enterprise 

and knowingly agreed to further its affairs through the commission of various offenses.”  

(Memorandum p 49-2)   

In their Memorandum at p 50-2, the movants claim, “there can be no RICO conspiracy 

without a substantive RICO violation,” and, they, the Enterprise movants, did not violate any of 

the provisions of 18 USC 1962.  Co-conspirators who might not themselves have violated one of 

the substantive provisions of 1962 can still be sued providing others were alleged to have done 

so.  Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494, 507, 146 L.Ed.2d 561, 120 S.Ct. 1608 (2000).  In addition, 

conspiracy is not an independent cause of action but a mechanism for subjecting co-conspirators 

to liability for the tortious acts of one of their members, and a tortious act is a 1962(a), (b), or (c) 

violation or may even be the commission of one predicate act.  Beck at 506 n. 10.  The 

Complaint alleges numerous violations of 18 USC 1962 and predicate acts committed by the 

Enterprise movants in furtherance of the Russian mafia’s Scheme.  (Complaint 466-547, 556-

559) 

The Enterprise movants claim that a defendant cannot be liable for conspiracy “unless it 

has some part in directing the RICO enterprise’s affairs.”  (Memorandum p 50-3)  The Enterprise 

movants do not provide the page cite from Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 122 L.Ed.2d 

525, 113 S.Ct. 1163 (1992), that they use to support their statement.  They just provide the title 

page for the case.  Since Reves concerned a violation of 1962(c), the plaintiff assumes the 

movants limit this alleged rule only to conspiracies to violate 1962(c).  But even with that 

limitation, the alleged rule is wrong.  A defendant can be liable for conspiring to violate a law, 

even if he is not among the class of persons who could commit the crime directly.  US v. Viola, 

35 F.3d 37, 43 (2d Cir. 1994).  And a defendant can conspire to violate 1962(c) even though he 
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is not an operator or manager; that is, does not have “some part in directing the RICO 

enterprise’s affairs,” so long as he knowingly agreed to facilitate the activities of those who run 

the enterprise.  Brouwer v. Raffensperger, Hughes Co., 199 F.3d 961, 966-97 (7th Cir. 2000).  

The Complaint alleges the Enterprise movants play a part in directing some of the activities of 

the Russian mafia, but if the Court chooses to overlook those allegations, the Complaint at the 

very least alleges the movants agreed to perform services of a kind that facilitated the activities 

of other operators and managers.  (Complaint 466-70, 472, 473, 475, 476, 478, 479, 481, 482, 

484, 485-87, 489, 490-99, 501, 502-11, 513, 514-41, 543, 544, 545, 547, 556, 557, 559) 

As for conspiring to violate 1962(a) & (b), the Supreme Court in Reves made clear that 

both insiders and outsiders could violate those two sections, Reves, 507 U.S. 184-85; therefore, a 

conspirator under 1962(a) & (b) need not have any say in the running of the enterprise.   

Injury under 1962(d) requires harm from an overt act that is a predicate act or otherwise 

wrongful under RICO.  Beck, 529 U.S. at 505.  The Complaint alleges agreements among the 

Enterprise movants to violate 1962(a)(b) or (c), overt acts that are wrongful under RICO and 

injuries to the plaintiff.  (Complaint 472, 475, 478, 481, 484, 489, 501, 513, 543, 547, 559, 900-

907)  In Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078, *42, Chief Judge Mukasey found that the 

plaintiffs’ action for 1962(d) conspiracy would not be dismissed because the complaint had 

alleged the defendants formed an agreement and acted in concert to commit predicate acts.  So 

the Complaint, as it pertains to RICO conspiracies, should not be dismissed.   

 

H. Aid and abet. 

The Complaint does not allege that the Enterprise movants aided and abetted the 

violation of 18 USC 1962, the substantive RICO statute.  It alleges the movants are liable as 
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principals for the violation of predicate acts under 18 USC 1961(1) when they willfully commit 

the offense, aid, abet, counsel, command, induce, or procure or cause its commission.  18 USC 2.  

So when they engaged in such conduct, they were committing racketeering activities.  

(Complaint 466-70, 473, 476, 479, 482, 485-87, 490-99, 502-511, 514-541, 544, 545, 556, 557)  

Liability for racketeering activities is the basis on which the other RICO elements build to reach 

a violation of substantive RICO, 18 USC 1962.  Therefore, a defendant who aids and abets a 

predicate act is considered a principal for that act and can in the end be liable for violating 18 

USC 1962, providing the other elements of RICO are satisfied, such as pattern, injury, enterprise 

and standing.  

 

Point III: State claims. 

A. Supplemental jurisdiction.  

The Enterprise movants continue their efforts to have this Court apply a higher standard 

than required to the plaintiff’s RICO pleading in order to gain a dismissal.  Previously they 

attempted to apply Rule 9(b) to predicate acts that were not fraudulent, carried on as though Rule 

9(b) applied to pleading violations of 18 USC 1962 and demanded the Complaint provide 

evidence that proved its allegations.  In their Memorandum at p 52-3 and p 53-1, they try to 

wrongly heighten the standard for pleading subject matter jurisdiction.  The movants cite to 

United Mine Workers v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 725, 16 L.Ed.2d 218, 86 S.Ct. 1130 (1966), for 

holding that “[t]o withstand a motion to dismiss, a federal claim must be stated with substance 

sufficient to confer subject matter jurisdiction.”  (Memorandum p 52-3, emphasis added)  What 

the Supreme Court said was “[t]he federal claim must have substance…,” Id. at 725, which 

meant there was a federal question on which to base subject matter jurisdiction.  The Supreme 
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Court did not say that allegations of subject matter jurisdiction had to be “stated with substance,” 

which implies a heightened pleading standard for jurisdiction. 

The movants also refer to a “specificity” pleading requirement (Memorandum p 52-3) 

that they take from a case alleging a governmental conspiracy to deprive a person of his 

constitutional rights, Hughes v. PBA of NYC, 850 F.2d 876, 880 (2d Cir. 1988), which found 

support from another case, Oster v. Aronwald, 567 F.2d 551, 553 (2d Cir. 1977), also averring a 

governmental conspiracy.  Pleading a governmental conspiracy to violate constitutional rights is 

not pleading subject matter jurisdiction.   

The pleading standard for subject matter jurisdiction is whether a complaint asserts a 

claim under the US Constitution or federal statute as ascertained by looking at the whole 

complaint.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1206, p 89-90.  Or, as Rule 8(a)(1) 

requires: a short and plain statement of the grounds on which the court’s jurisdiction depends.  In 

this action, the Complaint at 6, 7 provides such statements.  If the Court finds that subject matter 

jurisdiction has not been properly pled, the plaintiff requests leave to re-plead it. 

Other than the Enterprise movants attempt to raise the bar for pleading jurisdiction, it is 

unclear exactly what they are asking for in this section.  The movants titled the section: “This 

Court Lacks Jurisdiction Over Plaintiff’s Pendant State Law Claims” and state that if the RICO 

claims are dismissed, then the “pendent state law claims must be dismissed,” (Memorandum, p 

53-1).  However, in the following paragraph (Memorandum, p 53-2), they argue that the Court 

should keep jurisdiction and “address the instant state law claims ….”   So which is it—dismiss 

everything or keep the state claims.   

If the Court dismisses the RICO claims, then whether to keep the state law claims is 

within it discretion as guided by the factors in 28 USC 1367(c).  Those factors are considered in 



 120

light of judicial economy, convenience, fairness and comity.  United Mine Workers of America 

v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 726.  If the Court declines jurisdiction over the state law claims, it 

should dismiss them without prejudice so that they may be brought in state court.  Gold v. Local 

7 United Food & Commercial Workers Union, 159 F.3d 1307, 1311 (10th Cir. 1998). 

 

B. Pendent state law claims. 

 The Enterprise movants are back to their old tricks of claiming the Complaint must prove 

rather than allege and plead at a stricter standard than Rule 8’s general notice requirement.  

Under Rule 8, a complaint need not state with precision all elements that give rise to a legal basis 

for recovery as long as fair notice of the nature of the action is provided.  Wright & Miller, Fed. 

Prac. & Proc.: Civil 2d 1216, p 154. 

 The Enterprise movants assert the Complaint “must demonstrate,” which means to prove 

indubitably, Black’s Law Dictionary, various elements of the state claims of intentional infliction 

of emotional distress (Memorandum p 53-4, p 54-2) and abuse of process (Memorandum p 56-

1).  They also object the abuse of process allegations do not “establish” (Memorandum p 56-3), 

which also means prove by evidence, Black’s Law Dictionary.  However “[i]t is a familiar rule 

of pleading … that evidence by which an allegation is sought to be established need not be 

pleaded.  … Such matters [of evidence], however, are for proof and we doubt the propriety, 

much less the necessity of their allegation.”  Cater Constr. Co. v. Nischwitz, 111 F.2d 971, 973 

(7th Cir. 1940).     

In their argument for a higher standard than called for in Rule 8, the movants make 

conclusory statements that the emotional distress claim “is bare and conclusory, with 

uncorroborated injuries.”  (Memorandum p 54-2)  Corroborate means to add weight by 
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additional evidence, Black’s Law Dictionary, but the plaintiff must not be put to the test to prove 

his allegations at the pleading stage.  NOW, Inc v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256.  The Enterprise 

movants do not even cite to the allegations they claim are “bare and conclusory.”  Perhaps they 

hope a busy court will not take the time to look them up, and accept their conclusions as 

accurate.  Well, here are the cites to the emotional distress allegations that harmed the plaintiff, 

so the Court can decide for itself: Complaint at 137, 168, 171, 172, 175-81, 185, 216, 228-30, 

234, 236-37, 239-41, 243, 245, 257-59, 273, 280-84, 287-92, 306-09, 316-18.   

 The Enterprise movants claim, without more, that the Complaint fails “to sufficiently 

plead the elements” for abuse of process.  (Memorandum p 57-2)  They do not even cite the 

allegations to which they refer, so here are the abuse of process allegations that harmed the 

plaintiff: Complaint 228, 234, 239-41, 306-13.  Nor do they cite the malicious prosecution 

allegations that they claim are “conclusory” (Memorandum p 58 –3), so here are the Complaint’s 

malicious prosecution allegations for the Court 228, 234, 239, 306-10.  

 

(i) Intentional infliction of emotional distress on the plaintiff. 

In order to allege the intentional infliction of emotional distress, a complaint need aver 

that the defendants by extreme and outrageous conduct intentionally or recklessly caused sever 

emotional distress to the plaintiff.  Lish v. Harper’s Magazine Foundation, 807 F.Supp. 1090, 

1109 (SDNY 1992). 

The Complaint alleges that the Russian mafia, through its members Flash Dancers 

Topless Club; Jay-Jay Cabaret; Flash Dancers Managers Barry, 3, 4 or 5; Madison a.k.a. Pierre; 

Kuba; Mundy; Petrovich; Shipilina; and Henning, engaged in acts to intentionally or recklessly 

cause the plaintiff emotional distress.  The act or acts attributable to each depended on whether 
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the immediate aim was to use the plaintiff for bringing a valuable asset of the Russian mafia, 

Shipilina, to America, to intimidate him into going along with the mafia’s illegal efforts or to 

threaten him into silence concerning the mob’s activities.   

Among the acts were secretly slipping the plaintiff drugs to assure he would bring 

movant Shipilina to America and remain in the dark as to the Russian mafia’s Scheme 

(Complaint 137, 168, 171, 172, 175-81, 185, 216); filing false reports about the plaintiff with the 

New York City police to intimidate him into lying to the INS and keeping quiet about the 

Russian mafia’s activities (Complaint 228-30, 234, 239-41); threatening the plaintiff with death 

at the hands of Russian mobsters if he did not play along (Complaint 236-37); threatening the 

plaintiff through four telephone calls with what can only be described as physical harm if he does 

not stop his search for justice (Complaint 280-84, 287-92, 316-18); and using corrupt police 

power to threaten the plaintiff with jail to chill him from exercising his constitutional rights 

(Complaint 306-09). 

Whether the above alleged acts are extreme and outrageous is susceptible to 

determination as a matter of law, and, obviously peculiar to the particular situation given the 

limitless human capacity for cruelty.  Howell v. New York Post Co., Inc., 81 N.Y.2d 115, 122, 

612 N.E.2d 699, 702, 596 N.Y.S.2d 350, 353 (1993).  Guidance can be found in the Restatement 

(Second) of Torts that describes the required conduct as going “beyond all possible bounds of 

decency, and to be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.”  

Murphy v. American Home Products Corp. 58 N.Y.2d 293, 303, 448 N.E.2d 86, 96, 461 

N.Y.S.2d 232, 242 (1983).  A viable claim also exists when severe pain and anguish are inflicted 

through a deliberate campaign of intimidation as opposed to just one instance of alleged 
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aggravating conduct.  Nader v. General Motors Corp., 25 N.Y.2d 560, 569, 255 N.E.2d 765, 770, 

307 N.Y.S.2d 647, 654 (1970). 

Secretly feeding a person drugs, threatening injury and death and corruptly using the 

police and legal system may, when considered separately, be tolerable under the community 

standards of present day Russia or even modern day New York City.  But when these acts are 

part of an ongoing campaign to keep in America a Russian mafia asset, who entered the country 

illegally, and to protect the Russian mafia from exposure, then even by New York City standards 

the alleged conduct went beyond the bounds of decency.   

Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich claim the plaintiff alleges them liable 

because they represented movant Shipilina in divorce and immigration proceedings.  

(Memorandum p 54-2)  The accuracy or inaccuracy of that statement depends on how they 

define “represent.”  If represent means arranging for threats, corruptly using the police and 

judiciary and coercion against the plaintiff, then their statement is accurate.  (Complaint 228-30, 

232, 234, 236-41, 243, 245, 273, 280-84, 287-92, 306-09, 316-18)  If it means representation 

according to ethical standards, then it is not accurate. 

The plaintiff has the right to be free from the mental disturbance intentionally or 

recklessly caused by the above cited acts.  Mitran v. Williamson, 21 Misc.2d 106, 197 N.Y.S.2d 

689, 692 (Sup.Ct., Kings County, 1960).  And the Complaint at 284, 292, 905 alleges the harm 

caused the plaintiff by the Russian mafia’s infliction of emotional distress.  If that is not enough 

at this stage, then the plaintiff requests leave to amend the Complaint. 

Where the acts of inflicting emotional distress are continuing, the plaintiff may bring suit 

within one year of the conduct terminating.  Drury v. Tucker, 210 A.D.2d 891, 621 N.Y.S.2d 

822, 823 (4th Dep’t 1994).  And when at least some of the defendants’ actionable conduct takes 
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place within one year of suit, recovery can be had for the entire course of conduct.  Neufeld v. 

Neufeld, 910 F.Supp. 977, 982-83 (SDNY 1996).  The acts alleged in the Complaint began in 

1999 and continued up until at least June 2003 when the plaintiff received a fourth telephone 

threat.  This occurred after the Complaint was filed, but was made known to the Court and the 

Enterprise movants in a June 19, 2003 letter from the plaintiff.  This call not only added to the 

emotional distress to which the Russian mafia had subjected the plaintiff, but infers an Enterprise 

conspiracy to deter, intimidate and threaten the plaintiff from freely pursuing this case in a 

federal court.  Such an act violates 42 USC 1985(2) by constituting a conspiracy to interfere with 

the plaintiff’s civil rights.  That allegation is not now part of the Complaint, but the plaintiff 

intends to include it in amending the Complaint as a matter of right or by leave of the Court if the 

Enterprise movants’ motions to dismiss are granted in whole or in part.  

Also, there has been no indication that the efforts to silence the plaintiff have ended.  

There may just be a lull.  But even assuming they have ended, and disregarding the June 2003 

threatening call, the wrongs earliest possible termination was not until the plaintiff became aware 

of the unwillingness of movant Henning to go forward with the arrest of the plaintiff.  This 

occurred on April 23, 2002 when the plaintiff’s attorney told him the matter had been referred to 

the Queens District Attorney for a decision on whether to arrest the plaintiff.  The RICO 

Complaint was filed on April 18, 2003, which is within the one-year limit measured from April 

23, 2002.   

In addition, even after April 23, 2002, there was continuing uncertainty caused by the 

threat of the future outrageous act of arresting the plaintiff for exercising his rights that was as 

effective in causing emotional distress as acts continuously committed.  In fact, the plaintiff’s 

uncertainty continued until October 11, 2003 when he finally learned that he was not going to be 
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arrested after reading movant Henning’s affidavit in this action, which said the district attorney 

had concluded there was no reason for an arrest.  (Henning Affidavit ¶ 9)  So, the statute of 

limitations did not start running until October 11, 2003. 

Moreover, the one-year statute of limitations for emotional distress was tolled when the 

plaintiff served Enterprise movants Flash Dancers Topless Club; Jay-Jay Cabaret; Flash Dancers 

Managers Barry, 3, 4 or 5; Kuba; Mundy; Petrovich; Shipilina; and Henning with a summons 

and notice under New York CPLR 305(b) on March 27, 2003.  Exhibit B.  Service of a summons 

and notice within one year from when an action for emotional distress accrues tolls the statute of 

limitations.  See CPLR 305, Practice Commentary C305:3. Summons and Notice, p 422.  The 

Enterprise movants say the emotional distress claim “could not have accrued any later then 

March 2002 ….”  (Memorandum p 55-2)  They actually mean March 27, 2002, which is the date 

that movant Henning threatened the plaintiff with arrest and member defendant Madison, a.k.a. 

Pierre, threatened the plaintiff not to testify before the INS or try to reopen the Krasnodar 

criminal case.  (Complaint 308, 318)  Since service of the summons and notice was made on 

March 27, 2003, within the one-year period, and the Enterprise movants failed to respond by 

serving a demand for a complaint, id. CPLR 305 Practice Commentary, the filing of the RICO 

Complaint on April 18, 2003 was timely because the emotional distress statute of limitations had 

been tolled. 

 

(ii) Abuse of process. 

 Abuse of process is the misuse or perversion of regularly issued court process for an 

improper collateral purpose not justified by the nature of the action.  Board of Education of 
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Farmingdale v. Farmingdale Classroom Teachers Assoc., 38 N.Y.2d 397, 400, 343 N.E.2d 278, 

280, 380 N.Y.S.2d 635, 639, (1975).   

 To state a claim under abuse of process, the plaintiff does not have to allege, as 

Enterprise movants Mundy and Petrovich contend (Memorandum p 57-2), that defendants issued 

process.  Defendants need only initiate a legal process against the plaintiff.  See Williams v. 

Williams, 23 N.Y.2d 592, 596, 246 N.E.2d 333, 335, 298 N.Y.S.2d 473, 476 (1969).  Legal 

process is a direction or demand, issued from or filed in court that interferes with the plaintiff’s 

person or property.  Id.  Obtaining a temporary restraining order can constitute use of legal 

process capable of being abused.  Cf. Andersen v. Pegalis, 150 A.D.2d 315, 540 N.Y.S.2d 843, 

845 (2d Dep’t 1989).     

The Complaint alleges Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina caused the 

Queens Family Court to issue a temporary order of protection against the plaintiff that was 

obtained based on perjured testimony and for the illegitimate purpose of forcing the plaintiff to 

lie to the INS and protect some of the Russian mafia’s activities.  (Complaint 228, 234, 239-41) 

After issuance of the temporary order of protection, Enterprise movants Mundy, 

Petrovich and Shipilina improperly used it by initiating the criminal process, executed by movant 

Henning, which threatened the plaintiff with arrest for allegedly violating the restraining order.  

(Complaint 306-13)  Enterprise movant Henning even calls the matter a “case” that he referred to 

the Queens District Attorney, which was subsequently closed because the plaintiff did not violate 

the protection order.  (Henning Affidavit ¶s 9, 10)  

The purposes of movants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning’s acts were to 

intimidate the plaintiff into lying to the INS, keeping quiet about the Russian mafia’s activities, 

ceasing his cooperation with the INS in Moscow and preventing him from trying to reopen the 
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Krasnodar criminal case that would expose a number of the Russian mafia’s activities 

(Complaint 228, 306), all clearly improper, and all without justification.   

Both the temporary order of protection and the threatened arrest from the alleged 

violation cost the plaintiff legal fees, interfered with the plaintiff’s person by restraining his 

freedom of movement, forced him to make the difficult preparations for an impending arrest, 

resulted in loss of business and damaged his reputation.  (Complaint 3, 313, 905, 907)   These 

damage allegations satisfy the requirement to plead actual or special damages, Board of 

Education of Farmingdale v. Farmingdale Classroom Teachers Assoc., 38 N.Y.2d 397, 405, 343 

N.E.2d 278, 284, 380 N.Y.S.2d 635, 644, (1975), and show that the Enterprise movants once 

again misstated the Complaint by claiming it “fails to allege special damages at all….”   

(Memorandum p 57-2)   

 Since the bogus case against the plaintiff for allegedly violating the temporary order of 

protection was not closed until June 19, 2002 (Henning Affidavit ¶ 10), the abuse of process 

wrong did not terminated until then.  The RICO complaint was filed on April 18, 2003, well 

within the one-year statute of limitations.  Further, under the general application of the 

continuing tort theory under New York law where actionable conduct that takes place within one 

year of suit will toll the statute for the entire course of conduct, Neufeld v. Neufeld, 910 F.Supp. 

977, 982-83, the issuance of the order of protection by the Queens Family Court, which began 

the abuse of process conduct, is tolled to fall within the one year limitations period.  

 

(iii) Malicious prosecution 

 “A malicious prosecution is one that is begun in malice, without probable cause to 

believe it can succeed, and which finally ends in failure.”  Burt v. Smith, 181 N.Y. 1, 5, 73 N.E. 
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495, 496 (1905).  The purpose of the cause of action is to protect the personal interest of freedom 

from unjustifiable litigation.  Broughton v. State of NY, 37 N.Y.2d 451, 457 (1975). 

 Malicious prosecution requires a judicial proceeding, which means that judicial action of 

some sort will occur.   See Rosario v. Amalgamated Ladies Garment Union, 605 F.2d 1228, 

1249-50 (2d Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 919, 64 L.Ed.2d 273, 100 S.Ct. 1853.  An 

injunction satisfies the prior judicial proceeding element.  Diamond v. Strassberg, 751 F. Supp. 

1152, 1153 (SDNY 1990).  As the Complaint alleges, Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich and 

Shipilina initiated a proceeding in the Queens Family Court.  (Complaint 228, 234, 239)  As a 

result, the plaintiff was enjoined and required to appear in court or be arrested.  Movants Mundy, 

Petrovich and Shipilina, with the crucial assistance of movant Henning, then used that injunction, 

the order of protection, to cause the New York City Police and Queens District Attorney to 

officially act against the plaintiff by opening a case and notifying him of arrest.  (Complaint 306-

10, Henning Affidavit 8-10)   

Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning correctly note that another 

element of malicious prosecution is the termination of the judicial proceeding in favor the 

plaintiff.  (Memorandum p 58-4)  But they are wrong in defining “termination … in favor of the 

plaintiff” as meaning only that the proceeding “has been tried on the merits and the outcome was 

a finding of innocence.”  (Memorandum p 58-4)  Termination in favor of the plaintiff includes 

the accuser abandoning the proceeding, Russo v. State of NY, 672 F.2d 1014, 1019 (2d Cir. 

1982), failure to prosecute, Reit v. Meyer, 160 App.Div. 752, 146 N.Y.S. 75, 79 (1st Dep’t 1914), 

and circumstances that were not inconsistent with the plaintiff’s innocence, Smith-Hunter v. 

Harvey, 95 N.Y.2d 191, 196, 734 N.E.2d 750, 755, 712 N.Y.S.2d 438 (2000).  Enterprise 

movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina abandoned and failed to prosecute the temporary order 
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of protection when they did not appear at a court hearing, which caused dismissal of the petition.  

(Complaint 311)  And the police department’s efforts to arrest the plaintiff for violating the order 

of protection prior to its dismissal were terminated in favor of the plaintiff when the Queens 

District Attorney concluded there was no violation of the order.  (Henning Affidavit ¶ 9) 

Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich and Shipilina’s conduct in obtaining the temporary 

order of protection based on perjured testimony by Shipilina and suborned by Mundy and 

Petrovich infers a lack of probable cause.  (Complaint 234, 239)  In addition, movants Mundy, 

Petrovich and Shipilina’s bribing or rewarding Henning for instituting proceedings to arrest the 

plaintiff also infers lack of probable cause.  (Complaint 306, 307) 

In order to allege malice, a complaint must aver the defendants commenced prior actions 

for a wrong or improper motive, for something other than the ends of justice.  Nardelli v. 

Stamberg, 44 N.Y2d 500, 502-03, 377 N.E.2d 975, 976, 406 N.Y.S.2d 443, 445 (1978).  

Allegations of ill will, spite or hatred are not needed.  Id.  The Complaint alleges that the motives 

behind the temporary order of protection and subsequent cases opened by the police and district 

attorney were to force the plaintiff to lie to the INS in order to protect the Russian mafia’s 

Scheme to gain Shipilina residency and citizenship, prevent the plaintiff from exposing some of 

the mafia’s activities, stop his cooperation with the INS in Moscow and avoid the reopening of 

the Krasnodar criminal case.  (Complaint 228, 234, 306, 307)  In addition, malice can be inferred 

from the lack of probable cause, Loeb v. Teitelbaum, 77 A.D.2d 92, 432 N.Y.S.2d 487, 495 (2d 

Dep’t 1980), which the Complaint alleges as stated in the preceding paragraph.   

Enterprise movants Mundy, Petrovich, Shipilina and Henning claim malicious 

prosecution requires allegation of “special injuries,” but do not specify what they mean by that 

phrase, nor refer to any cases.  The injuries for which malicious prosecution compensates 
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includes harm to reputation and character, inconvenience and anxiety, Rosario v. Amalgamated 

Ladies Garment Union, 605 F.2d 1228, 1249-50 (2d Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 919, 64 

L.Ed.2d 273, 100 S.Ct. 1853, injury to feelings, counsel fees and expenses, Loeb v. Teitelbaum, 

77 A.D.2d 92, 432 N.Y.S.2d 487, 496 (2d Dep’t 1980), and economic losses, Miller v. City of 

NY, 90 A.D.2d 483, 454 N.Y.S.2d 551 (2d Dep’t 1982).  The Complaint alleges damages for 

counsel fees, anxiety, economic losses and harm to the plaintiff’s reputation.  (Complaint 313, 

908, 909, 913, 907)  Punitive damages are also recoverable.  Nardelli v. Stamberg, 44 N.Y2d 

500, 503, 377 N.E.2d 975, 976, 406 N.Y.S.2d 443, 445 (1978).   

The statute of limitations is one year from the termination of the judicial proceeding.  

CPLR 215(3).  The proceeding that began with the issuance of a temporary order of protection 

followed by an investigation into the alleged violation of that order did not finally end until the 

Queens District Attorney determined there had been no violation and movant Henning “marked 

the case closed” on June 19, 2002.  (Henning Affidavit ¶s 9, 10)  This RICO complaint was filed 

on April 18, 2003, well within the one-year period.  

To correct a misstatement by Enterprise movants Mundy and Petrovich, the Complaint 

does not allege March 2002 as the last month for them being members of the Russian mafia.  

(Memorandum p 59-3)  Movants Mundy and Petrovich are alleged to be continuing members of 

the mafia.  (Complaint 32, 33)  Besides, the Memorandum admits that Mundy continues his 

efforts to obtain residency for a mafia asset, movant Shipilina, who illegally entered the country 

and continues to violate US law.  (Memorandum p 3-1)      

 

(iv) Prima facie tort. 

 The plaintiff withdraws the prima facie tort cause of action. 
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Point IV: Short and plain statement 

 The Enterprise movants claim they cannot make heads or tails out of the 

Complaint because it is too long-winded and confusing.  (Memorandum p 63-1)  Yet they were 

able to file a 66 page, detailed memorandum in support of their motion to dismiss.  That 

Memorandum shows they have done a pretty good job of understanding the allegations against 

them, which means the Complaint did its job of apprising them of the nature of the litigation and 

claims against them.  Cater Constr. Co. v. Nischwitz, 111 F.2d at 973.   

 The movants reliance on Brown v. Califano, 75 F.R.D. 497 (D.D.C. 1977), is misplaced 

because, unlike in Brown v. Califano, the RICO Complaint in this action was not filed after 

seven nearly identical complaints had been brought over a period of seven years with each one 

having been dismissed by the district court and the dismissals affirmed by the Court of Appeals.  

See Brown v. District Unemployment Compensation Board, 411 F.Supp. 1001, 1002 (D.D.C. 

1975)(this was the prior case in the series of nearly identical cases brought by the plaintiff 

Brown).   

The plaintiff in this RICO action brought a prior divorce/annulment suit on advice of 

counsel and in response to movant Shipilina’s obtaining an order of protection against the 

plaintiff and movant Mundy’s threat of “difficult” divorce proceedings.  (Complaint 239-42)  In 

the divorce/annulment action the plaintiff made a motion to set the settlement aside based on 

duress and coercion.  The plaintiff also petitioned the New York Family courts twice for an order 

of protection.  The first in response to threats arranged by Mundy and Petrovich and made by 

Shipilina to the plaintiff that he faced death or physically injured at the hands of Russian 

mobsters if he did not lie to the INS in order to assure her obtaining residency and citizenship.  
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(Complaint 236, 237, 247, 854)  The judge handling the first petition essentially told the plaintiff 

to get lost on the order of protection, but issued a summons based on the petition that was 

merged into the divorce/annulment action.  (Complaint 855, 247, 248)  The second petition was 

in response to two telephone calls from Madison a.k.a. Pierre threatening harm to the plaintiff if 

he did not stop cooperating with the INS in Moscow and the prosecutor in Krasnodar.  

(Complaint 289, 318, 868)  The New York state emotional distress action was filed for the 

procedural purpose of tolling the statute of limitations. That adds up to around three and a half 

lawsuits that are markedly different from the present RICO action.   

 Further, the allegations in this RICO suit are not comparable to those in Brown v. 

Califano.  Here, members of the Russian mafia are alleged to have violated 18 USC 1962, 

inflicted emotional distress and engaged in abuse of process and malicious prosecution.  The 

Complaint in Brown v. Califano included “nearly all theories of recovery known to the common 

law … educational repressions … tortures … political surveillances  … wrongful death … 

attempted homicide by euthanasia … reverse discrimination … and so on, and so forth.”  Brown 

v. Califano, 75 F.R.D. 497, 498.  Now that sounds like a helter-skelter stream of consciousness, 

which is not the comprehensive, organized allegations of the Complaint in this RICO action.  

The probable reason the accusations in this action seem overwhelming to the movants is because 

they have violated so many predicate acts, and it is these predicate acts that are the building 

blocks of RICO violations. 

 Moreover, the Complaint in this RICO action, unlike in Brown v. Califano, provides 

enough information as to places and dates to assist in serving the Complaint’s function of 

apprising the defendants of the claims against them.  For example, see the Complaint at 128, 130, 

139, 141, 147, 150, 153, 155, 159, 165, 168, 169, 173, 174, 182, 187, 192, 197, 202, 205, 213, 
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214, 217, 218, 220, 223, 226, 227, 229, 233, 234, 235, 239, 240, 243, 245, 247, 256, 273, 275, 

277, 278, 280, 282, 285, 286, 289, 293, 298, 306, 308, 318. 

 The court in Brown v. Califano also refused to allow the plaintiff leave to amend the 

complaint because “the plaintiff has shown that he is no stranger to the courts….”  Id. at 499.  

The Enterprise movants argue that since the plaintiff in this RICO action is an attorney, he is  

“no stranger to the courts,” and that fact, along with the length of the RICO Complaint, means it 

should be dismissed with prejudice.  (Memorandum p 63-3, p 64-1)  The reason the court in 

Brown v. Califano stated the plaintiff was “no stranger to the courts” was because that plaintiff 

had filed seven nearly identical suits in that same court.  Brown v. District Unemployment 

Compensation Board, 411 F.Supp. 1001, 1002 (D.D.C. 1975).  The repeat filing of similar 

actions in the same court finally led the Brown v. Califano court to forgo the ordinary remedy for 

noncompliance with Rule 8(a), which is dismissal with leave to amend.  That is not even near the 

situation in this RICO action.  The RICO complaint is not similar to the prior divorce/annulment 

or protective order actions, and it is the only action the plaintiff has brought against all the 

defendant members of the Russian mafia in any court.  Therefore, if the Court finds the RICO 

complaint in noncompliance with Rule 8, the ordinary remedies of striking any portions that are 

redundant or immaterial, or dismissing the Complaint with leave to amend should apply.  

Salahuddin v. Cuomo, 861 F.2d 40, 42 (2d Cir. 1988).  Either remedy would serve the basic 

policy of the federal rules of having disputes settled on their merits rather than on procedural 

formalities.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civ 2d 1281, p 524-25.   

 The application of Rules 8(a)(2) and 8(e)(1), which requires simple, concise and direct 

allegations, is to be made in light of the nature of the action.  The degree of simplicity and 

conciseness depends on the subject matter, the type of claims presented and the number of the 
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parties involved.  Dublin Distribs. Inc. v. Edward & John Burke, Ltd., 109 F.Supp. 125, 126 n.1 

(SDNY 1952).  The more complex the litigation becomes, the greater the amount of detail that 

will appear in the pleadings.  Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc.: Civ 2d 1281, p 521.  A 

complaint charging RICO violations by a mafia will obviously recite numerous acts and 

circumstances.  It will not be a short statement of a claim as the word “short” is used in pleading 

on a contract or in negligence.  Rivioli Operating Corp. v. Loew’s Inc., 7 F.R.D. 219, 223 

(WDNY 1947).  The Complaint with its 915 paragraphs and 91 pages was necessary to plead the 

complex and intertwined workings of a segment of the Russian mafia, which is the type of 

organization RICO was meant to be used against. 

 

Point V: The Enterprise movants are not entitled to have the plaintiff enjoined from access to the 

courts for harm done by  the Russian mafia. 

 The three cases on which the Enterprise movants rely in their argument for an injunction 

against the plaintiff bear no factual resemblance to the circumstances surrounding this RICO 

action.  In Lipin v. Nat’l Union Fire Ins. of Pittsburg, the plaintiff began with a case in state 

court, Lipin I, and during the appeal of its dismissal, moved on to the district court with three 

more successive suits asserting the same claims: Lipin II, Lipin III, and Lipin IV.  Lipin v. Nat’l 

Union Fire Ins. of Pittsburg, 202 F.Supp.2d 126, 130-31 (SDNY 2002).  In Becker v. Dunkin’ 

Donuts, the plaintiff brought 15 age discrimination suits in the Eastern District of New York and 

17 in the Southern District.  Becker v. Dunkin’ Donuts, 665 F.Supp. 211, 216 (SDNY 1987).  

The plaintiff, Becker, was found to have made a business of filing job applications by the score 

and using a company’s rejections to bring strike suits for age discrimination in which Becker 

extorted money from companies to settle the actions.  Becker at 216.  The third case, In Re 
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Martin-Trigona, involved a law school graduate who had been denied admission to the Illinois 

bar on character grounds.  In Re Martin-Trigona, 737 F.2d 1254, 1256 (2d Cir. 1984).  The 

plaintiff Martin-Trigona had brought “literally hundreds of lawsuits, motions and miscellaneous 

pleadings, all but a small fraction of which lack any merit whatsoever.”  In Re Martin-Trigona at 

1256.   

In this RICO action, there has been only one complaint pending before the Court alleging 

criminal violations by a segment of the Russian mafia.  There have been no other RICO or 

similar suits filed by the plaintiff.  The plaintiff’s divorce/annulment suit involved different legal 

issues and was brought on advice of counsel in response to a temporary order of protection 

against the plaintiff and the threat by movant Mundy to institute “difficult” divorce proceedings.  

(Complaint 239-42).  The two requests for protection orders in the state courts occurred before 

the plaintiff, with the assistance of an attorney friend, Jeffrey N. Drummond, discovered he had 

actually been the victim of RICO violations by the Russian mafia.  The first request for an order 

of protection was also brought on advice of counsel and in response to threats of death and 

injury.  (Complaint 236, 237, 854)  The second request for a protection order was brought in 

response to two telephone threats.  (Complaint 289, 318, 868)  Only the state emotional distress 

case is redundant of the pendant emotional distress claim in this RICO action.  And, as 

mentioned above, that state emotional distress action was filed to toll the statute of limitations. 

In their Memorandum at p 65-2, the Enterprise movants say the plaintiff “is not 

represented by counsel and has caused needless expense to over sixty-three defendants across the 

world ….”  Two of the three cases cited by the Enterprise movants involved pro se plaintiffs, so 

the movants’ not-so-subtle argument is that because the plaintiff is pro se, he is wasting 

everyone’s time just like the other pro se plaintiffs in Lipin and Becker.  But on the other hand, 
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at Memorandum p 64-1, the Enterprise movants object that “[g]iven … the plaintiff is an 

attorney, his poor pleading practice is even more egregious,” which castigates the plaintiff for 

being an attorney.  The plaintiff is willing to abide by either the lawyer or the pro se 

classification, but not by one and then the other whenever it serves the Enterprise movants’ ends.  

The plaintiff requests the Enterprise movants make up their collective mind. 

The statement that the plaintiff has “caused needless expense to over sixty-three 

defendants across the world …,” (Memorandum p 65-2) can only mean that the Enterprise 

movants are in touch with all the other member defendants; otherwise, how would they know 

about the other defendants’ expenses.  And know this they do, since their lead lawyer signed the 

Memorandum, and by signing, the attorney certified that to the best of his knowledge or after 

reasonable inquiry, evidence will show that over sixty-three defendants have suffered expenses 

from the plaintiff bringing this action.  See In re Frontier Ins. Sec. Litig., 172 F.R.D. 31, 44 

(EDNY 1997).  Included in those over sixty-three defendants, are those that the movants 

criticized the plaintiff for listing as unidentified defendants.  (Memorandum p 2-2)  Apparently 

these defendants are unidentified only to the plaintiff but not the Enterprise movants, or how else 

could the movants know of those defendants’ expenses.  In effect, the Enterprise movants 

affirmation of defendants’ expenses is an admission that the worldwide defendants are at least in 

communication with the Enterprise movants.  Discovery will be able to flesh out this admission 

that contradicts the Enterprise movants claims of disparate and unconnected defendants.  

(Memorandum p 2-2, p 7-3, p 45-3 to p 47-2) 

Finally, by enjoining the plaintiff from acting as a private attorney general under RICO, 

which is one of the statute’s goals, Rotella v. Wood, 528 U.S. 549, 557, 145 L.Ed.2d 1047, 120 

S.Ct. 1075 (2000), would not only deprive him of a judicial remedy against Russian mafia 
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members but deprive other American men as well.  The Enterprise movants’ injunction would 

bar the plaintiff, a lawyer, from moving ahead with a class action RICO against the Russian 

mafia.  At present, the plaintiff is using the web site been-scammed.com to locate 40 American 

men who have been harmed by the Russian mafia’s effort to infiltrate and expand its operations 

in the US.  These men will be the basis for a class action RICO suit against the Russian mob in 

which the plaintiff will be the lead attorney. 

 

Point VI: Enterprise movant Petrovich was served in accordance with New York CPLR 308(2). 

Filing proof of service is prima facie evidence that service was proper, and shifts to the 

defendant the burden of proving that service was defective.  See Nolan v. City of Yonkers, 168 

F.R.D. 140, 144 (SDNY 1995).  The affidavit of service on Enterprise movant Petrovich was 

filed with the Court’s clerk and is attached as Exhibit D.  Enterprise movants Kuba, Mundy and 

Petrovich claim that Petrovich is an independent contractor who does work for Kuba, Mundy & 

Associates (Memorandum p 3 n 5) but has never “maintained his place of business” at that law 

firm’s address (Memorandum p 66-2).  Petrovich’s attorney has provided no proof that Petrovich 

was only an independent contractor—1099’s would suffice, nor that Petrovich never maintained 

a place of business at the Kuba law firm.  In fact, the attached affidavit of Alan Flacks, Exhibit 

E, states that when Mr. Flacks called the law firm on November 17, 2003 and ask for Petrovich, 

a female with the first name of Stephanie, told Mr. Flacks that Petrovich was no longer working 

at the office but from his home.   Obviously, Petrovich had worked in the Kuba offices at some 

point in time. 

 Under New York CPLR 308(2), process can be served by delivering the papers to a 

person of suitable age at the defendant’s “actual place of business” and followed with a mailing 
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of the papers by first class US post to that address.  Under New York State CPLR 308(6) a 

defendant’s “actual place of business” is any location that the defendant publicly holds out as his 

place of business.  Such a location includes the place where the defendant receives business 

correspondence although it need not be the same place where the defendant conducts business 

activities.  See 1994 Report of the Adv.Comm. on Civ.Prac., reprinted in 2 McKinney’s N.Y. 

Session Laws, 1994, at 3027, 3032.  

 The process server delivered and mailed the Complaint and summons to Petrovich at the 

Kuba, Mundy & Associates law firm at 321 Broadway, New York, NY.  Exhibit D.  On 

December 5, 2003, Mr. Flacks telephoned the Kuba, Mundy & Associates law firm and was told 

first by a gentlemen named Yi Feng and then by a female with the first name Stephanie that 

business correspondence for Petrovich should be sent to the law firm at 321 Broadway, New 

York, NY.  Exhibit E, Flack’s Affidavit ¶s 5-8.  In addition, the envelope containing the papers 

that was mailed to Petrovich by the process server was not returned as undeliverable.  Further, an 

envelope mailed to Petrovich at the law firm by first class US post on April 20, 2003, which 

contained the request for a waiver of summons and the Complaint, Exhibit A, was also not 

returned as undeliverable.  Seems clear that Petrovich is receiving business correspondence at the 

Kuba, Mundy & Associates law firm; therefore, he has been served.   

The plaintiff did not learn of the challenge to the service of Petrovich until receipt of the 

Enterprise movants’ motion on Tuesday, Sept 23, 2003.  As a precautionary measure, for the 

next two and a half months, the plaintiff and his process server, Gotham Process Service, have 

tried to physically locate movant Petrovich at his listed home address, 233 East 60th Street, New 

York, NY, but without success.  Apparently, movant Petrovich is ducking service.  Petrovich’s 

home address was obtained from Verizon’s reverse listing of the current telephone number 
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provided for Petrovich by the Kuba, Mundy law firm and the current Manhattan White Pages.  

Since efforts to personally serve Petrovich have been thwarted, substitute service under CPLR 

308(4) was made on Petrovich at his 60th street address.   

The RICO statute at 18 USC 1965(b) states that the Court may summon a party when the 

“ends of justice require.”  As alleged in the Complaint, Petrovich is a perpetrator and co-

conspirator along with other Enterprise movants in numerous predicate acts and RICO violations 

who should not be allowed to escape the ends of justice by ducking the plaintiff’s efforts to serve 

him process.  Therefore, if the Court concludes that Petrovich has not been served, the plaintiff 

requests the Court to provide a method that it deems sufficient for serving Petrovich. 

 

2.  Plaintiff’s opposition to the motion to dismiss declaration by Enterprise movants Flash 
Dancers Topless Club, Jay-Jay Cabaret, Inc., Lepofsky-CEO Jay-Jay Cabaret, Inc., Barry-
Night Manager Flash Dancers, and Flash Dancers Managers 1 to 5. 
 

Enterprise movants Flash Dancers Topless Club, Jay-Jay Cabaret, Inc., Lepofsky-CEO 

Jay-Jay Cabaret, Inc., Barry-Night Manager Flash Dancers, and Flash Dancers Managers 1 to 5, 

are collectively referred to as “FlashDancers.”   

In addition to the plaintiff’s memorandum in Section 1 above, this Section 2 addresses 

matters peculiar to the FlashDancers’ Declaration.  The Declaration cites to some but not all of 

the allegations concerning FlashDancers’ criminal conduct. (FlashDancers Declaration ¶ 3)  

These allegations, which follow, include call-girl operations (Complaint 24, 25, 214), dispensing 

narcotics (Complaint 48), intimidation (Complaint 49, 250, 251), and threatening the plaintiff 

(Complaint 281, 282, 283, 284, 288-91, 318): 

24. Cybertech Internet Strip Club Network (“Cybertech”) operates a call girl and pornographic 
web sight that can be accessed through various addresses, including www.flashdancersnyc.com.   
 

http://www.flashdancersnyc.com/
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25. On information and belief, Cybertech is the Internet outlet used to sell sexual services for a 
number of topless lap-dancing clubs in New York. 
 
48. On information and belief, Flash Dancers Managers 1 and 2 organize and assist in secretly 
slipping narcotics to unsuspecting customers at that club. 
 
49. On information and belief, Flash Dancers Managers 3 to 5 supervise John Madison or 
Pierre’s intimidation, tampering with government informants and use of physical force. 
 
214. On or about August 2000, the plaintiff became suspicious of Member Alina Shipilina’s 
involvement in prostitution when she began secretly contacting Flash Dancer customers over the 
plaintiff's telephone. 
 
247. On March 14, 2001, the plaintiff had a complaint and summons, issued by a Queens, New 
York court, served on Member Alina Shipilina while giving lap-dances at Flash Dancers. 
 
250. Member Alina Shipilina, joined by Flash Dancers Gangster 1, both physically barred the 
process server from leaving the club. 
 
251. Members Alina Shipilina and Flash Dancers Gangster 1 tried to intimidate the process 
server into taking back the papers. 
 
252. The process server refused and he was finally allowed to leave. 
 
281. On information and belief, Member Alina Shipilina and Member Barry, Flash Dancers' 
Night Manager, or Flash Dancers Manager 3 arranged for Member Madison to make a 
threatening telephone call to the plaintiff. 
 
282. On October 19th in the evening, a man using the name John Madison called the plaintiff’s 
mobile telephone and in a threatening tone of voice left a message that warned the plaintiff 
against pursuing the legal proceedings against Member Alina Shipilina. 
 
283. Under the circumstances, the plaintiff interpreted the threat as referring to the motion for a 
trial and that if he went ahead with the motion, Member Madison would cause the plaintiff 
physical harm.  
 
284. The threatening telephone call made the plaintiff fearful for his physical safety, so he 
decided against making a motion for a trial and settled the case in November 2001.     
 
288. On information and belief, Member Alina Shipilina and Member Barry, Flash Dancers' 
Night Manager, or Flash Dancers Manager 4 arranged for Member John Pierre, to make a 
threatening telephone call to the plaintiff. 
 
289. On February 6, 2002, in the evening, a man using the name John Pierre called the plaintiff’s 
mobile and left a threatening message warning the plaintiff: “…cease and desist with your 
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actions against Alina Shipilina,” “I know everything about you,” “…you disgust me,” “…I’m 
very much available,” “You better get your act together…,” “… you at this point in time have 
crossed several boundaries that cause for a lot of red flags to wave in the air…,” and, “That’s 
it—leave her alone! Have a nice day.” 
 
290. Under the circumstances, the exceedingly menacing tone of voice and text of the call made 
clear to the plaintiff that if he did not cease and desist cooperating with the INS in Moscow and 
the Krasnodar prosecutor, then serious physical harm would befall him.   
 
291. On information and belief, Member Madison and Member Pierre are the same person whose 
real name is unknown to the plaintiff. 
 
318. On March 27, 2002, in the evening, a man calling himself John Pierre telephoned the 
plaintiff and threatened him not to testify before the INS or try to reopen the Krasnodar criminal 
case.   
 

Enterprise movants FlashDancers also fail to accurately summarize a number of the 

allegations concerning them.  The Complaint at 471, 472, 474, 475, 477, 478 480, 481 contains 

the allegations of violations of RICO 1962(a)(b)(c) & (d) that FlashDancers avoids mentioning.  

In addition, they describe in their Declaration at ¶ 3 that the following allegations only identify 

domestic members of the Enterprise when the allegations do much more by tying FlashDancers 

to American Organized Crime Gang 1 and aver additional FlashDancers’ crimes: 

18. On information and belief, Jay-Jay Cabaret is a front for American Organized Crime Gang 1, 
the real owner and operator of the three topless clubs.    

 
19. On information and belief, American Organized Crime Gang 1 operates a criminal 
conglomerate of prostitution, pornography, intimidation, immigration fraud, drug trafficking and 
money laundering through its topless clubs and the Internet site www.flashdancersnyc.com.  
 
21. On information and belief, Lepofsky [CEO of Jay-Jay Cabaret] carries out the orders of 
American Organized Crime Gang 1 and acts as its front in order to obtain liquor licenses from 
the New York State Liquor Authority. 
 
22. On information and belief, Flash Dancers is used by American Organized Crime Gang 1 for 
funding its criminal operations, laundering money, recruiting prostitutes, promoting prostitution, 
recruiting pornography starlets, dispensing narcotics and immigration fraud.  
 
23. Barry is the night manager of Flash Dancers from Monday to Friday and, on information and 
belief, hires illegal aliens, promotes prostitution, arranges the use of physical force for 

http://www.flashdancersnyc.com/
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intimidation, recruits lap-dancers for pornography distributed on www.flashdancersnyc.com and 
oversees money laundering, immigration fraud and the distribution and surreptitious 
administering of narcotics to customers. 
 

FlashDancers also mistakenly say in ¶ 3 of their Declaration that allegations 402, 408-410 

of the Complaint deal only with immigration fraud when they also allege white slavery and the 

importation of pornography. 

FlashDancers object in their Declaration at ¶ 4 that the Complaint’s allegations are 

“outrageous and scandalous,” but those allegations only seek to describe FlashDancers’ 

activities.  They also object that their liability, if any, is limited to threatening telephone calls 

made to the plaintiff.  (FlashDancers Declaration ¶ 6)  RICO liability, however, is joint and 

several.  Fleischhauer v. Feltner, 879 F.2d 1290, 1301 (6th Cir. 1989).  If RICO plaintiffs were 

required to allege and subsequently prove the quantifiable amount of harm flowing from each 

member of a mafia organization, then the civil RICO statute would be superfluous.      

 

3.  Plaintiff’s opposition to Enterprise movant Shipilina’s motion to dismiss. 

Enterprise movant Shipilina’s motion papers contain nothing in addition to Enterprise 

movants Kuba, Mundy and Petrovich’s memorandum of law.  All she does is ride the general 

arguments put forth by them without specifically addressing any of the allegations citing the 

criminal statutes she violated either under RICO (Complaint 514-543) or other federal and state 

laws (Complaint 740-770).  Nor does Enterprise movant Shipilina refer to any of the underlying 

factual allegations, probably as concessions to the proper standard that in a motion to dismiss the 

allegations are deemed true. 

 

http://www.flashdancersnyc.com/
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4.  Plaintiff’s opposition to Enterprise movant Paulsen’s motion to dismiss. 

 In addition to the plaintiff’s memorandum in Section 1 above, this Section 4 addresses 

matters peculiar to Enterprise movant Paulsen’s motion papers. 

Movant Paulsen’s papers falsely state he “has never had any dealings with the other 

defendants.”  (Paulsen Motion to Dismiss Introductory paragraph)  In a fifteen-minute telephone 

conversation with the plaintiff that began at 8:38pm on June 23, 2001, Enterprise movant 

Paulsen admitted that in October 1998, member defendant Perlin introduced him to movant 

Shipilina as a person interested in marrying a foreigner.  Paulsen further stated that he paid 

Shipilina for sex and to star in the pornography video he shot at Phodes Studio in Moscow 

(Complaint 377), that he imported the video into America (Complaint 378), that he switched to 

using Red Star models instead of Member Perlin’s girls for such videos (Complaint 376), and 

that US Customs “gave him a hard time” about bringing in his videos (Complaint 380).  Paulsen 

also omitted in his papers that he operates his business under the pseudonym of Wayne Williams.  

(Complaint 39)  

Enterprise movant Paulsen does not specifically address any of the allegations citing the 

criminal statutes, including RICO, violated by him (Complaint 544-547).  Nor does Enterprise 

movant Paulsen refer to any of the underlying factual allegations about him (Complaint 37, 38, 

376-80), probably as a concession to the proper standard that in a motion to dismiss the 

allegations are deemed true.  

 
5.  Plaintiff’s opposition to Enterprise movant Detective Henning’s affidavit and 
memorandum of law. 
 

In addition to the plaintiff’s memorandum in Section 1 above, this Section 5 addresses 

matters peculiar to Enterprise movant Henning’s affidavit and memorandum of law. 
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Enterprise movant Henning’s affidavit is an interesting piece of misstatement and error.   

Henning says that the only time he talked with Enterprise movant Shipilina was on June 27, 2001 

when she filed a complaint concerning the web site used to gather evidence in Russia for the 

plaintiff’s divorce/annulment proceedings.  (Henning Affidavit ¶s 2, 3)  This is contradicted by 

Detective Henning’s statement in a telephone call nine months later on March 27, 2002 when he 

told the plaintiff that he was going to be arrested because of a “recent” complaint made by 

Enterprise movant Shipilina.  (Complaint 308, 309)  “Recent” is not nine months earlier.   

Henning goes on in his affidavit to say, “I contacted Roy Den Hollander and asked that 

he have his attorney contact me regarding the pending allegation by Ms. Shipilina.” (Henning 

Affidavit ¶ 5)  Like a modern day reporter, Henning adeptly creates a false impression that hides 

the full truth.  When Henning contacted the plaintiff, he told the plaintiff in no uncertain terms 

that the plaintiff was going to be arrested and to have his attorney contact Henning in order to 

arrange for the plaintiff’s surrender.  That is a lot different than Henning’s euphemistic 

description.    

Henning also says in ¶ 6 of his affidavit that after the telephone call to the plaintiff, he 

“never again heard from Mr. Hollander or his attorney.”  That is false.  The plaintiff’s initial 

attorney contacted Henning in late March to arrange for the surrender a month later.  Then at a 

cost of $3500, the plaintiff hired the firm of Schuman, Abramson, Morak and Wolk.  (Complaint 

313)  They contacted Enterprise movant Henning on April 22, 2002, a few days before the 

scheduled date for the arrest. 

When Schuman, Abramson, Morak and Wolk contacted Henning, he did not even know 

what crime the plaintiff was going to be charged with when he surrendered in a few days.  

(Complaint 313)  After the plaintiff’s attorneys enlightened Enterprise movant Henning on the 
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law, Henning said he would refer the matter to the Queens District Attorney’s Computer Crimes 

Division, which he did on April 23, 2002.  (Complaint 314, Henning Affidavit ¶ 8)  This infers 

that Henning is disingenuous when he claims that he was unable to contact the Queens District 

Attorney’s office between June 27, 2001 and April 23, 2002 because of 9/11 and translation 

problems (Henning Affidavit ¶ 7).   More likely, the call from the plaintiff’s lawyers on April 22 

caused movant Henning to punt the case into the District Attorney’s office.  But to nail down the 

truth on this suspicious conduct requires discovery. 

Enterprise movant Henning’s affidavit further states the web site did not violate the 

previously dismissed order of protection, so he closed the case on June 19, 2002.  (Henning 

Affidavit ¶s 9, 10)  Did he call the plaintiff’s attorneys with that information—no.  Did he call 

the plaintiff in the early morning hours to tell him that—no.  Why not?  Probably because the 

threat of arrest would no longer be the club, the Russian mafia thought it was in order to keep the 

plaintiff quiet.  But once again, that’s an area for discovery.  As an aside, the first time I heard 

that the case had been closed was when I read Henning’s affidavit on October 11, 2003. 

 

Enterprise movant Henning’s memorandum of law argues two new points with respect to 

the pendant state claims against him: intentional infliction of emotional distress, abuse of process 

and malicious prosecution.  

First, movant Henning argues that injury claims brought against New York City—

assuming Detective Henning’s alleged criminal conduct falls within his duties as an employee of 

New York City—have a statute of limitations of one year and 90 days after the occurrence of the 

event.  New York’s General Municipal law 50-I states the limitations period runs from “the 

happening of the event upon which the claim is based….”  Movant Henning puts the date of the 
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event of wrong doing at June 27, 2001 because that was, according to Henning, the detective’s 

only interaction with Enterprise movant Shipilina, (Henning Affidavit ¶s 2, 3).  The problem 

with this is that the plaintiff, not defendant Shipilina, is suing for tortious injury.  Detective 

Henning’s interaction with the plaintiff—not with defendant Shipilina—is what matters.  As 

stated in the Complaint, Detective Henning called the plaintiff in the early morning hours of 

March 27, 2002 to inform him of his pending arrest (Complaint 308, 309).  Detective Henning’s 

affidavit states at ¶ 5 that he contacted the plaintiff, but does not state when.  Interestingly, 

Henning recalls when he interacted with fellow Enterprise movant Shipilina, but not when he 

told the plaintiff he would have to surrender for arrest.  Why is that?  Maybe because the statute 

of limitations for New York City would not apply.  If the wrong occurred when Detective 

Henning contacted the plaintiff on March 27, 2002, the filing of the Complaint on April 18, 2003 

was well within the one year and 90 day deadline.   

Movant Henning’s second argument is that the pendant state actions against him should 

be dismissed because of failure to make a timely notice of claim, under N.Y. Gen. Mun. Law 50-

e, that the plaintiff was going to sue Henning’s employer, New York City.  The plaintiff is not 

suing the City of New York, he is suing detective Henning.  Henning is an employee of the City, 

but his alleged illegal actions of receiving bribes or rewards that led to the intentional torts are 

not within the scope of his employment, so the City is not the real party in interest—Henning is.  

See Longin v. Kelly, 875 F.Supp. 196, 201-03 (SDNY 1995).    

 

Enterprise movant Henning does not specifically address the Complaint’s allegations 

against him for the predicate acts of tampering with a witness and wire fraud and the substantive 

RICO violations (Complaint 556-559).  Nor does movant Henning specifically address the 
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allegations of official misconduct, accepting a bribe or reward, aggravated harassment, coercion, 

intimidation, obstructing an INS proceeding and various conspiracies (Complaint 778-783).   

 

Conclusion 

The plaintiff requests the Enterprise movants’ motion to dismiss and their request for an 

injunction be denied so that the plaintiff who is among “[t]hose who have been wronged by 

organized crime should at least be given access to a legal remedy.”  Sedima, 473 U.S. at 487. 

 
Dated: New York, NY 
 December 19, 2003 
        ___________________________ 
        Roy Den Hollander, Esq. 
        Plaintiff pro se 
        545 East 14th St. 
        New York, NY 10009 
        212 995 5201 
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